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P&O Annual Report

Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2017

The directors present their stralegic report on the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Principal Group activities
The principal ackivity of The Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company (“P&Q"} and of its subsidiaries
(refarrad to as “the Group™) in the year was the operation and development of container tarminals and related

logistical oparalions worldwide (“Ports®). Our aim is to enhance the supply chain efficiency of our customers by
effectively handling container, bulk and general cargo across our network.

Review of operations and resuits

The results of the Group are set out in detail an pages 14 to 18 and in the accompanying notes. The financial
position of the Parent Company Is set out In detail on page 74 and in the accompanying notes.

The Group's key financial and other perfarmance indicators during the yesr were as follows:

O FUA04T . v T 2016 < % Change

Porls — Gross coniainer throughput {TEUs '000) 33,439.9 31,3987 6.5
Profit from continuing operatians before taxation (£'m) 4228 2390 76.8
Profit for the year from conlinuing operations {£'m) 430.7 i763 145.7
EBITDA (Adjusted) (£'m)* 465.0 460.2 1.0
Return an capital employad 6.96% 6.27%

Net Assets (£'m) 3,206.5 2,750.2 16.6
Net Debt to equity ratio 30.4% 45.0% -
Net cash inflow from oparating activities 236.5 216.5 8.2
Net cash inflow/ {outiiow) from investing activilies 68.4 (155.1) 1443
Nel cash {outflow) from financing activities {358.6) {19.8) 1,716.2

*Eamings before separalely disclosed items, interest, 1ax, depreciation and amortization (*Adjusted EBITDAT),

Gross throughput of 33.4 miition twanty-foot equivalent units (TEU's} was 6.56% more than last year mainly due to
slronger performances across the Asia Pacific and India Sub-continent regions, partly offsel by decrease due 10
the sale of two entities in Americas region In the beginning of the year,

Profit before faxation for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £422.6m, up 76.8% from the prior year profit
before taxation of £239.0m. Excluding the Impact of any separately disclosed items, profit before taxation was
£264.2m compared (o a priaor year profit before taxation of £284.0m. The decrease in the profit befare taxation was
driven by Australia and Americas segment dug to the sale of 2 entilies in Americas region in the beginning of the
year. This was partly offset by increase In Asia Pacific and Indian sub-continent segment primarily due to much
slrongar performance from China, India and Pakistan. Europe and Africa segment was up due to strong
performance from the United Kingdom.

Profit for the year was £430.7m up by 145.7% from the prior year profit of £175.3m mainly due to profit on sale of
two entities in Americas reglon. Excluding the impacl of any separalely disclosed items prafit for the year was
£183.8m, down by 12.0% from the prior year profit of £220.3m mainly due ta the sale of two entifies in Americas
region in the beginning of the year, this was partly offset by slronger performance in Asia Pacific and Indian
subcontinent segment and increase in profit in Europe and Africa segment.

Nel assets at 31 December 2017 of £3,208.6m were up by 16.6% when compared to £2,750.2m at 31 December
2016, tha movements are detailed in the consolidated statement of changes in eqully.

Net debt 1o equity decreased to 30.4% at 31 December 2017 from 45.0% at 31 December 2016, mainly on account
of increase in equity due to profits made during the year and decrease In debt due to the sale of two entities in
Americas region. Net deb! is definad as all interest bearing external lizbilities less cash and cash equivalents.

Nat cash inflow from operating activities was higher than the previous financial year principally due to increased
EBITDA and favaurable mavemenis in working capital, which was partly offset by taxes paid.

Cash outftow fram nvesting activilies was £223.5m higher than the previous financial year mainly due lo proceeds
from safe of two enfities in Americas region.
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Cash outflow from financing aclivities was £339.8m higher as compared to last year as significant drawdown of
loan happened in Europe and Africa reglon in last year as compared o negligible drawdown during the year.

On 18 January 2017, the Group has sold its 100% slake In the operaling ports of DP World (Canada) Inc and DP
World Prince Rupert Inc, for a consideration of £262 mitlion to DPW Investments B.V which is ultimately held by
DPW FZE, an intermediate parent company.

On 14 November 2016, the Group recelved 81.63% ownership of India Gateway Tenminal, Cochin, India and 26%
ownership In Visakha Comtainer Terminal, Visakhapatnam, India from DPW FZE through a gift deed for nit
consideration,

Principal risks and uncertainties

During 2017, the Group continued to monilor and review the principal business performance risks that could
materially affect the Group's business, financial condition and reputation. While other risks exist outslde those
Bsled, we have made a conscious effort 1o disclose those of greatest importance 1o our business. The Group’s risk
management process aims to provide reasonabla assurance that we understand, monitor and manage the principal
uncertainties. A summary of the Group's principal risks, the nature and management of these risks are further
described hslow.

Macroeconomic instahility

Risk Descriptlon and tmpact: - Container handling generally correlates with GDP growth of the global economy.
Market conditions In many of the geographies where we operate can be challenging due to macroeconomic or
geapalitical issues, which can patentially impact aur volume growth and profitability.

Risk Management: - Qur business remains focused on origin and deslination cargo which is less susceptible to
ecanomic nstability. Although our focus on faster-growing emerging markets may resudt in volume volatifity in the
short term, we balieve that the medium to lang-tarm prospects remain solid. We aim to deliver high levels of senvice
lo mest our customers’ expectations and conlinue to proaclively manage costs, We have a well-diversified global
partfolio of investments across a number of jurisdictions, spreading our concentration fisk due to 2n even
geographical spread of our business activity. Increasingly, we are investing in port related assets that further
diversify our risks,

Industry Capacity and Competition

Risk Description and impact: - The ufilisation of our operations is influenced by any available capacity to handle
cantainer volumes. In some urisdiclions port authorities tander many projecis simultaneously and creata capacity
beyond medium-term demand, which will lead to overcapacity tn that market. An increase in capacity can lead to
:ntensiﬁed campelition between port operators, resuiting In weak pricing powaer, loss of revenue and tow reldrn on
nvestiment.

Additionally, tha Group’s business openafions may be subject to increasing compatilion as a resull of exisling or
naw market entrants through the introduction of new capacity, consolidation betwean port operalors and vertical
integration of international shipping lines. This could adversely affect the Group's financial condition and lead to
downward pressure an tariffs.

Risk Management: - Barriers to eniry are lypically high in the container terminal industry due to the capital-
Intensive nalure of the business, Where possibla, we also invest In fres zonellogistics parks o support businesses
and attracl more companies wanting ta exploTe the markets where we opetate ports and terminals. We bring on
capacily in line with demand, with a view to avoiding overcapacity.

The Group's investment in deep-sea capacity allows us to handle ultra-large vessels and offers a competitive
advantage.

We focus on high levels of customar servica ang develop sustainabla, high-value and trusted customer
relationships throughout our porifolio. We operate customer engagement projecls to improve and extend supply
chain relationships. Senlor executive sponsors are in constant dialague with our customers and we maintain a
walching brief on all markets. We are also taking steps to Initiate immediate contacts with cargo owners across its
portfolio in order to ercheslrate marketing efforts and altract cargo to ls facilities. We remain focused on origin and
destination cargo, which is less affecled by competition than transhipment cargo.
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Major Projects — Davelopment and plapning

Risk Description and Impact: - Major projecls conlribufe significantly to reshaping our porifolio and delivering on
our sirategy. We ate involved in number of high-value, long-term projects that can take months or years to
complete. Due to thelr nature these projects are exposed to geo-political events, forces of hature, unforeseen sile
conditions, technalagy development, equipment deliverias, and other external factors which can result In delays or
cost ovarruns. Failure to deliver these major projects can expose the Group to the risk of reguced profitability and
potential losses.

Risk Management: - Our pre-qualification csiteria and process conlinues o be enhanced, with comprehensive
information being collected and managed to make sure our contractor's list is eolid and companies are categorised
according to thelr actual skills and recent performance on other conlracts. Relationships with top-tier vendors ara
canstantly developed and managed, securing fop management commitment from contractors fo our projects.
Procurement procasses in place ensure contracts are rigorausly negoliated o mitigate any identifted project risks.
Project risks are constantly assessed, mitigated, managed and reporied by the Project Management Department
("PMD"} during the project planning and execulion stage. This Is supported by the deployment of online project
management and reporling tools.

Several lavels of approval are in place for the large-scale contracts up to the level of our Board. In addition to the
invoivement of highly skilled project managemsnt individuals on each project, more at(ention is being placed on
tne planning stage of projects, to avoid and address eventual project liabilities, following PMD procedures and best
practices in project management slandards,

Slrategic equipment procurement and implementation controls are in place throughout the duration of projects and
clear lines of responsibility are assigned to the project implemenialion team and the procurement performance
team, Where muliilaterat or bank finance is a source of funding, the projecls ate required to meet internationally
establishad profect financing requirements. Where appropriate, financing packages are structured and covenanls
set to ensure sufficient headroom fo accommodate non-material delays,

Geopolitical

Risk Description and Impact: ~ The Group segks new opporiunities and operates across a large number of
juriadictions, resulting In exposure to a broad spectrum of economies, political and soclal frameworks. Politleal
instabillty, changes to the regulatory environment or taxatian, international sanctions, exprapriation of property, civil
slrife and acts of war can disrupt the Group's operalions, increase costs or negatively impact existing operations,
sarvice, revenues and volumaes.

Risk Management: - We have a well-diversified global portfollo of investments across a number of geographical
jurisdictions that spread our risk, We also actively malntain a mix between investing in emerging markets and
developad markets to balance our risk return profile. Our focus on the more resilient origin and destination cargo
alsa lowers the risk of volatility. Our experienced business development team undertakes initia) due diligence and
wa analyse currenl and emerging issues and maintain business confinulty plans o respond to threats and
safeguard our operafions and assets.

Authoritative and timely Intervention is made at holh national and international lavels in response to legislative,
fiscal and regulatory proposals that wa feel are disproportionate and not in our interests. Ongoing security
assessments and continuous monitaring of geopolitical develapments along with engagement with local authorities
and joint venture pariners, ensures that we are well-positioned to raspond to changas In political environments.

UK’s referendum vote to leave the EU

Risk Description and Impact: - Despite the Arlicle 5 notice being served, there remains insufficien! infomation
about the likely terms of the post Brexit arrangements between the UK and EU. Trade between our UK deep sea
part and Europe is fimited so the Group does not anticipate any major direct effect of Brexit, however, if the Brexit
pracess caused significant revisions lo macroeconomic performance and GOP of our major European markets
including the UK, thus affecting the economic climate in which we operate, this could in turnimpact the performance
of the operating companias in thase markets,

Risk Management: - Although the Group has operalions in UK, a farge majority of our customers are in other
countries, accounting for most of our revenue and cash flow. Each of our natlonal operaling companies is a
standalons business, Incorporated and licensed in the jurisdiction in which it operales, and able 10 adapt lo a wide
rahge of local developments. Furlher we are currently exploring opportunities that Brexit may provide in terms of
frea trade zones in UK. The Group s of tha view that tha uncertainties around the Brexit can be somawhalt mitigated.
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IT Systems, infrastructure Failure and Cyber Threat

Risk Description and Impact: - Qur business and oparations are increasingly dependent on Information
technology to drive the efficiencies of their operations, ensure inlegrity of Information and business workflows, and
integration 1o stakeholders including customers and regulatory autharities, ensuring that port operations and its
machinery operale continvously. As a Group, the use of IT applications is core to our competitive advantage.

As we continue 1o embed grealer digitisation into the P&OSNCo slrategy, we continue to reaiise significant
agvantages with regard to customer experience, revenue, and cost. This will enable Group to achieve growth
targets in an evolving landscape.

However, this, coupled with the increased use of social media and the evolving sophistication af cyber threals,
leads to corporates becoming targets for malicious and unauthorised allempts to access their IT systems for
information and inteffigence. Our Group could be compromised by an Incldent that breaches our IT security. This
could result in Habilities including claims, loss of revenue, liligation and harm to the Group's reputation.

Risk Management: - We have daveloped 1T strategles that are aligned with business objectives. Our Global IT
framework Is based on COBITS, 180 27001, TOGAF, PM and ITIL. We regularly review, update and evaluate all
software, applications, syslems, infrastructure and security, This includes regular vulnerability assessment and
penetiation testing. All software and systems are upgraded or palched regularly to ensure thal we have minimised
our vulnerabilities. Each of our businass wunits has an T disaster recovery plan. Our security policies and
infrastruciure tools are updated or reptaced regularly 1o keep pace with changing and growing threats.

We have onlina lraining and awareness courses for our employess to ensufe they remain aware regarding the
proper use of our compuler systems and cyber security. Our security infrastructure is updated regularly and
employs multiple layers of defence. Connectivity to our partners’ systems Is conlrotied, monitored and logged.

Safely Risks

Rigk Description and Impact: - The Industry In which we oparale sees a great interactlon between people and
heavy equipmentfioads, which exposes us fo a range of health and safety hazards. The potential impacts could
include harm to our people, regulatory action, legal lability, increased costs and damage te our reputation. This
risk Is increasing as we dlversify our businass, Qur ultimale goal is zero harm lo our employees, third parties and
communities hear our operations.

Risk Managemant: - Our Board of Direclors is fully committed to creating a safety culture throughout the Group.
We regularly monitor the implementation of aur safety strategy et aur terminals, which includes employee training,
regular audits and management abjectives in relation lo the safely of our paople. Wa continue lo record and report
on all safely impacts at business unils to the Board and senior management. This Includes collecting, analysing,
reporting and monitoring data on a monthly basis in order to measure the safely perfermance of our business thnits.

We investigate afl incidants and have a warking group in place ta hightight trends, reduce risk factors and identify
and Implement measures aimed at eliminating future incidenls. Terminal management is responsible for fecal
terminal safety risks and Is supported by safety guides, operational manuals and procedures and oversight lrom
our local, regional and Global Safety teams, which coordinate consistent approaches to sefety risks. A Vendor
Code of Conduet has been established to ensure that confractors’ seleclion crileria are aligned with our safely
palicies prior to commencing work on our terminals.

Legaf and Regulatory

Risk Description and Impact: - Our Group is subject to deteailed local, regional and global laws and regulations
across different jurisdictions, These laws and ragulations are hecoming maore complex and increasingly stingent
and are subject to various Jagai and regutatory abkigations, We are expanding gecgraphically and therefore we are
axposed lo increasing numbers of laws and regulations when operating our businesses.

New legislation and other evolving practices could impact our operalions and Increase the cost of compliance, For
example, the UK Bribery Act applies to all our operations worldwide. We need to conslantly monitor compliance
within our existing operations and business development opportunities. Another example is competition law and
merger control rules, which are applicable in almost 21l jurisdictions, We must ensure that we operale in compliance
with these rules. This is even more critical in our industry which has few players, few competitors and few
customars. Regulators across the world exchange data and scrulinise companies on a global level,

Failure to comply with legisiation coutd lead to substantial financlal penalties, disruption to business, personal and
corporate fiabilily and foss of repultation.
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Risk Management: - The Group monitors changes to regulations across its portfolio to ensure that the effect of
any changes is minimised and that compliance is continually managed. Comprehansive policies, procedures and
trainings are In place to promote legal and regulatory campliance, Ongoing dialogue with our external lawyers to
maintain knowledge of relevant legatl developments in the markets where We operale, Ongoing diafogue with our
regions to proaciively be aware of changes in the way business / operatlens are conducted and be in a positien to
advise accordingly.

Compliance

Risk Description and Impact: - The Group demonstrates high standards of business integrity and ensures
compliance with a wide range of internal, local and international laws &.g. anti-corruplion and bribery laws/ Modein
Slavery Acl. As our business spreads geographically, we are increasingly operating in countries Identilied as having
a higher risk of exposure to these faws. We also hava to ensure compliance with trade sanctions, and Import and
expart controls. Failure by our employeas or agents to comply with these regulations could rasult in substantial
penaltias, criminal prosecution and significant damage 1o our reputation. This could in turn impact our fulure
revenue and cash flow. Allegations of corruption or bribery or viclation of sanctions regulations could alsoe lead to
reputation and brand damage with investors, regulators and customers.

Risk Mapnagement: - The Group has a Goda of Ethics, Anti-Bribery policy, Medern Slavery policy in place, with a
zerg-falerance approach to bribery and fraud and has developed both online training and fraud risk awareness
workshops across the Group lo raise awareness and prorote compliance. We have an anti-fraud frammework in
pface for preventing, detecting and responding lo frauds to meet the stringent requirements of the UK Bribery Act.
This &s partictlarly focused on higher risk reglons to ansure the Group's policies are understood and enforced. We
have an externally administerad whisileblowing hotline for reporting any concerns. These are investigated and
reported to the Audit Committee on a quarterly baais, We provide new starters and exisling employees with training
on anti-bribery and corruplion as part of the induction process, We hava a Vendor Code of Conduct to ensure
vendars comply with these laws and a gift and hospitality policy for alf employees.

Employes Attraction and Retention

Risk Description and Impact: - Our people are fundamental to the long-term success and growth of our Company.
The attraction, retention, development and succession of senior managemaent and individuals with key skills are
critical success factors in the achievement of our strategy. Failure to aftract or retaln these employees could result
in Increased cos!s to the Group and affect our praductivity levels.

Risk Managemant: - Retention strategies are in place for [dentified scarce skills. We promaole a safe working
environment for our employees and operale a global health and wellbeing programme. We continitously monitor
and benchmark our remuneration packages in order lo attract and retain employees of a suitable caliber and skill
set. The DP World institute develops and delivers training programmes across all levels, focused an improving
operational and managerial competencies.

We partner with some of the mos! reputable learning institutions, such as London Business School and Harvard
University, for the davalopment of our leaders. We have entered into agreements with the leading global recruitment
and execulive search firms to support us as and when needed and are currenlly enhancing our soclal media
sourcing channeis.

Effective performance management remains a high pricrity and is regularly monliored across the Group. We have
in place a succession planning stralegy for critical roles in the businass, which forms parl of aur talent management
procass,

Labour Unrest

Risk Description and Empact; - Labour strikes and unrest or other industria! refations dispules pose a risk to our
operalional and financial results. Untons are now communicating lransnationally and coordinating actions ageinst
multinational companies. Dealing with issues in isolation Is therafore becoming more challenging. Some of our
Group's employees are represented by labour unions utnder coltective labour agreements. The Group may not be
able to renegotiate agreements salisfactorily when they expire and may face industrial action, In addition, labaur
agreements may nol be able lo prevent a alrike or work stoppage and labour disputes may arise even in
circumstances where the Group's employees are not represented by labour unions.

Risk Management: We have an engagemenl stralegy with unions and employees in those areas most affecled
by employee disputes. This Includes mulli-year agreements and clearly assigned responsibilities for maintaining
close refationships with unions lacally, nationally and Internationally. We are proactive and timsly In our responses
to the needs of tha unions. A senlor management representalive holds a Chairparson role on lhe European Warks
Cauncil, which provides a forum to interact directly with unlon representatives on a timely and continuous basis.
We continue to monitor operational downtime arising from local disputes. We conduct employee engagement
surveys with a formal process for foliowing up on employee concerns, We conlinue to develop a response capability
to addrass and offset the impact of work stoppages as a result of labour dispules within the local regulatory and
legal framework under which we operate.
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Environmental

Risk Description and Impast: - There is a growing portfolio of legislation and government regulations aimed at
tackling climate change, which could have consequences for our operations at national or regional level, New
fegislation and other evalving practices could Impact our operatians and incraase the cost of compliance. A breach
in any of these regulalions can result in the Group facing regulatory action and legal liabitity, including conslderable
financiat penalties, disruption lo business, personal and corporate liability and damage to our reputation.

Similarly, any spillage or release of a harmfui substance can have devastating consequences on the environment
and numerous impllcations for our business. Major incidents related to oif or chemical releases can result in the
Group being held liable for financial eampensalion, andfor clean-up costs and potentially result In our reputation
being permanently damaged.

Risk Management: - We have a dedicated team responsible for continually reviewing regulatory risks, which
aciively engages with policymakers and governments fo assist in managing and mitigaling any risks assoclated
with regulatory changes. Operational terminals, executives, managers and technical leaders play an important role
in developing strategies and acttons o combat the adverse potential effects of climate change through planning,
maodification of infrastructure and retrofitting, etc.

Ws continue to monitor and report our carbon emisslons to the Board and senior management and globally to
stakeholdars,

We review the cargo and chemicals that we handle prior to their arrival in our operations and take appropriate
action and care when handling dangerous materials to pravent incidents befare they happen. We have develaped
targeted controls, guidance and {raining to prapare our terminals for response to any relaases, larga or smafi,
shauld an incident occur. We investigate all environmental incidents and have a working group In place to highlight
trends, reduce risk factors and Idenlify and implemant measures aimed at eliminating future incidents.

Corporate responsibility, safety and the environment

There are Group policies for health, safely, welfare, environment and soclal responsibility which are cammunicated
fo all staff. Each operating company is required to produce Its own policies and management systems to reflect
Group policias and best induslry practice in its sector of business. The Company also encotrages the adoption of
simllar policies by its significant joint ventures and assoclates.

Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instrumenits;

. Liquidity risk
. Market risk
. Credit risk

This saction presents information about the Groug's exposure o each of the above risks, the Group’s objeclives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Furher guantitative disclosures are included throughaut
the consolidated financial stalements.

The Board of Direclors, in conjunction with the Board of Dlrectars of DP World Limited, the ultimate controlling
company of the Group, have overall respansibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
managemant frameawork.

The Group's risk management policles are established to idenlify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The Group, through its training
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive contro! environment
in which alt employeas understand thalr roles and obligations.

Liguidity risk

Liqulidity risk Is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's
approach to managing figuldity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient cash to meet its
liabililies when due, under bath normal and stressed conditions, without Incuriing unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group's reputation.
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Market risk

Markel risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect
the Group’s Income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments, The objective of market risk management
is ta manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group buys and sells derivatives and also incurs finangial fiabilities in order to manage markel risks. All such
transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by the Board of Diteclors in the Group Treasury policy.
Generally, the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order to manage the volalility in the consalidated income
statement.

Currency risk

The Group has extensive overseas and international business operalions and operates in a number of foreign
currencles which gives rise to transactional and translational forelgn exchange risk. The foreign currencles to which
the Group is mast exposed are the US Daoflar, the Indian Rupee, the Canadian Doffar and the Euro. In general, [he
Group's profits and stockholders’ funds benefit if these currencies are strang against Sterling.

The praporlion of the Group's net operaling assets denominated in foreign currencies Is approximately 71.6%
{2016: 80.5%) with the result that the Group's consolidatad stalement of financial position and, In particular owner's
equity, can be affected by currancy movements when it is retranslated at each year end rate. The Group partially
miligales the effect of such movements by borrowing in the same currencles as those in which tha assets are
denominated and using eross currency swaps. The Impact of currency movements on operating profit Is partially
mitigated by interest costs being incurred in forelgn currencies.

Exchange movements arising on ferelgn currency Investments are aken directly to equity.

A portion of the Group's activities generate patt of their revenue and incur some cosls outside their main functional
currency. Due ta the diverse number of locations In which the Group aperates there Is some natural hedging lhal
occurs within the Group. When it is considered that currency volatility could have a matearial Impact on the results
of an operation, hedging using forward forelgn currency conlracts is underiaken to reduce the short-term effact of
currency mevements,

When the Group's businesses enler into capital expenditure or lease commitments in currancies other than their
main funclional currency, these commitments are hedged, in most instances, using forward cantracts and currency
swaps In order to fix the cost when converted to the functional currency. The Group classifies its forwatd exchange
contracts hedging forecast transactions as cash fiow hedges and states them at fair value.

As well as the direct effect on cash fiows, exchange rates also affect the Group's businesses because of their
overall economic influenca. In particular, exchange rates affect international trade flows which impact on the
activities of the Group.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in maiket interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt
obligations with a fixed/Moating Interest rate and bank deposits.

Approximataly £259.8 mililion (2016: £324.9 million) of the Group's interest bearing [oans and homowings carry
interest at floating rates. The Group's policy is to manage its interast cost by entering intc inlerest rale swap
agreements In which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate Interest amounls calculated by reference to an agreed-upon noticnal princlpal amount. These swaps
are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations.

At 31 December 2017, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 79.3% (2016: 79.4%) of
the Graup's borrowings are at a fixed rate of Interest.

Credit risk

Credit risk Is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a cuslomer falls to meet ils conlraclual obligations, which
arises principally fromm the Group's recelvables from cuslomers and investment securities.
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Trade and other receivables

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parfies. it is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to irade on credit terms are subject lo credit verification procedures and are required lo submit financial
guarantees based on their creditworthiness. In addition, recelvable balances are menilored on an on-golng basis
with the result that the Group's exposure lo bad debts is not significant.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses In respect of
trade and other teceivables. The main compaonenis of this allowancea are a specific loss component that relales to
individually significant exposures and a collective loss component established for Groups of similar assets in
respect of losses that have been Incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based
on histerical data of payment statistics for similar financial assels.

Other finanhcla! assets

Credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Group comprises cash and cash equivalents and certaln
derivative Instruments. The Group's exposure lo credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal lo the carrying amount of these Instruments.

The Group limits its credit risks with regard to bank deposits by dealing only with reputable banks with a minimum
credit rating of A-,

Financial guarantees

The Group's policy is to consider the provislon of a financial guarantee to wholly-owned subsidiaries where there
is a commaerclal rationale to do so. Guarantees may afso be provided to joint ventures and associates n vary limited
clrcumstances and always only for the Group's share of the obligation. The provision of guarantees always requires
the approval of management,

Capital management

The Board's policy Is ta maintain a etrong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and 1o sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the teturn on capital employed
(ROCE), which the Group defines as earnings before interest and tax and before separately disclosed ltemts (SDI),
as a percentage of total assets less current liabilities. Return on capital employed is 7.0% for the year ended
31 December 2017 as compared to 6.3% for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that It maintains a strong credit raling and
healthy capital ratios in arder to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Board seeks to maintalin
a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position.

Neither the Company nor any of ils subsidiaries are subject to externally Imposed capital requirements.

By arder of the Boarg

Wignpioim

Mohammad Al Hashimy

Secrelary
22 June 2018
Company Number 273
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Report of the directors

The directors present {heir report and accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Directors
The directors of the Company who held office during the year and to the dale of this report were as follows:

Sarmad Qureshi

Mohammad Al Hashimy (appoinled on 20 November 2017)
R.A. Al Qahtani (appointed on 16 April 2018)

Sultan Bin Sulayem (resigned 16 May 2018)

Yuvraj Narayan {reslghed 16 May 2018)

Ganesh Raj Jayaraman (resigned 16 May 2018)

Anil Watts (resigned 08 November 2047}

Jdamal Majid Bin Thanlah (resigned on 31 January 2017}

Dividends

No dividend was declared or paid during 2017 (2016: £1,000m}.
Employees

The Company is committed to keeping employees throughout the Group informed of performance, development
and progress (hrough its estatilished system of briefings by managemeant, and widely distributed news and
information bulfetins.

There is a European Warks Council, known a5 the European Councll, the purpose of which is to Inform and cansult
with employee representatives on transnational issues, Members are elected in the UK and lreland and either
elacted or appointed, in accordance with national laws, in other countries. The Council meels twica a year.

The Company's aim is to meet the objectives of the code of good practice on the employment of disabled people.
Full and falr consideration is given (o disabled applicants for employment and training, and career development is
encouraged on the basis of aplilude and abilities. It remains Company policy to retain employees who become
disabled whilst in its service and to provide specialised training where apprapriata.

Employees are able to share in the Group's results through performance related bonus schemes which are widely
applied in the Graup.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with factors likely lo affect ils future development, performance and
position are set out in the Strategic Report. In addition, note 6 to the consolidated financial stalement sets cul the
Group's objeclives, policies and processes for managing the Group’s financia! risk, including capital management,
and note 20 provides details of the Group’s expasure to credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk arlsing lrom
financial instruments.

The Group has within current receivables an amount of £2,049.9m (2018: £1,783,6m) dus from its intermediate
parent companies and fellow subsidiaries and believe these to be recoverable.

The board of directors remain salisfied with the Group's funding and liquidity position. At 31 Dacember 2017, the
Group had net debt of £975.8m (2048 £1,237.7m) and had £15.4m commitied borrowing facilittes (2016: £82.6m).
The Group generated net cash of £236.5m (2016: £216.5m) from operaling activities and lts interest cover for tha
year is 6.8 times (2015 8.9 times) {caleulated using adjusted EBITDA to net interest expense before separately
disclosed items).

Based on the above and having made enquiries, the Direclors consider that the Company and the Group have
ateguate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore they consider it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Directors Indemnity Insurance

All directors are entitfed to indemnification from the Company lo the extent permitted by law against claims and
legal expenses incurred in the course of their dulies,

Such qualifying third-party indemnity insurance is pravided and remains in force as at the dale of appreving the
directors' report.
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Report of the directors (continued)

Disclosure of information to the auditors
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware and each Direclor has taken

all the steps that he ought lo have taken as a director to make himsel aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors

Pursuani to Section 487 of tha Companies Acl 2008, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLF
will therefare conlinue in office.

By order of the Board

LA AL

Mohammad Al Hashlmy
Secretary

22 June 2018
Company Number 273
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual
Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial
statements

The direclors are responsible for preparing the annual report, slrategic report, the direclors’ report and the Group
and parent company financia! statements, In accordance with applicable law and regulations,

Company |aw requires the direclors to prepare Group and parent company financisl statemants for each financiat
year. Undar that law they have elected to prepare the Group financlal statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporiing Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Unlon and applicable laws and have elected
to prepare the parent company financial stalements in accardance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable
laws (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Praclice), Including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law, the directors must not apprave the financial statements unless they are salisfied that they
give a true and fair view of tha stale of affairs of the Group and Parenl Company and of their profit or Joss for that
period.

In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and estimales that are reasonable and prudent;

+  forthe Group statemants, state whather they have been prepared in accardance with IFRS as adopted by the

« for the parent company financial slalements, state whether applicable UK Accounling Standards have been
followed, subject to any material depariures disclosed and explained in the pareni company financlal
statements; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it is Inappropriate to presume thal the
Group and the parent company will continue in business.

The direclors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficlent to show and explain the
parent company's Iransaction and disclose with reasonable accuracy atany time the nancial position of the parent
camipany and enable them to ensure that its financial slatements comply with the Companies Act 2008. They have
genera) responsibllity for taking such steps as are reasonably open lo them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and o prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

11
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Independent auditor's report to the members of The Peninsular and
Oriental Steam Navigation Company

We have sudited the financial statements of The Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company for the year
ended 31 December 2017 set out on pages 14 lo 104. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
the preparation of the Group financial stalemenis is applicable law and International Financtal Reparting Standards
{IFRSs) as adopled by the EU. The financial reporting framawork that has been applied in the preparation of the
parent company financial statements |s applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework,

This repott Is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those malters we are required lo state 1o them in an audilor's report and for no ether purpose. To the fullest extant

permilted by faw, we do not accept or assume responsibllity (0 anyone other than the company and the Company's
members, as & body, for our audit work, for this report, or far the opinions we have fermed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained moare fully in the directors’ Respensibilities Statement set out on page 11, the directors are responsible
for {he preparation of the financial statements and far being satisfied thal they give a true and fair view, Our
responsitility Is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financtal slatements in accordance with applicable law and

Intarnalional Standards en Auditing (UK and reland). Those standards require us to comply with the Audiling
Practicas Board's (AP8's) Ethlcal Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A descriplion of the scope of an audit of financial slatements is provided an the Finanelal Reporting Councit's
website at www. frc.org.ukfauditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements
In aur opinion:

+ the financial slatements give a true and fair view of 1hs state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's
affairs as at 31 December 2017 and of the Group's profit for the year then endéd;

» the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accardance wilh IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

= the Parent company financlal statemenls have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Genearally
Accapted Accounting Praclice;

« the financial statements hava been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our aplnlon the Information given in the Strategic Repart and the directars’ Report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. Based solely on the work required
to be undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and from reading the Sirategic report and
the Directors' report:

- We have not identified material misstatements in those reports; and

- In our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

12
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Aot 2006 requires us to report
ta youy If, in our opinion;

+ Badequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not vislted by us; or

«  the Parent Company financial slatements to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

«  cerfain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by faw are not mads; or

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Tom Eve (Senior Sfalutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London £14 5GL
22 June 2018
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Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 Decembor 2017

P& O Annual Report

£ mifon

- Yearended 31 December 2017

" . Yearended 31 Decglr:l_hgt,guiﬁ '

Note Before  Szparately Total Bafore Separalely Tatal
ceparately disclosed separatefy disclosed
disclosed Ilterns dixchosed items
(tems (refer nota Hems (refer nota
8 )
Group revenue 7 a78.6 10.9 989.5 1,029.1 505 1.079.8
Cost of sales _{593.8) {10.9) (604.5) (632.9) {50,5) (6823.4)
Gross profit 385.0 - 385.0 396.2 - 396.2
Other operating incoms 16.1 0.4 16.5 73 1.5 9.3
Administrative costs {168.9) 3.6 (165.4) {166.4) - (166.4)
Earnings from eauily accounted investees 7.9 102.9 12.4 1153 100.1 (2.2) 57.9
Group operating profit 335.1 16.3 351.4 337.7 (0.7 337.0
Gain/ (Loss) on sale and termination of
busingsges g - 141.7 141.7 (22 {i.6) (3.8)
Profit before finance expense 335.4 158.0 483.1 335.5 (2.3) 333.2
Finance income 10 30.8 0.4 3.2 47.8 - 47.8
Finance axpense 10 ($01.7) - {104.7) (99.3) {42.7} (142.0)
Net finance expense (70.9) 0.4 (70.5) {51.54 {42.7) (4.2}
Profit before taxation 2642 158.4 422.6 284.0 {45.0% 239.0
Income lax expense 1 (70.4) 786 8.1 (63.7) — (63.7)
_Profit for the year . - - Ly de3m- - 2369 4307 | 203  dsoy . . i7s3
Attributabla lo ‘ _ ;
_ Ownere of the company " - 38667 43648
- Non-ontrolling interests = - . 344 385
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2017

£ million
Note - 2017 2016
Profit for the year A30.7 175.3
Qther comprehensive income
Items that ara or may be reclassified subsequently to consolidated Income
siatement: - ) N o i o :
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 29.0 {18.6)
Foreign curmency translation differences for foreign aperatons (16.0) 126.1
Recycled exchange on disposals (27.1) -
Share of ather comprehensive income of equity accounted investees 69 6.1
Deferred tax on olher comprehensive income items (2.8) 23
items that will never be reclassified to consolidated incoms .~
stalement: e T T -
Re-measuremants of post-employment benefit obligations 24 {1.3) {151.8)
Deferred tax on actuariai losses/ (gains) (0.4} 46
Total other comprehensive Income for the year (12.7) (32.3)
“Tdia'l-cygﬁmb_rehéns}l‘\;e lﬁ'z.::p&.m‘ej[u!-f‘tha: year: -1 S SRl R AL X 5_1 T 430
Aftributable to:
' "Owniers of the company ..

~ Nai-controlling irterests "~ "~
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 Decembar 2017

£ million
oo o Note oot 2097 2016
Non-current assets l
Intangitle assets 12 417.7 as1.9
Proparty, plant and equipment 13 4,851.2 2,088.5
lvestments In equity accounted investees 14 5422 438.7
Other investments 17 35.9 243
Trade and olher recaivables 16 74.5 a7.4
Loans o group undertakings 18 5.5 14
2,927.0 3,531.8
Current assets
Inventories 18.4
Trade and other receivables 16 187.9
Tax recaverable 2386
Loans to group underakings 16 2,049.9
Cash and cash equivalents 18 279.7
2,558.2
Totabmgsels o - .. o w s o0 - T T 54862
Non-currant ‘Ilablllilfes 7 - e
Inlerest bearing toans and borrowings 19 1,045.0 1,53%.5
Trada and other payables 20 29.7 104.5
Loan from groug undertakings 20 67.8 238.3
Deferred tax Habilities 18 268.6 4A58.7
Employee benefits 24 137.4 2649
Provisions 0.7 1.1
1,609.2 2.597.0
Current liabilitles
Inlerest bearing loans and barrewings 19 240.2 40.2
Trade and other payables 20 323.2 358.4
Income tax ligbilities 296 70.9
Loan from group undertakings 20 91.6 77.4
Employee benefits 24 5.4 6.6
Provisions 405 16.7
670.6 570.2
Total llahllitles 2,279.7 3.167.2
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Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)
as at 31 December 2017

S £ mifion
Note 2017 2016
Net agsets 3,206.5 2,750.2
Equity
Issued capital 22 843.2 8432
Share premium 22 815.4 8154
Other reserves 22 395.4 4057
Retained earnings 1,111 6426
LT T - ) ~ o 3,684 . . - 27069
f_-‘Nor,i-qorilrblli'ng inlerests . T e . 433
Todlequity ~ L L oazees L 27502
Total equity'and fiabililies . E4Be2 - c 59174

The accounts were appraved by the board of direclors and sign -gh ils behalf on 22 June 2018 by:

LLdudeulp —

Mohammad Af Hashimy Sarmad Qureshi
Director Director

The Paninsular end Crietal Steam Navigation Company — Cornpany Number Z73
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Shlm Translatian “Hedging - - = Olher - S B

oo " eaplhl , Premiu Teserva MNE"- stiva - ‘;'“u‘l w",:;':':: o
-Atd Janvary2096 .. - - Ted37 - Ai54 . .. 4665 - (608) - 1705 . 46755 | . .3esaz .- osd|

Total campeehansive Income lor the yuar

Prefil for the yaar - . - - . 138.6 136.8 385 375.3
Tolal n!l\.ercon_-\yﬂehensim inceme et ol‘ lncorr\u tax - - 129.3 17.8 - 145.2 {24.5) 2.2 .
-Total comgrsher lacoma . - L TP 293 (198 o - fey ] Coqnea - 407
Transacllons with owners recorded directly In equity

- Acquisition of subs!diary and equity accounted invesles - - . (2.1) - (21.7) {23.8) 5.8 29.7)
- Dividends - . - - - {1000} 1,000.0) - {1,400.0)
Transacllons with non-<ontrolling Interests

- Qther ranyactioas - - - - - {1.8) (4.8 06 (5.2
- Dividsads . i - - . - - (222) (727]
Total Trinnr.uonsw!lhnon-eonlwlllgg!ntsrqh' - N - ROl B A219) | - (234
~At3tDecember 2048 > - " Ce ok . B437 o7 Bisd .- 3168 % 25 A3 - 2,780.2
AR danuan 20T i - T ma3> . sS4 . - 2458 (806) - 9705~ G426 4331 .2,750.2
Total comprehansive ncome for the year

Prokit for tha year - - - - N 3358 2955 4.4
To!alomerwngmhensminmm m: o!mcomelar - - (4i.1) 308 - (1.6) {11.9} {0.4)

Total comprehenstve income R ST 7 3 X VI X ] IR TN T T A

T {l{ with ownars ded directly in squity

« Pensicn oblgation boma by Uilimate Parént Company - - - - - 738 TS - 715
Transaclons wih non-controlling Interests

« Purchase of pon-conlrolkng Inlerests - - - - - . - 29 28
- Dividendy - - - - - . [3n.t 7 [el-R)]
‘ Tolal Trlnnc:uonswllhnon-wnlrullmg 1nteresls R ! - o - elcl oowm s e TR . R .- {35.2) ~ {352
T At 31 Decemnbar 2017 - . T E 2747 - {49.8) - 1785 - 11444 ] - 21851 S a4 3208.5
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2017

P&O Annual Report

: " Note - - 2017 o018
Operating acflvities
Profit after taxation 430.7 175.3
Adjustments for;
Share of profits of equity accounled investees 14 (146.3) {97.9}
Gain an sala of Intangibles and property, plant and equipment (0.8) (0.6)
(Gain)/ loss on sale and termination of business k) (1417} 38
Gain on sale of other investments - (1.5)
Net finance expense 10 70,8 84.2
Tax expense 1 8.1) 83.7
Depreciation and amortisation charges 129.9 1248
Grass cash flows from operations 368.2 361.8
Movament in working capital:
Change in inventories {0.9) (1.8}
Change in trade and other receivables {15.2) 341
Change In trade and ather payables 4.9 {114.4)
Change In provigions (2.7} b24
lncome taxes pald (135.6) (115.6)7
Net cash pirovided by operating activitles 2365 2165
Invasting activities
Capital expenditure (152.8) (280.5)
Ihvestment in equity accounted Invastees {46.4} -
Proceeds from {additions 1o}/ disposal of other investments {11.8) 7.1
Proceads from disposals of ficed assets 7.8 1.4
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 14 37.0 109.7
Interest recelved 143 14.6
Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries 261.8 5.2
Gash derecognised on disposal of subsidiares (24.4) -
Acquisition of non-cantroliing Interest without change of controt - {1.2)
Acqulsition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 28 {17.5 {11.4)
_ Net cash provided byl (used) In invesiing activities - - Lesa o (155.4)
Financing activities
Drawdown from long-term financing 63.7 9187
Repayments of lang-term financing (56.7) (655.0)
Net decreasa in foan with group undertakings {257.0) {(20.6)
Net Interest paid (74.4) (60.7)
Amounts contribited by non-controlling interests 29 -
Dividends paid to non-controliing interest {38.1) {22.2)
Net cash used Jn financing actlvities . - - “{aseE). © T (19.8) -
Increase in cash and cash equivalents (54.7) 41.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 18 342.0 269.4
Currency translation differences refating to cash and cash equwa!ents {7.6) 30.9
-Cash and cash squivalents at end of year - Clozrey T la420
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(forming part of the financlal statements)

1 Reporting entity

The Penlnsular and Qriental Steam Navigation Company (the “Company”) Is a company incorporated and domiciled in the United
Kingdom. The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise the Company
and its subsidiarfes (togather referred to as the "Group” and individually referred to as "Group entities”) and the Group's interesls
in assacistes and jointly controlled entities. The parent company financial statements present information about the company as
a separafe enfity and not as a Group.

2 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidaled financial statements have been prepared In accardance with International Financlal Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU ("IFRS"). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial stalements in accordance with
FRS 101, thess are presented on pages 74 to 104.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directars oh 22 June 2018.
{b) Basis of measuremsent

The consolidated finencial slalements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for defivative financial
instruments which are measured at fair value.

The methods used to measure fair valugs are discussed further In note 5.
{c) Funging and liquidity

The Group's business aclivities, tagether with factors likely o affect its future development, padformanca and position are
sat out in the Strategic Report. In addition, note 6 to the consolidated financlal statement sets out the Group's objectives,
policies and processes for managing the Group’s financial risk, including capital management, and note 29 provides details
of the Group's exposure te credit risk, liquidily risk and Interest rate risk arising from financial Instruments.

The Group has within current recelvables an amount of £2,048.8 millien {2016: £1,783.6 million) due from Ils intermediate
parent companles and fellow subsidiarias and believe these to be recoverable. On this basis, the Directors befieve that the
Group has tha ablllty to continue trading and to meet future commitments,

The Beard of Direclors remain satisfied with the Group's funding and liquidity pasition. At 31 December 2017, the Group had
net debt of £875.5 million (2016: £1,237.7 million) and £15.4 million {2016: £82.6 million) of undrawn commitled borrowing
facilities. The Group's credit facility covenants are currently well within the covenant limils. The Group generated net cash of
£236.5 million {2016: £216.5 miition) from oparaling activities and its Interest cover for the year is 6.6 times {2016: 8.9 times)
(calculated using adjusted EBITOA to net inferest expense before separately disclosed items).

Based on the above and having made enqulries, the Direclors consider that the Company and the Group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existance for the foreseeable future ard therefore they consider it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

{d) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Pound sterling. Each enfity in the Group deferminas ils awn functional currency
and items Included in the financlal statemants of each enlity are measured using that functional currency.

These consclidated financial stalemants are presented In Pound steriing (*£7), which in the opinion of management Is the

most approprlate presentation currency of the company In view of the global presence of the Group. All financial information
presented in £ are rounded to tha nearest 0.1 million.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Basis of preparation (continued}
e} Use of estimates and judgements

Tha preparalion of consolidated financial stalements in conformity with JFRS as adopled by the EU requires management fo
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect tha application of accounting policies and reported amounts of
assels, liabifities, Income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimales.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewet on an on-going basis. Revislons to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information gbout crilical judgements in applying accounting poficies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recagnised in the consalidated financial statements are as follows:

) Provision for Income taxes and deferred tax assets

The Group Is subject to income faxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required In determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes, There are many transactions and calculations for which the ullimate tax determination is unceriain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax claims based on estimates of whether
additional 1axes wilthe due. Where the finaltax culcome of these malters is different from the amounts that wers Initially recorded,
such differences will Impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made,

Deferred tax assels are recagnised for aff unused tax losses to the extent that it Is probable that taxable profit will bs available
against which the fosses can ba ulilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assels thal can he recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of fulure taxable profits tagether with future tax planning
strategles.

iy Falr value of derivatives and financial instruments

Where ihe falr value of financial assets and financial liabilitlies recorded in the consolidated statemant of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The
inpuls to these models are taken from observable markels where possible, but where this is not feasible, a dagree of judgement
is required in establishing fair vatues, The judgements include consideralion of inputs sUch as markat risk, credit risk and volatility.

{iff) Contingent liabilities

There are various factors that could resull in a cantingent liability being disclosed if the probability of any outflow in setilement Is
not remote. The assessment of the outcome and financial effect is based upon managemant's best knowledge and judgement
of current facts as at the reporting date.

() Useful life of property, plant and equipment and poit concesslon rights with finite life

The useful life of property, plant and equipment and port concesslon rights with finlte life Is determined by the Group's
management based on their estimate of the period over which an asset ar port concesslon right is expected to be available
for use by the Group. This eslimate Is reviewsd and adjusted if approptiate at each financlal year end. This may resultin a
change in the vseful econamic lives and therelore depreciation and amartisation expense In fulure periods,

v Impalrment testing of goadwill and port concesslon rights

The Group determines whether goodwill and port concession rights with indefinite life are Impaired, at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is alfocated or in
which tha par concesslon righls with ingafinite life exist. Estimating the value In use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expecled fulure cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also 1o choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculale the present value of those cash flows.
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2 Basis of preparation {continued)
{e) Use of estimates and judgements {continued)
{vi) Impalrment of accounts receivable

An estimate of the collactible amount of accounts receivable is made whan collection of the fidl amount is no longer probable.
For significant amounts, this estimation s performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but
which are pas! due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical
recovery rates. Any difference between the amounts actually collected in fulwre periods and the amounts expected, will be
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

{vii} Penslon and post-employment benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits is determined using acluarial valuations. The
actuarial vatuation involves making assumptions aboul discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary
increasas, martalily rates and fulure pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such eslimates are
subject to signfficant uncertainty.

{viil) Business combinations

In accounting for business combinations, judgement is required In identifying whether an identifiable Intangible assel is 1o be
recorded separately from gaodwiil, Additionally, estimating the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assats acquired
and liablliies assumed involves management Judgment. These measurements are based on informallon avatlable at the
acquisition date and are based on expeclations and assumptions that have been deemed reasonable by the management.
Changes in these judgements, estimates and assumptions can malerially affect the resulls of operations.

{Ix) Non-consolfidation of entities In which the Group hofds more than 50% sharehofding

Antwerp Gateway N.V. is an equily accaunted investee of the Group even theugh the Group has majotily in ownership and
voting rights. The Direclors of the Company assessed whether or not he Group has the ability to direct the relevant activities
of this entity unilateratly, After assassment, the Direclars concluded that the underying joint venture agreement with the other

shareholder daes not provide significant cantrol to the Group and therefore investment in these entilies are equity accounted
and not consolidated.

3 Changes in accounting policies

The Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set oul in Note 4 to all periads presented in these consolidated
financial stalemants,
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4 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set oul belaw have heen applied consistently In the year presenled in these consolidated financial
stalerments and have heen applied cansistently by the Group entities.

(a) Basis of consolidation

[ Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisilion method as al the acquisition date — i.e. when control is
transferred to the Group. In assessing conlrol, the Group fakes inta consideralion potential voting rights that are currently

exercisable.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisilion date as:

. the fair value of the considaration transferred, plus

. the recognised amaunt of any non-controling interests in the acquiree; plus

. if the business combination is achieved In stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest In the acquiree;
less

. the net recognised amount {(generaliy fair value) of the identifiable assets (including previously unrecognised port
concesslon rights) acquired and liablllties (including contingent fiabifities and excluding future restructuring)
assumed.

In an acquisition, if the purchase price is Towar than the fair value of the assets acquired, the resuiting gain will be recognised
immediately in the statement of consolidated income statement.

In case of business combinations under camimon contral, If the purchase prica Is lower than the fair value of the assels
acquired, the resulting gain will be recognised directly in equity.

The conslderation transferred does not include amounts relaled to the selllemant of pre-existing relationships.

Transaclion costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection
with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, ihen it is not re-measured and settlemeant is accounted for within equlty. Otherwise, subsequent changes
in the fair value of the contingent cansideration are recognised in the consolidated income statemant.

()] Subsidiaries

Subsldiarles are enlities controlled by the Group. The Group contrals an entity when it is exposed to, or has righls 10, variable
returns from lls involvement with the entily and has the ability to affect those returns through Its power over the enlity. The
acquisition method of accounting s used to account far business combinations by the Group on the date of acquisition.

(i) Business comblnation achieved jn stages

If the business combination js achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirers previously held equity
intarest in the acquiree is remeasured at the acquisition date fair values and any resulting gain or loss Is recognised in profit
or loss.

() Change in ownership interests in subsldiaries without loss of control

Changes in the Group's inlerests In & subsidiary that do not result In a loss of conlrol are accounted for as Iransactions with
owners in thelr capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill Is recognised as a result of such fransactions. The difference
between the fair value of any consideration paid or recelved and relevant shares acquired or disposed off in the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded In equity under retained earnings.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of consofldation (confinued)
(v} Disposal of subsidiaries (loss of control}

On the loss of control, the Group derecagnises the subsidiary and recognises any sumplus or deficit arising on the loss of contro
in the consolidated statement of profit ar loss. Any retained interest Is re-measured at falr value on the date control Is lost and
is subsequently accounted as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the favel
of influance retained.

(vi Non-controlfing Inferests

For each husiness comblnation, the Group elecls to measure any non-controlling interests at their preportionate share of the
acqguirea's idenlifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

{vii) investments in assoclates and foint ventures (equify-accounted Investees)

The Group's Inferest in equity-accounted investees comprise Inleres! In assoclales and joint ventures. An associate Is an entity
over which the Group has significant influence, A Joint venture is 2 type of join! arrangement whereby the parties that have jeint
control of the arrangement have rights o the nel assets of the joint venlure.

Investments in equity-accounted inveslees are accounted for using the equity method and are inftially recorded at cost inchuding
transaction costs. The Group's investment includes fair value adjustments (including goodwilly net of any sccumulated
impairment losses.

At each reporting date, tha Group determines whether there is any objeclive evidence that the investmients in the equity-
accounted investees are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impaimment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the equily-accounted Investees and ils carrying value and recognises the same in the consolidaled
statement of profit or loss,

(vili)  Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and lransactions, and any unrealised Income and expsenses arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated in prepating tha consolidated financial statements. Unreslised gains arising from the transactions with equity-
accaunted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's Interesl in the investee, Unraalised
losses are eliminated In the same way as unrealised gsins, but only to the extent that there Is no evidence of impaliment,

{b} Fortelgn currency
{i) Ftinctional and presentafion currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in £, which Is the Group’s presentation currency. ltems Included in
the financlal statements of each of the Group's entilies are measured using the currency of the primary environment In
which it opetates (functional currency),

(i} Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencles are transfated {o the functional currency of each entity af the forsign exchange rate ruling
on the date af the transaction, Monetary assels and liabilities denominated in foreign currencles at the reporling date are
translated ta the functional cutrency of each entity al the foreign exchange rate ruling at hat date. Non-monetary assels
and kiabilifies denaminated In forelgn currancy are translated to the functional currency of each entity at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at the date of transaction with no lurther re-measurement In future. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in the profit or loss.

(tii) Forelgn operations

For the preparalion of consolidated financial statements, the differences arising on translation of financial statements of
foraign operations into £ are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the franslation reserve except
to the extent of share of non-cantrolling Interests in such differences. Accumulated transiation differences are recycled to
profit or loss on de-recognition of foreign operations as part of the gain or loss on stch derecognition. In case of partial
derecagnition, accumulated differences prapartionate ta the stake derecognised are recycled.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(itf) Forelgn operations (continued)

If the settlament of a monatary item receivable from or payable lo a forelgn aparation is heither planned nor likely to occur
In the foresesable future, then foreign currency differences arising from such item farmy part of the net investment in the
foreign operation. Accordingly, such differences are recognised In OCI (other camprehensive income} and accumulated in
the translation reserve.

Forefgn currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financlal liability designated as a hedge of a net Investment in
a foreign operation are recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, to the extent that the
hedge is effective.

{c) Financial instruments

(i) Non-derlvative financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: held to malutity financlal assels, loans and
tecaivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Group determines the classificatlon of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

All non-derivative financis! assels are recognised initially at fair value, plus, any directly attribwlable transaclion costs.

The Group inftially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they originated. All other financial assets
{including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that
the Group becomes a party to the conlractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group’s non-derivative financial assets comprise debt securities held lo malurity, financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss, frade and other receivables, due from related parties and cash and cash equivalents.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of non-derivative financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Held to maturity financial assets

if the Group has a positive Intent and ability to hold deb! securilies to matunty, then these are classified as held-fo-maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognilion, held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any Impalrment losses. Amortised cost is calculated by laking into account any discount or premiurn on acquisition
and fees or cosls that are an integral part of the effective intarest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation Is included In
finance castin the consolidated incoma staternent, Gains and losses are alsa recagnised in the cansalldaled income statement
when these financial assets are de-recognised.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financlal assets with fixed or detemminable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective intarast rate
method, lass any [mpairment losses. Loans and receivables comprise bank balances and cash, due from telaled parties and,
frade and other receivables.

Bank balances and cash

Bank batances and cash In the consolidated statement of financial positian comprise cash [n hand, bank balances and deposits.
For the purpose of consoclidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash as
defined above and cash classified as held for sale, net of bank ovardralts. Bank overdrafts form an integral part of the Group's

cash management and Is included as a companent of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consclidated statement
of cash flows.
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4 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{c) Financlal instruments (continued]
U] Non-derivative financial assets {continued}

Finarniclal assets at falr value through profitand foss

A linancial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it Is classified as held for trading or is designated as such
an initial recognition. These assels are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any interest or dividand income,
are recognised in consolidated Income slatement. Financlal assels a! lair valve through profit and loss comprise invesirment in
an equlty instrument of unlisted entity.

Investment in equity instrument that do nat have a quoled market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
measured reliably are messured af cost.

De-recognition of non-dertvalive financlal assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contraciual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it ransfers
the rights lo receive the conlractual cash fliows on the financial assel in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of aownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any Interest in transferred financial assets that Is created or retained
by the Group is recognised as a separate asset o liability,

(i} Non -derivative financlal lfabilities
Initial recagnition and measurement

The Group's non-derivalive financial liabililes consist of loans ang horrewings, bank overdraits, amounts due to related
pariles, and trade and other payables. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at inltial recognition.
All non-derivalive financial liabllitles are recognised initially at fair value less any directly altributable transaction costs.

The Group inilially recagnises debl securilies Issued and subordinated liabilities on the date they ariginated. Afl other
financial Habllities {including assets designated at fair value through prafit or loss} are recognised inllially on tha trade date,
which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

Fees paid on lhe establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs to the exlent there is evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquldily services
and amertised over the period of the facllity to which it relates.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of non-derivative financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Subsequent fo initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using effeclive interest rate
mathod. Amortised cast is calculated by taking Inle account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
ars an inlegral part of the effective interest rale. The effective interest rale amaortisation Is included In finance cosls in the
consolidatad income statement.

A substantial modification of lhe terms of an exisling financial liability or a part of it shall be accounted for as an
extingulshment of the original financial iability and the recognition of a naw financial lability. Any gain or loss on
extingulshment is recognised in the consolidated Income stalement. If discounted present value of the cash flows (including
any fees paid) under a new term arrangement is at laast 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original liabllity, ths Is accounled for a5 an extinguishment of the old llabllity and the recognilion of a new
fiability, Furhennore, qualitative assessment to assess axtinguishment is also performed. Some of the factors considered
in parforming a qualitalive assessment include change in Interest basis, extenslon of debt tenure, change in coliaterat
arrangements and change in currancy of lending.

De-recagnition of hon-derivative financial Habllities
The Group derecognises 3 financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired.
(/1)) Derivative financial Instruments

The Group holds derivative flinancial Instruments such as forward currency contracls and intarest rate swaps to hedge its
forelgn currency and interest rate risk exposures. On initial designalion of the derivatives as the hedglng instrumant, the Group
formslly documents the relationship between the hedging Instrument and hedged ifem, including the risk managentent
objeclive and strategy in underiaking the hedge transaction and hedgad risk together with the metheds that will be used to
assess the elfecliveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the Incaption of the hedge
relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly effective” In offsetting
the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respeclive hedged items attributable to the hedged risk and whether tha
actual results of each hedge are within the acceptable range.
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4 Stgnificant accounting policles {continued)
{c) Financial instruments {continued)
(1 Derivative financial Instruments ({continued}

Darivatives are recognised initially at fair value ang altributable kransaction cosls are recognised in the consolidated income
statement when incurred. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financlal liabilities
when 1he fair value is negative.

Derivalive instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships are classified as financial
liabllities or agsets at fair value through profit or loss,

Subsequent to initial recognition, darivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described
below:

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative |s deslgnated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the varlability in eash flows attributable to a parlicular
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable farecast ransaction or the forelgn currency risk in an
unrecognised firm commitment that could aftect the consalidated income statement, then such hedges are classified as cash
flow hedges.

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash fllow hedge are recognised directly in
consolidated statement of ofher comprehensive income 1o the extent that the hedge is effective and presented in the hedging
reserve i equity. Any ineffeclive portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement.

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amounl recognised in the cansolidated statement of other comprehensive
income is transferred to the camying amount of the asset when it is recognised. In other cases, the amount recognised in
consolidated statement of other comprehensive Income is transferred to the cansclidated income statement in the same period
thal the hedged ltem affects the consalidated Income statement. If the hedging Instrument no longer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the desighation |s revoked, then hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income remalns there untit the forecast transaction or firm commitment oceurs, If the forecas! transaction or
fim commifment is no longer expected to occur, then the balance In equity is reclassified to Income statement.

{iv} Offsetting of financlal instruments

Financlal assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amaunt presented in the cansolidated statement of financlal
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and inlends either to set off on a net basis,
or lo realise tha assels and settle the liability simultaneously.

(d) Property, plant and equipment,

" Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {refer
to note 4(i)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly aftributable to the acguishtion of the asset. The cost of a self-canslrucled asset
includes the cost of materials and direct iabour, any other costs directly atlributable to bringing the asset to a working
condition for its intended use and tha cost of dismanlling and removing Ihe items and restoring the site on which they are
located.

Purchased software that Is Integral 1o the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
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4 Signlficant accounting policles {continued)
(&) Property, plant and equipment {continued}
()] Racognition and measurement {continued)

When parts of an ilem of properly, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are depreciated as separate ltems
{major componenis) of properly, plant and eguipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by compating the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipmeni and recognlsed within ‘other income’ in the consolldated
incoma staterment,

Capltal work-in-progress

Capital wark-in-progress is measured at cost less impairment losses and not depreciated unfil such time the assels are
ready for intended use and transferred to the respective category under property, plant and equipment.

Dredging

Dredging expenditure is categorised into capltal dredging and major maintenance dredging. Capital dredging is expenditure
which includes crealion of a new harbour, deepening or extension of the channel berlhs or waterways in order (o allow
access lo farger ships which will result in fulure economic benefits for the Group. This expenditure is capitatised and
amoriised over the expacted period of the relevant concession agreement. Major maintenance dredgling Is expenditura
incurred to restore the channal 10 ils previous condilion and depth. Maintenance dredging is regarded as a separate
companent of the asset and is capitalised and amortised evenly over 10 years.

{1 Subsequen! costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of prapesy, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the ftem 1t it
is prabable that the future economic benefits embadied within the part will flow lo the Group and its cost can be measured
reliably.

(i) Depreclation

Land and capital work in progress is not deprecialed. Depreciation on other assets is recognised In the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and eguipment
and is based on cost less residual value.

The estimated useful lives of assels are as follows:

Asseéts Useful {ife (years)
Bulldings 5-50
Plant and equipment 325
Ships 10-30
Dredging (included in land and buildings) 10-93

Dredging costs are depreciated an a straight fine basls based on the lives of various components of dredging.

Leased assels are deprecialed over the shorler of tha lease ferm and their useful lives unless it is reasonably cartsin that
the Group will ohtain ownership by the end of the lease term. No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

Depreciation mathads, useful ives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted prospectively, if
required.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down Immediately to Hs recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amournt is greater
than is estimated recoverable amount (refer ta nole 4 (i} (i}).
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4 Significant accounting policies {continued}
(d) Praperly, plant and equipment {continped)
{iv) Borrowlng cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assats thal
necessarily take a substantial period of time 1o get ready for their iftended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
asgets, until such time as the assels ara substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Borrowing costs may include:

{a) interest expense calculated using 1he effeclive interest method as deseribed in IAS 39;

(b) finance charges in respect of finance leases recognised in accordance with JIAS 17, and

(e) exchange differences arising from foreign currency barrowings lo the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest costs.

{e) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Goodwill represents the excess of the cast
of the acquisilion over the Group’s interest in the nat fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabiiities
of the acquiree. In an acquisition, if the purchase price is fower than the fair value of the assets acquired, the resulting gain
will be recagnised iImmediately In the consalidated income staternent.

Goodwill is measurad at cost less accumulated impairment losses (refer to note 4())). Goodwill is not amortised butit is
tested for Impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes In circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
An Impaimiend foss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of equity-accaunted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

1] Port concession rights

The Group classifies the port concession rights as intangible assets as the Group bears demand risk over the infrastructure
assets. Substantialiy all of the Group's terminal aperalions are conducted pursuant to long-term operating Concassions or
leasas entered into with the owner of a relevant port for tenmms generally between 25 and 50 years (excluding lhe port
concession dghts relating to assoclates and joint ventures). The Group commanly starts negotiations regarding renewal of
concession agreemenis with approximately 5 - 10 years remaining on the term and often obtains renewals of extensions on
the concession agreamants in advance of their expiration in return for a commitment to make cartaln capital expsnditures in
respect of the subject terminal. In addition, such negotiations may result In the re-basing of rental charges to reflect prevalling
market rates. However, based on the Group's experience, Incumbent operators are typically granted renewal often because
it can be costly far a port owner to swilch operators, both administratively and due to interruptions to port operations and
reduced productivity assoclated with such transaclions. Porl concession rights consist of.

(i) Port concesslon rights arising on business comblnations
The cost of port concession rights acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Foliowing inltfal recognition, port concession rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
Impalrment losses (refer to nate 4{i)}. The usefe! lives of port concession rights are assessed to be sither finile or indefinite.

Port concession rights with finite lives are amorllsed on a straight-lina basis over the useful ecancmic life and assessed for
impairment whenaver there Is an indication that the port concesslon rights may be impaired. The amortisation period and
amactisation method far port concession rights with finite useful lives are reviswed al least at each financial year end.
Changes in the expecled useful life or the expected patlem of consumption of future economic benefits embodied In the
assets are accounted for by changing the amoisation periad or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expenses on porl concession rights with finite useful lives are recognised in the
cansofidated statement of profit or loss an a straight-line basis.

Port concession rights with indefinite lives (arising where freehold righls are granted) are not amarlised and are lested for
impalrment al least on an annual basis or when the impairment indicator exists, either individually or at the cash-generating
unit fevel. The ussfui fife of port concession rights with an indefinite fife Is reviewed annually fo determine whather the
indafinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful fife assessment from indefinite to
finite is made on a prospective basis.
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4 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{ii) Port cancession rights arising from Service Concesslon Arrangements (IFRIC 12)

The Group recognises port concession rights arising from a service concession arrengement, in which the grantor
{government of port atthorities) controls or regulates the services provided and the prices charged, and alsa controls any
significant residual interest in the Infrastructure such as properly, plant and equipment, If the infrastruclure Is existing
infrastructure of the grantor or the infrastructure Is construcled or purchased by the Group as part of tha service concession
arrangement.

Port concession rights also include certain properly, plant and equipment which are reclassified as intanglble assets in
accordance with IFRIC 12 'Sarvice Concession Arrangements’. These assets are amortised based on the lower of their
useful lives or concession period.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognitlon of port concession fights are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assat and are recognised in the censolidated Income statement when
the asset is derecognised,

The estimated useful livas for port concesslon rights range within a period of 5 - 50 years (including the concession rights
relating to equity accounted investees).

(9} Inventorles

inventorias mainly consist of spare parls and consumables. tnventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The cost of inventories is based on weighted average method and includes expenditure incurred In acquifing
inventories and bringing them to thelr existing locatian and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

{h} Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substanca of the arrangement at the
inceplion date, The arrangement is assassed for whelher fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific
asset or assets or the amangement conveys a right to use the assel or assets, even If that sight is not explicitly specified tn an
arrangement.

{# Group as a lessee

Assets held by the Group under leases in which a significant portien of the risks and rewards of cwnership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases. Paymenis made under operating leases are recognised In the consolidated
income statement on & straight-line basls aver the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Leases of properly, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance lease,

Contingent paymenls are accounted for by revising the minimum lease paymenls over the remaining term of the lease when
the lease adjustment is confimed.

(i) Group as a lessor

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset ara classified as operating
leases. Inllial direct costs incurred in negotialing an operating lease are added to the carrying amaunt of the leased asget
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental Income. Gonlingent rents are recognised as income Ih the
period in which they are earned.

i Sale and lease back transactions

Sale and lease back transactlons are designed to achieve certain benefits for the third parties i overseas locations in

return for a cash benefit to the Group. Such cash benefit is accounted in the consolidated incame statement based on its
economic substance.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{h) Leases (continued)
(iv} Leases of fand in port concession

Leases of land have not been classified as finance leases as the Group believes that the substantial risks and rewards of
ownership of the land have nat been itransferred. The existence of a significant exposure of the lessar to performance of the
asset lhrough contingent rentals was e basis of concluding that substantially alf the risks and rewards of ownership have not
passed.

(i Impairment
I Financial assets
(a) Loans and receivables and held {o maturity investmenis

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and recelvables and held te maturily investment secutities al bath a
specific asset lave) and colleclive level. All individually significant receivables and held to maturity investment securities are
assessed for specific impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

(ii) Non-financial assefs

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than Inventosies and deferred tax assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. If any such Indication exists then the asset's recoverable amount
Is estimated.

Far impairment testing, the assets are grouped togather into smaffest group of aesets (cash generating unit or "CGU") that
generates cash inflows from conlinuing use that are largely Independent of the cash Inflows of ather assets or CGU's.

Goodwill and port concassian rights with infinite useful lives, as part of their respective cash-generating units, are alsa
reviewed for impainnent at each reporting date or at laast once in a yaar regardless of any indicalors of Impairment. The
recoverable amounl of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in usa and Its fair value less cosls to sell.
In assessing value In use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted {o their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash
generaling unit.

Impalrment losses racognised in respact of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill aflocated to the unils and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets In the unit (group of unitsy on a
pro-rata basis.

In respect of non-financial assets {other than goodwill), impairment losses recagnised in prior perfods are assessed at each
reporling date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impalrment loss is reversed if there
has been a change in the estimales used to delermine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying smount, which would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impaiment loss had been recognised.

[{}] Assets held for sale

Assals (or disposal groups comprising assels and Fabilities) which are expected o be recovered primarily through sale
rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediataly before classification as held for sale, the
assets (or components of a disposal group) are re-measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies.
Thereatter, generally the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less
cosls 10 sell. Any Impairment loss on a dispasal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then fo remalning assets and
liabllities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is aflocated to inventarles, financial assets, defered tax assels and
employee benefit assets which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Impairment
losses on initial classification as held for sals and subsequent gains or iosses on re-measurement are recognised in the
consolidated income slatement. Gains are not recegnised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss,

Port concession rights and property, plant and eqguipment once classified as held for sale or distributien are not amortised
or depreciated. In addition, equity accounting of equity-accounted investees ceasas once classified as held for sale.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies {(continued)
{K) Share capital and premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly atlributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity. Any excess payment received over par value is lreated as share premium.

U] Employee benefits
] Pension and post-employment beneflts
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benafit plan in which the company pays the fixed coniribution to a separate
enlity and will have na legal ar constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contiibutions to defined
contribution pfans are recognised as an expense In the income sfatement during which {he services are rendered by
employees.

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit pian is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan,

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of fulyre benefit that employees have eamed in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That
benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan asset is deducted fo arrive at net
obligation. The calculation Is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method which
atlributes entitlement to benefits to the current period (to determine current service cost) and ta the curvent and priar periods
(to determing the present value of definad benefit abligalion) and is based on actuarial advice.

Re-measurements of the nat defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return an plan assets
{excluding interest) and the effect of the assel celfing (if any, excluding Interest) are recognised directly in the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefil plans is determined
separalely for each plan. Contributions, including lump sum payments, in respect of defined contribution pension schemes
and multi-employer defined benefit schemes where it Is not possible to Idenfify the Group's share of the scheme, are
charged to the consolidaled Income statement as they fall due.,

()] Long-term service benefits

The Graup's net cbligation in respect of long-term servica banefils, other than penslon plans, is the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and priot periads. The obligalion is calculated using
the projected unit credit method and is discounted 1o ifs present value and the fair value of any related assets is deducled.
The discount rate is the yield &l the reporting date on AA credil rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating to the
terms of the Group's abligations.

{#i} Short-term service benefits

Short-term employse benefits are expensed as the relaled service is provided. A liabllity Is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid If the Group has a present legal or consiructive obligalion to pay this amount as a resull of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be eslimated reliably.

{m) Provisions

Provisions for environmenlal restoralion, reslructuring costs and legal cfalms are recognised when: the Group has a present
legatl ar constructive abligation as a result of past avents; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the cbligation; and the amaunt has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties
and employee lermination payments. Provisions are not recognised for fulure operating loss.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expecied to be required 1o setlle the obligation using a

pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the tisks specific to the liability, The
unwinding of the discount is recognised as a financa cost in the consolidated income statement.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
n} Revsnue

Revanue Is recopnised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Graup and the revenue
can be reliably measured, regardiess of whan the payment is being made. Revenue Is measured at the fair value of fhe
conslderation received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or
duty.

Revenue malnly consists of containerized stavedoring, other containerized revenue, non- contalnerized revenue, service
concession revenue and lease rentals. Non-conlainerized revenue mainly includes logistics and handling of break bulk
cargo.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met befare revenue is racognised:
Rendering of services

Revenue from providing confainerized stevedoring, other containetized $ervices and non-containerized sefvices is
recognised on the delivery and completion of those services,

Service concession arrangements (IFRIC 12)

Revenues relating fo construction centracts which are entered inta with govarnment authorities for the construction of the
Infrastructure necessary for the provision of services are measured at tha fair value of the consideration recalved or
receivable. Revenue from service cancesslon arrangements is recognised based on the fair value of construction wark
performed at the reporting date.

(o} Finance income and expense

Filivance income compiises interest fncome on funds Investad and gains on hedging instruments that are recagnised in the
consolidated income statement. Interest Income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs compriges interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, impairment losses
recognieed on financial assets and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in the consolidated income
statement,

Financa Income and expense also include realised and unrealised exchange gains and losses on monelary assets and
liabilities {refer to nota 4(b)(il)).

{p} Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred ltax. Income fax expense is recognised in tha consolidated income
statemant except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised direclly in consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income.

Current tax Is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacled
at the reporting date In the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. It also includes any
adjustment to tax payable In respect of previous years,

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are mat.

Deferred tax Is recognised using the fiahility method, providing far temporary diffarences between the carrylng amounts of
assets and labllities for financlal reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, Deferred tax Is not
recognised for:

. the temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and the initial recognition of assets or
liabitities in a transactlon that is not a business combinalion and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
of loss; and

. the temporary differences relating 1o invesiments In subsidiarfes and Jointly contralled entitias to the extent that

thay probably will not reverse in the foreseeable fulure.

The measurement of deferred tax reflecls the fax consequances that would follow the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporiing period, to recover or seftle the carrying amount of i{s assets and fiabilities.

Deferred tax is measured al the tax rates that are expecled to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacled by the reporling date.

A deferred tax assel [s recognisad for unused tax losses, lax credils and deductible temporary differences, lo the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reparting dale and are teduced to the extent that it Is no fanger probable that the related tax benefit will
be realized.

Peferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if cartain criteria are met,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(a) Separately disclosed items

The Group presents, as separately disclosed ltems an the face of the consolidated income statemaent, those items of incame
and expense which, because of the nature of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow users to
undarstand bettar, the elements of financial parformance in the period, so as to facilitate a comparison with prior periods and
a better assessment of trends in financial performance.

[(3] New standard and Interpretation not yet effective

A number of naw standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not effective for annual pericds beginning 1
January 2017, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may be
relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards eatly.

+ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018}

[FRS 9 sefs oul requirements for recognising, classifying and measuring financial assefs and financial fiabifities and
introduces a new expected credit loss model. The new guidance has also substantially reformed the existing hedge
accourting rules. It provides a more principles-based appreach that aligns hedge accounting closely with risk
management policies. The adoption of IFRS 9 will not affect the classification and measuremeant of the Group's financlal
instruments, and the new standard does not fundamentally change the hedging relationships. Management has
asgsessed thatl the effect of change from the incurred loss maodel to the expected cradit less model is considered
immaterial due to the low credit risk In the Group.

s IFRS 15 Revenue from conlracts with customers {effactive from 1 January 2018)

IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 which covers contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covers construction
contracts. The new standard is based on the principle tha! revenue Is recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer — so tha notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. The standard
provides a single principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers, The Group’s current
practices for recognising revenue hava shewn to comply in all material aspecis with the concepts and principles
encompassed by the naew standard and impacl on the financial slalements is considered immaterial.

* IFRS 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2013)

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases quidance including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Delermining whether an arrangement
contains a laase, SIC-15 Operating lease incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the substance of transaction involving the
legat farm of lease,

The new standard requires the lessea to recognise the operating lease commitment on the balance sheel. The Group,
as a lesses, has subslantial operating leases and commitments as disclosed in note 31. The standard would require
future lease commitmenits to be recognised as 2 liabllity, with a corresponding right of use asset. This will impact the
EBITDA and debt to equity ratios of the Group. In addition, depending on the stage of laase, there would be a different
pattern of expense recognition on leases. Currently, lease expenses ara recognised in cost of sales, however, in fulure
the lease expense would be replaced by an amortisation charge and finance expense.

The Group s in the process af colfating is leases and camputing the impact. The impact of this standard's application

Is expected {0 be significant. The actual impact of applying IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 will, among other factors, depend
on future economic conditions — including the composition of the lease portiolio, incremental borrowing rates, etc.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s} MNew standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group
*  Amendment fo JAS 7, Statement of cash flows (effective from 1 January 2017)
The amendmants require entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes

in liabilities arising from financing aclivities. The adoplion of this standard is not expected lo have any significant impact
on tha Group's financial statements,

«  Amendments fo IAS 12, Income taxes (effective from 1 Januvary 2017)

The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value. The adoption of this standard is not expecled to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
stalements.

5 Determination of fair values
A number of the Group's accoeunting policies and disclosures reguire the determination of fair value, for both financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for meagsurement and/ or disclosure purposes based

on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumplions made in determining fair values is
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or Fabllity.

(/] Propetly, plant and equipment

The fair value of propedy, plant and equipment recognised as & result of a business comblnation is based on markel values.
The market value of praperty is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing saller in an arm's length transaction afler proper marketing wherein the pariies had

each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The market value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and
fitlings Is based on the quoled market prices for similar items.

(th Poit concession rights

Part concession rights acquired in a business combination are accounted at their fair values, The fair value is based on the
discountad cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of the assets.

{ifi) investments in dabt securities

The falr values of equity and debt securities are determined by reference to theit quoted closing bld price at the reporting date.
The fair value of debt securitias held to melurity is delemmined based on the discounted cash flows at a market related discount
rate. The fair value of debi securities held to malurity Is delermined for disclasure purposes only.

(hr) Trade and other raceivables/ payables

The fair value of irade and other receivables and trade and other payablas approximates to the carrying values due to the short
term maturity of these instruments,

v Derivatives

The falr value of foarward exchange contracts and interast rate swaps Is based an the bank quates a1 the reperting dates.
Simitar conlracts are tradad In an aclive market and the quotes reflect the aclual transactions in simiar instruments.

(v Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value for quoted bonds is based an thelr market price {including unpaid interest) as at the reporting date. Other loans
Include term boans and finance leases. These are largely at variable Inlerest rates and therefore, the carrying value nomnally
equates fo the fair value.

The fair value of bank balances and cash and bank overdrafts approximates to the carrying value due o the short term maturity
of these instruments.
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6 Financial risk management
Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

(a) credit risk
(b} liquidity risk
{c} market risk

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objeclives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these cansolidated
financial statements. Also refer to note 29 for further detalls,

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors, in conjunction with the Board of Directors of DP World Limited, have overall rasponsibility for the
establishmen! and oversight of the Group's risk management framework,

The Group’s risk management policies are eslablished to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monltor risks and adherence to limits. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to davelop a disclplined and ¢onstructive control environment in which all
employeas understand their roles and obligations.

{a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group If a customer fails la mest its contractual obligations, and arises principally
from the Group’s recelvables from customers, amounts dus from related parties and investment securities.

Trade and other recefvables

The Group trades mainly with recognised and ereditworthy third partles, It is the Group's policy that all custemers who wish
to trade oncredit terms are subject 1o credit verification procedures and are required to submit financial guarantees based
an thelr creditworthiness. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Group's exposure to bad debis is not significant,

The Group establishes an allowanca for impairment that represents ils estimate of inctrred losses in respect of trade and
other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually
significant exposures, and a colleclive loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that
have been Incurred but not yet identified, The coliective loss allowance is datermined based on historical data of payment
statistics for similar financial assels.

Other financial assels

Credil risk arising from other flnancial assels of the Group comprises cask and cash equivalents and certzin derivative
instruments. Tha Group's exposure to credit risk arlses from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the camrying amount of these instruments.

The Grotp managas lts credit risks with regard to bank depasils, throughout the Group, through 2 number of cantro!s, which
include assessing the credit rating of the bank either from public credit ratings, or internal analysis where public data is not
available and conslderation of the support for financlal institutions from their central banks or other regulatory authoritles.

Financialf guarantees

The Group's policy |s ta consider the provision of a financial guarantes lo wholly-owned subsidiaries, where there is a
commercial rationale to do so. Guarantees may also be provided to equily accounted investees In very limited
circumstances and always only for the Group's share of the abligation. The provision of guarantees afways requires the
approval of genior management,
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6 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
(b) Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the tisk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s appraach
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient cash to meet its liabilities when due,
under both hormal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's
reputation.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flaxibllity thraugh the use of bank facllifies
and by ensuring adequate internally genarated lunds, The Group’s lerms of business require amounts to be paid within 60
days of the date of provision of the service. Trade payables are nomally settled within 45 days of the date of purchase.

(e} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in matket prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Graup’s
Income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of markel risk managemant is to manage and
control market sisk exposures within acceptable parameters, while oplimising the refurn,

The Group enters into derivative contracts In order to manage market risks. All such transaclions ara carried out within the
guidelines sel by the Board of Directors in the Group Treasury policy. Generslly, the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting
in arder o manage the volatility In the consolidated income statement.

[ Currency risk

The propoiion of tha Graup’s net operating assets denominated in foreign cursencias is approximately 71.6% (2016: 80.5%)
with the result that the Group's consolidated statement of financial position, and in parlicular owner’s equity, can be affected
by curcency movements when it is retranstated at each year end rate. The Graup partially miligates the effect of such
movements by borrowing in the same currencles as those In which fhe assets are denominaled and using cross currency
swaps. The impact of currenty movements on operating profit is partially mitigated by interest costs belng incurred in foreign
currencles.

Interest on borowings is denaminaled in tha currency of the borrowings. Generally, borrowings are denominated in
currencles thal match the cash flows generated by the underlying foreign operations of the Group, This provides an
economic hedge without derivatives being entered into and therefore hedge accounting ks not applied in these
circumstances.

A portion of the Graup's activilies generate part of their revenue and incur some cosls outside their main functional currency,
Due to the diverse number of locations In which the Group operates thare is some natural hedging that ocsurs within the
Group, When It Is considered that currency volalility could have a material impact an the results of an operation, hadging
using forward foreign currency contracts is undertaken te reduce the shorl-term effect of currency movements.

When the Group's businesses enter info capilal expsndilura or lease commitments in currencles other than their main
functional currency, these commitments are hedged In most instances using forward contracts and currency swaps in order
to fix the cost when converted to the functional currency. The Group classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging
forecast transactions as cash flow hedges and states them at fair value.

{1 Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates refates primarily to the Group’s long-term deit
obligations with a fixed/floating interest rate and bank deposits.
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6 Financiai risk management (continued)

fc) Market risk fcontinued)
an Interest rate risk (confinued)

The Group's polley Is to manage its interest cost by entering Into inlerest rate swap agreements, in which the Group agrees
to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate inlerest amounts cafeulated by reference
ta an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlylng debt cbligations.

At 31 Dacember 2017, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximalely 79.3% (2018: 79.4%) of the
Group's borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest,

Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capltal base so as to malntain investor, credilor and market confidence and to
suslain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, share premium, retained earnings, hedging
and other reserves, actuarial reserve and translation reserve. The primary objective of the Group's capltal management s
to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and heaithy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholder valua. The Board sesks fo maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be passibla with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and securily afforded by a sound capital position.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
The key performanca ratios as at 31 December are as follows:

£ million

'Tot'al inlerest-s-earing loans and borrawings , 1 9- ) 1' .255;2 1.579.7
Less: cash and cash equivalenis 18 (279.7) (342.0)

Total nat debt 875.5 1,237.7

Total equity 3,208.5 2,750.2

Adjusted EBITDA 465.0 460.2

Net finance cosls before separately discfosed items 70.9 51.5

Net debt / totat equlty 0.30 0.45

Net debt / adjusted EBITDA 21 2.7

Interest cover before separalely disclosed items 6.6 8.9
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7. Operating segments

The Iinternal management reports which are prepared under EU-IFRS are reviewed by the Board of Directors {Chlef
Operating Decislon Maker') based on the location of the Group's assels and liabilittes. The Group has identified the following
geographic areas as its basls of segmentation. The Group measures segment performance based on the eatnings before
separately disclosed items, Interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ("Adjusted EBITDA™).

s  Asla Paclfic and indian subcontinent
«  Australia and Americas
«  Europe and Africa

Each of thase operaling segments have an Individual appointed as Segment Director responsible for these segments, who
in turn reporis to the Chief Operating Deacisfon Maker.

In addition to the above reporiable segments, the Group alsc reporis unallocated head office costs, finance costs, finance
income and tax expense under the head offica sagment.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included helow,

£ milian
L L 5 pour
© .. AstaPacific A R

Byraglon - ="- ~'- . -0.C o < aubednilnent ay
Revenue 352.5 329,56 307.5 B 4989.5
Segment results from operations 208.6 246.3 9.8 8.6 504.2
Finance income 10 - - - M2 3.2
Finance expenses 10 - - - {olny (oL
Profiti{toss} fortheyear - - -~ T oo U Lo L 2086 0. MM6.3. - 39.87 (64.07 . 430.7
Depreclatton and amortisation 41.9 9.4 48.2 04 120.9
Impalrment losses - - (0.4} - 0.4}
Share of profit of equity accounted investees hefora separataly 102.%
disclosad ltems 14 98.4 0.9 2.6 -

Tax expenses 1 - - - (8.1) (8.1)
Caplial expenditure 47.0 39.8 65.8 - 152.8
Segment assets

Current and non-current assets 628.4 6524 14549 1,908.0 4,640.7
Equity-accounted investments 14 384.7 63 1554 (4.2) 5422
Taxation assets . - - 23,6 23.6
Cash 18 - - - 279.7 279.7
Yofalassets ™ - - - .. . e e 440134 (6687 1,607.3 .2,207.1 . 5,486.2
Segment jiabllitles

Current and non-current liabllities 2690 50.3 179.0 132.0 660.3
Taxation Habilities - - - 298.2 298.2
Firancial instruments 20 - - - 66.0 66.0
Loans and horrowings 19 - - - 1,282 1,265.2

- Total Nlabilitles -~ T oo oo T s 2990 s 503t o790 14,7814 2,278.7 -

'Earning before separately disclosed itams, intarest, tax, depraciation and amortisatian - - -
_CAdUSted EBITDA™) -0 oot o m T T e e

Revenue befora separately disclosed Items 341.6 328.5 anz.5 - 978.8
EBITDA (Adjusted) 250.5 144.0 7.7 {1.2) 465.0
Finance income 1o - . - 0.8 30.8
Finance costs 10 - - - (ol (1017}
Tax expense 11 - - - (70.4) {70.4)
Depreciation and amortisation (41.9) {39.4) {48.2) (0.4) (129.9)
Adjusted net profit 208.6 104.6 238 (142.9) 193.8
AdJusted for separately disclosed items ] 1417 16.3 78.8 236.9

Profit from continuing operations ' - . 20846 - 2483 . 398 (64.0) ‘430.7
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7. Operating segments {continued)
£ milijon
: . -AslaPacific  Austrella . Eeropa - o -
A R | Wets - nandtndlan T Cand: © dnd’ D Mesd - Youh
‘Byreglon ™ - - - aubcontinent  Amedesy - Afdca-  Office. - -“groun
Revenue 324.8 472.5 2823 - 10796
Segmen! results from operations 1588.3 154.5 332 (76.5) 2635
Finance Income 10 - - - 47.8 47.8
Finance expenses 10 - - - (142.0) (142.0%
.Prafitiioss) for the year e T - 1583 - - 184.5 332 (170.7) - 1753
Depreciation and amertisation 33.9 51.4 38.1 0.4 124.8
lmpairmeant josses - - - - -
Shara of profit of equily accounted investess before separately
disclosed items 14 86.6 0.7 128 - 100.1
Tax expenses 11 - - - 63.7 63.7
Capital expenditure §0.3 108.5 113.7 - 280.5
Segment assets
Current and non-current assets 669.8 1,3730 14437 16242 511048
Equity-accounted investments 14 3328 7.7 101.1 (2.9) 438.7
Taxalion assets - - - 25.9 25.9
Cash 18 - - - 3420 3420
Totdtagsets .~ -~ - - T - L e LSl - 40027 41,3807 1,544.8 -1,989.2° “6,917.4
_Segment fiabilities
Current and non-current liabilities 284.4 2568 183.9 243.7 g968.8
Taxalion liabilities - - - 528.6 5206
financial inslruments 20 - - - 89.1 89.1
Loans and borrowings 18 - - - 15678.7 1579.7
“Totalligbllitteg .\ & o e o nT T e . 284.4° 2568  -183.9 T24421 - 31672

: Eaming before separately disclosed items, inlerest tax, depreclation and Amoitisation {*Adjusted EBITDA")

Revenue before separately disclosed Hems 274.3 472.5 282.3 - 10281
EBITDA (Adjusted) 1922 2046 762  (i2.8) 4602
Finance income 10 - . - 47.8 47.8
Financa costs 10 - - - {99.3} (89.3)
Tax axpensa 11 . - - (63.7) (63.7)
Depreclatlan and amartisation {33.9) (51.4) {39.1} (0.4} (124.8)
Adjusted nat profit 158.3 163.2 374 (128.4) 220.2
Adjusted for separately disclosed items 9 1.2 (3.8) (42.4) (450)

‘Profit frah bontinuing operations Crmato e e g - 1544 - 33.3..(170.8) - 4752
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8. Net operating costs
£ million
“included within Group operating profit are the’ foltowing ltems: . : s 017 L 08,
Depreciation and amortisation of prepaid feases, infangible assefs and property plant and equspment 129.9 124.8
Audit fees 0.9 1.0
Operating lease rental 135.0 127.8
Hire of plant, machinery and ships 38.7 30.3
£ milkon
" Fees paid to the company's princlpal suditor ~ KPMG . . W7 2088,
Fees pald to the company’s auditor for the audit of the company’s accounts 0.1 0.2
Fees paid to the company's awditor and its associates for services pursuant to legislation
Audit of the company's subsidiaries 0.8 0.8
Qther Services . )
Pension Scheme . -
0.8 1.0
Non-audit and other assurance services:
TaY services - -
All other services 0.1 0.2
0.1 0.2
" Total of atidii and Aon-atidit Services = .- A L 42

Fees of £36,000 (2016: £38,000), in respect of the audit, and Nil {2016: Nil), in respect of tax services, were paid to KPMG
LEP by the P&O pension scheme.

9.

Separately disclosed items
I
- mifllon
N . AT -
Genara]
Otner Net
Cost of and Equily Sale of Incoma
Revenue operating = financing Total
saled ao0min eome eamings EBusineas cost fax

Constructien eontrect revenue refating to satvice 108 . - -
concesslens - - - 10.9

Construction eantract costs refating (o setvica . .
concessions - {10.5) * - - {10.9)
Reversal of rastructuring provisions . - a5 . - . - - a5
OtherIncoma - . - 04 - 0d
Share of profit of equity-accounted investeas - - - - 124 b - 12.4
Sale of businass - . . 1417 - - 141.7
Hadge coasts - - . - B 0.4 04
fncome tax - - - N - " 7B.S 78.5
s poe 3 Y 124 117 04 __ 785 3368
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9. Separately disclosed items (continued)

£ milion

Lo . 2016

General
Cost Other . Nal
ad " Equity Sateof 5 incoma

Revenve e :: admin “"‘;;’;"m’g eamings  business ﬁ"""::g tax Tout

Conslruchion conract revenus relating o servica concessions 50.5 . - - : - - i 0.8
Construction contract cosls relatng to senéce concassiens - {50.5) . - . - . - (50.5
Gain on sale of other nvesiments - R - 1.6 - - - . 15
Share of [oss of aauty-accointed vvesteas - . - . @2 . - . @2
Sals of business - . - " * 1.8 - - 11.6)
Transackon costs - R - - - - (40.2} - 0.2)
Hedge costs. . R - - - - 2.5 . (25
L ' . S5 usbm 15 ppm) - oyl geed - - (gD

Conslruction contract revenue and costs: In accordance with IFRIC 42 'Service Concession Arrangements’, the Group has
recorded revenue on the construction of a port in the "Asia Pacific and Indian subcontinent' regicn. The constructian revehue
represents the fair value of the construction services provided in develaping the port. No margin has been recagnised, as
in management's opinion the fair value of the conslriction services provided approximates the canstruction cost.

General and administration expenses relates to the reversal of excess rastructuring provision in a subsidiary in the 'Europe
and Africa’ region.

Other Income represants non-recurring income in a subsidiary in the ‘Europe and Afiica’ region. (2016 represents the gain
on sale of other investments in subsidiaries in the ‘Europe and Africa’ region).

Share of profit from equily-accounted investees relates to release of deferred tax liability due to tax rate change in an equity-
accounted invesiee in the 'Europe and Africa’ region offsel by impaimment of goadwill of in an equity-accounted investes in
the ‘Asia Pacific and Indian subcontinent’ reglon. (2016 represents the non-recuiring expenses in equity-accounted
investees in the 'Europe and Africa’ region).

Profit on sale of business relates 1o sale of subsidiaries In the *Australia and Amerlcas’ region. (2016 relates to the sale of
a subsidiary In the ‘Europe and Africa’ region.).

Hedge costs relates to an inaffectiva element of cash flow hedge In a subsidiary in the 'Europa and Africa’ region.(2016
relates to the loss on terminalion of interest rate swap in a subsidiary In the 'Australia and Americas' region and an ineffective
elemant of a cash flow hedge in a subsidiary in the ‘Europe and Africa’ region).

Transaction costs in 2016 related to costs on restructuring and termination of loans in a subsidiary in the ‘Europe and Africa’
region.

Income fax credit refates fo the release of deferred tax liability on account of a tax rate change.
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10. Net financing expenses

£ mikon
L 2017 0 - 2018
Finance Income
Interest Incoma 24.8 28.0
Exchange gains 61 18.5
Fair value gain 0.3 0.3
3.2 47.8
Finance expenses
Inferest expense (80.3) (119.2
Exchange losses (16.9) (16.1)
Fair value loss " (2.5)
Net interest costs in respect of pension plans (4.5 (4.2)
(1017 {142.0)
‘Netfinancing expense .. /.- - . .t 0o o T (T08) T (94
11.  Taxation
£ million
2047 2018
UK corparation tax
Current tax charge for the year (7.1 67
Adjustment in respect of prior years, 0.2 70
{6.9) 03
COverseas tax
Current tax charge for the year {81.6) (34.7)
Adjustment in respect of prior ysars 19.9 218
{61.7) (62.9)
Tolal current tax (68.6) (62.6)
Deferred tax
- . 77.9 (0.4)
Originalion and reversal of temparasy differences in the current year
Adjustment In respect of prior years (1.2) (0.7)
“Tax op profit for the'ygar == = or Ll Tl e e T T L R T (8T,

The adjustments in respect of prior periods of £18.9 million (2016: £28.% million) arises from the finalisation and agreement
of prior year tax compulations for companies in the UK and oversaas.

As of the last balance sheet date, the rate of UK corporation tax was enacted to reduce over tima 1o a final rate of 17% from
1 April 2020. The group remeasured its UK deferred tax assels and liabilities at the end of the reporting perod in 2018
accardingly to the rate of 17%. The remeasurement did not have a material effect on the 2017 results. During 2017, non-
UK tax rate changes resulted in the partial refease of a deferred tax liabitily which had a material effect on the 2017 resulls.
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11.  Taxation (confinued)
Factors affecting the taxation charge for the current year

The total laxation charge is lower (2016: higher} than lhe profit on ordinary activitles mulfiplied by the slandard rate of
corparafion tax in the UK of 19.25% (2016: 20.00%). The differences are explained as follows:

Reconcilialion of the effective 1ax rale % £ miflion % £ million
D amy U age

Profit bafors taxation 422.6 238.0

Profit before taxation multipfed by the standard rate of corporation 19.25% B3 20.00% 47.8

tax in the UK of:

Effects of:

Nan-faxabla income Jess expenses not deductible for tax

purpases {(10.1%) (42.7) (4.19%) 9.7)
Tax deduction in respect of pension schemes {0.5%) {2.1) (1.0%) {2.3)
Net of (unrelieved tax losses carried farward) ulllization of tax

losses 1.4% 4.8 5.0% 14.3
Changes in the overseas lax rates (18.0%) (76.2) {0.2%) (0.4)
Higher rale taxes on overseas eamings 13.6% 57.4 22.6% 539
Withholding and other taxas sutfered oversees B.6% 35.9 12.2% 28.1
Tax on earnings from equity accounted Investess (11.3%) (47.8) {17.1%) (40.9)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior perods (11.8%}

‘Effective taxrate "7 T a0

The profit before taxation of £422.6 milllon (2018 £239.0 milllon) includes the Group's share of profits of joint ventures and
associates within continuing operations of £115.3 million (2018: £ 97.9 million) which is net of a tax charge of £47.6 infilion
(2016: £40.9 million).

The Group's overseas {ax rates are typleally a mixture of rales higher and lower than 19.25 percant. They include the effect
of overseas tax benefits avallzble to infrastruclure projects.

44




P&O Annual Report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

12,  Intangible assets

£ mFon
" Portconcassion ) .
S L dghls 7 Goodall “ Tolat
Cost
At 1 January 2017 1,085.6 133.8 1,219.3
Disposals {2.4) - {2.1)
Addltions 124 . 1214
Disposal of subsidiaries (356.6) {69.8) {448.4)
Exchange adjustments (31.0) (1.5) {32.5)
At 31 December 2017 T05.9 42.5 74B.4
Accumulated amortization
At 1 .Janvary 2017 {332.4} - {337.4)
Disposals 25 - 25
Charge for the year (31.4) . (31.1)
Disposal of subsidiaries 21.8 - 218
Exchange adjustmants 13.5 - 3.5
AL 31 Dacember 2017 (330.7) . (330,7}
“Netbook amount al 31 December 2017 - .~ ... oo-cc L 39820 426 . MIT
Cast
At 1 January 2016 747.0 109.9 856.9
Disposals 0.2) 0.5 (0.3)
Additions 5.4 - 51.4
Acquired through businass combinations 136.3 - 136.3
Exchange adjustments 151.0 24.0 175.0
Al 31 December 2016 1,085.5 133.8 11,2193
Accumulated amortization
At 1 January 2016 {215.1) - (215.1)
Disposals .2 - 0.2
Charge for the year (30.9) - {30.9)
Acquired through business combinations (52.1) - {52.1)
Exchange adjusiments (39.5) - (39.5)
At 31 December 2016 (337.4) - (337.4)
.Netbook amountal 31 Decembar 2016 - . .- . 748.1 LA . 8819

Al 31 December 2017, port concession righls with a carrying amount of Nil {2016: Nil) are pledged to secure bank loans
{refer to note 19).
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12.  Intangible assets (continued)

Impalrment testing of goodwil

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and port concession rights with indefinite useful lives have been
allocated o various cash-generating units ("CGU™), which are reportable business units, for the purposes of impairment
testing.

Impaiment testing Is done at operating port (or group of poris) leve! that represents an individual CGY. Details of the
CGUs by operating segment are shown bslow:

. A . Dischinlmale | Pamétdty olonth iats

2017

Europe and Africa 15.0 6.0-7.5 2.5
Australia and Americas 5.3 7075 2.5
Asla Pacific and Indian subcontinent 12,2 8.0-11.5 25
Total 42.5

2018

Eurepe and Africa 14.5 6.0-8.0 25
Australia and Americas 106.6 65-7.5 2.5
Asfa Pacific and Intian subcontinent 127 9.0-13.0 2.5
Total 133.8

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been delermined based on their value in use calculated using cash flow
projections based on the financial budgels approved by the Board covering a three year period and a further outfock for
fiva years, which is considered appropriale in view of the outlook for the industry and the long-term nature of the
concesslon agreements held L.e. generally far a period of 25-50 years, .

In the view of the Board, the perpetual growth rate is the minimum growth rale expected to ba achieved beyond the eight
year period.

Key assumptions used in the value In use calculations

The following describes each key assumption on which the Beard has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment tesling of goodwill and port concession rights with indafinite useful lives.

Budgeted margins - The basis used to detemine the value assigned to the budgeted margin is the average gross margin
achieved in the year Immediately before the budgeted year, adjusted for expected efficlency improvements, price
fluctuations and manpower costs.

Discount rales — Thase represent the cosl of capital adjusted for the respactive localion risk faclors, The Group uses the
post-tax industry average Waighted Average Cost of Capital which reflects the country specific risk adjusted discount
rate.

Cost inflalion ~ The forecast general price index Is used to delermine the cost inflation during the budget year for the
ralavant cauntries whare the Group Is operating.

Parpoluity growth rate — In the Board's view, the perpeluity growth rate is the mihimum growlh rate expected to be
achieved beyond the eight year period. This is based on the overall regional economic growth forecasted and the Group's
existing internat capacity changes for a given reglon. The Group afso takes into account competition and regional capacﬂy
growth to provide a comprehensive growth assumption for the entire portfolio,

The values assigned to key assumptions are conslsient with the past exparience of the Board.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The calculation of value in use for the CGU is sensitive lo future eamings and therefore a sensitivity analysis was
performed. The analysis demonsirated that & 10% decrease in earnings for a {ulure pericd of three years from the

reporting date would not result in significant impairment, SimHarly, an increase of 0.25% in discount rate and decrease of
0.25% in perpetuity growth rate would not result in impaiment.
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13.  Property Plant and Equipment

E mikon
Pupsy - Segs o Flniad T Coplwedde gy
Cost
At 1 January 2017 806.3 184.3 1,365.7 297.4 2,743.4
Additions 10.6 145 20.0 85.5 140.6
Disposal of subsidiaries (80.0) - {98.5) {117.7) (286.3)
Transfere from capital work-in-progress 24,8 - 189.8 {(214.7) -
Disposals - {5.8} (22.4) - {29.2)
Exchangg adjustments (40.5) {5.2) (25.7) (1.0) (72.4)
At 31 December 2017 8213 1878 1,417.8 5§9.2 2,486.%
Accumulated depreciation
At1 January 2017 (224.4) (62.3) {368.2) - {664.9)
Charge for the year (27.7) (16.3) (6G.8) - (96.8}
Disposal of subsidiaries 238 - 524 . 76.2
Disposeals - 5.8 16.1 . 21.9
Exchange adjustments 8.4 0.3 2.0 - 20.7
At 31 December 2017 {219.9} (66.5) (348.5) - {634.8)
_ Netbook amountat 31 December 2017..~ . - © - - 6014 . - 1213 ° - 4,0893:.- -  -.“58.2 . - 4,851.2
Cost
At 4 January 2016 798.6 155.,6 1,248.5 188,49 2,361.7
Additions - 1.5 14.0 2137 220.2
Dispesal of subsidiaries {14.5) - (8.8) - {23.3)
Transfers from capital work-In-progress 9.3 - 79.8 {89.1) -
Disposala {0.8) {0.9) (3.5} - (5.2)
Exchange adjusiments 143.7 28.2 26.7 i34 181.0
At 31 December 2016 906.3 184.3 1.355.7 29741 27434
Accumulated depreclation
At 1 January 2016 {181.6) (44.7) {320.5) - (546.8)
Chargs for the year (27.4) (10.4) {56.3) - [93.8)
Disposal of subsidianes 4.5 - 8.1 - 228
Disposals 0.4 0.9 341 - 4.4
Exchange adjustments (30.3) {8.4) {2.6) - (41.3)
At 31 December 2016 (224.4) {62.3} {368.2) - (654.9)
iNetbook amount at 31 December 2016~~~ . = 681.9 . 4220 . 98TE- T 2974 < . (20885

At 31 December 2017, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of £1,332.8 million (2016: £1,498.8 million)
are pledged to secura bank loans (refer to note 19). At 31 December 2017, the nel carrying value of the leased plant and
equipment and other assets was £164.1 miliion (2016: £226.0 million).

Barrowing costs capitalised lo properly, pfant and equipment amounted to £3.4 millian (2016: £13.5 millian} with a
capitalisation rate in the range of 0.16% to 0.53% per annum (2016: 2.27% to 3.84% per annum).
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14.  Investments In equity accounted investees

The following table summarises the financial information for equity-accounted investees, adjusted for fair value
adjusiments at acquisition and reconclled to the carrying amount of Group's interest in equity-accounled investess as

included in consolidated statement of financial position:

T w- £ millon
Cost at 1 January 2017 438.7
Reclassed to Loans and Recelvables -
Additions 46.4
Share of profits for the year 1153
Share of actuarial lossas, net of lax 0.3
Share of movement In effective portlon of cash-llow hetdges, net of tax X0
Share of movement in other reserves -
Dividend= {37.0)
Exchange adjustments {23.5)

Cost at 34 December 2017 - . 542.2
GCost at 1 January 2016 445.5
Reclassed to Loans and Receivables {64.3)
Additiohs 26
Share of profils for the year 97.8

Share of actugrial losses, net of tax 1.0
Share of movement in effective potion of cash-fiow hedges, nat of tax (1.0)
Share of movement in other reserves 6.2
Dividends (109.7)
Exchange adjustmenis 60.5

.Cost al 31 Decémber 2016 = .. -... 0 4387 .
Summarised financlal information for equily accounted investees:
£ mBion
I S e, S 2016

Sales and other operating revenues 501.0 427.0

Froft before interest and taxation T 4795 154.0

Net Finance costs (16.6) (14.4)

Profit before taxation 162.9 1349.6

Taxalion {4AT.6) {40.9)

CProflfortheyear. . o G o - AI63 - 887

Non-current assets . 766.1 7193

Current assets 321.5 254.5

Tolal assets 1,085.6 983.8

Current liabllities (169.7) {(121.7)

Nan-curren! liabilities {383.7) {423.4)

Total liabilities (553.4) {545.1)

Net assets : - 542,2 438.7

48




P&O Annual Report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

£ millicn

R R : : © 'Assats | Ulsbilitles - Nal2047
Froperty, plant and equipment {1.8) 56.4 54.5

Intenglble assets {0.6) 3.5 29
Investment in equity accounted investees - 16.5 16.5
Employes henefits (8.2) 0.0 {8.2)
Provisions (1.0) 0.1 10.9)
Tax valug of loss carried forward recognised {23.7} 7.0 {16.7}
Financial Instruments {12.9) 4.0 (8.8)
Capital gain - 216.8 216.8
Other (10.8) 23.4 12.6
Total tax (assets)fliabilities {58.8) 327.4 268.6
Tax offset 58.8 {68.8) 0.0
Total tax lisbilitles after cifset - 268.6 268.6

R A DT . Assets . 'Liabiiies” " Net20i8.
Property, plant and equipment (1.8) 66.9 65.4
Intangible assets {0.7) 78.7 78.0
Invesiment in equity accounted investees - 15.9 15.9
Employee benefits (9.6} - (8.6)
Provisions (1.3) - (1.3)
Tax vatue of loss carried forward recognised (17.4) - (17.4)
Financlal instruments (18.6y 10.1 (9.8)
Capital gain - 3194 319.4
Other (13.0) 311 18.1
Tatal tax (assets)lisbilities (63.4) 5221 458.7
Tax offsel 63.4 63.4) -
Total tax {assats)liabilities after offset - 458.7 458.7

Deferred lax is not recognised on losses of £394.4 million (2046: £ 422.0 million) where utilisation is uncartain, either
because they have not been agreed with tax authorities, or because the likelihood of future taxable profits is not sufficlently
certain, or because of the iImpact of tax holidays.

Under current legisiation, £311.0 million (2016: £ 271.0 million) of the tax losses shown above can bs carried forward
indefinitely.

49




P&O Annual Report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinueq)

15. Deferred tax assets and liabllities (continued)

Movement in deferred tax during the year

January *-Exchangs ' -Recogr
" 2017 movemants - - i

Property, plant and equipment 65.4 1.2 06~ (103} - - . - ... 545
Intangible assels 78.0 0.1 - {75.2) - 29
Invastment in equity accounted investees 15.9 - 0.6 - - 16.5
Employee benefits (9.6} - 0.5 0.6 0.3 8.2)
Provisions 1.3} 0.1 0.2 9.1 - {0.9)
Tax value of loss carried forward

recognised (17.4) 0.5 0.2 - - {16.7)
Financial Instruments (o.8) {1.58) (e.9) (0.3) 2.8 {8.9)
Capital gain 319.4 {27.8) {74.7) - - 216.8
Other 181 {2.6) 4.1} 1.4 {0.2) 12.6
Tolal tax Habiliies/{assets} 458.7 (32.5) (76.8) 83.7) 2.9 288.6

- Acguired’ . Recognised -

" Balanéa at

-, balances. . <. Inother’
©. - and  compréhen: - 3% Decamber
AR Do - 2016 “movements - - InIncome : disposals -. sive ncome ¢ - . . "t 2046
Property, plant and equipment 53.1 6.4 (0.2) 6.1 - B5.4
Intangible assets 64.5 15.4 (1.9 - - 78.0
Investment In equity accounted inveslzes 12.9 3.0 - - - 16.9
Employee benefits (4.8) (0.3) 0.1 - (4.8) (9.6}
Provisions 1.0) (0.1} 0.2) - - {1.3)
Tax value of loss carried forward
recognised (16.2) 2.7 2.2 (6.1) - (17.4)
Financial instruments (9.6) - 1.7 - 1.9 {a.8)
Capitat gain 266.0 53.4 - . - 319.4
Cther 257 2.3) {0.6) - (0.7) 18.1
Tolal tax liatilitesi{assets) 386.6 78.2 1.1 0.0 (7.2) 458.7

50




P& O Annual Report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

16. Yrade and other receivables

£ milEon
L EONT e e B T
T e it D caiment, " “Nemcwmest: - 7. Cament” - Nemcimient
Trade receivables 85.5 - 112.9 -
Other receivables 79.9 73.7 76.8 96.3
Prapayments and accrued Income 225 a8 23.0 0.8
Employee benefit assets - - - R
Trealienealanst v 0 CoAss - ME . o227 - 97
Loans ta Parent Group undertakings:
L.0ans to the intermediate parent company 1,891.5 - 1,618.3 -
Laans to fellow subsldiaries of the Group's Ullimate
controlling entity 158.4 5.5 165.3 1.4
R T T X 7 X e ¥ R X NN X

Trade receivables are raported net of a provision of £1.0 milfion {(2016: £3.4 million).

The Group's exposure fo credit and currency risks and impairment losses related fo trade and other recelvables are
disclosed ir note 29.

Amounts owed by Group undertakings bear Interest in reference to LIBOR and are repayable on demand by the relevant

parties. The directors believe that these loans are recoverable which Is supported by cash repayments of £126.7 million
received in 2017 (2016: £1,140.5 milion).

17. Other investments

£ millen
R S e U S g - e 2098
Financial assets at falr value through profit and loss 359 24.3
AP R B S 358 . -24.3.

(a) The movement schedule for financial assets al fair value through profit and loss s as given below:

£ milion
LTI T T v I Lo 2017 ... 2016
Balance as of 1*! January 243 24.2
Additions during the year 1.6 -
Exchange adjustmenis - a.1
-Balance as of 31 Pecembar ~ - T  onoo o LT T 0 3B 00 343

Tha Group's exposure ta credit, currency and interest rate risks related to othar invesiments is disclosaed in note 29,
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18. Cash and cash equivalents

£ mifon
N S TR e E ol i JUT2097 L L2018
Bank balances 144,68 217.7
Call deposits 131.8 108.3
Deposits under lien 33 16.0
Cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of financial position 279.7 342.0
Bank averdrafls - -
‘Cash and cash equivalents as per fha consolidated statementof cash figws - .0 7 . 7 5 2797 o 342.0

The Group's exposure to interesl rate tisk and a sansitivity analysis for financial assats and lfabilities are disclosed in nate
20.

The deposils under lien are placed to collateralise some of the borrowings of the Group (refer to note 18).
19. Interest bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group interest bearing loans and borrowings, which are

measured at amortised costs. For information aboui the Group's exposure to Interest rate and foreign currency risk, see
note 29,

£ million
L ey o 20is
Non-current
Secured bank loans T705.6 1,072.2
Mortgage debenture stock 1.4 1.4
Unsecured loan 138 9.1
Unsecured bank loans 2354 439.8
Unsecured bond [ssues 5.9 6.4
Finance lease fiabilities 2.9 10.6
Tolat non-current 1,045.0 1,539.5
Current
Secured bank foans 1.3 218
Unsecured bank leans 104.9 1289
Finance lease lishilities 4.0 5.5
Totat current 210.2 40.2
_Tétal currenl and non-current ® . o ST L e L R T4,25682 0 1,679.7
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18. Interest bearing leans and borrowings (continued)

The Group classifies carlain properly, plant and equipment as finance leases where it refains all risks and rewards
Incidental to the ownership. The net carrying values of these assets are disclosed in nole 13.

Fulure minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments
are as follows:

Less than one year 41 (0.1} 4.0
Between one and five years 3.0 ()] 2.9
More than five years - - -
Total 7.1 {0.2) 6.9
Less than one year 6.2 {0.7) 5.5
Retween one and five years 1.9 {1.3) 6.6
Mare than five years 78 (3.6} 4.0
Total 21.7 (5.6} 16.1

Certain property, plant and equipment and port concession rights are pledged against the facilities obtained from the
banks (refer to hate 12 and note 13). The deposits under lien amounting to £ 3.3 millian (2016: £ 16.0 million) are placed
to collateralise some of the borrowings of the Group (refer to note 18).

There has been no issuance of repayment of debt securitias in the current year (2016: Nif). At 31 Dacember 2017, the

undrawn cammitted borrowing facilities of £ 15.4 million (2016: £ 82.6 miflion) were available 1o the Group, In respect of
which all conditions precedent had been met.

Movament of Interest bearing loans & horrowings

£mition
R R e T o P PR 1 T AR 1
Balance as at 1 January 1,579.7 1,107.3
Cash flow llems
Additional berrowings during the year 64.9 924.3
Repayment of borrowings during the year (66.7) (655.0)
Other non-cash items
Transaclion cost amortised during the year {2.8) (4.6)
Derecognised on sale of subsidiarias {276.3) -
Translation adjustments (53.8) 207.7
Balance at 31 Degember 1,255.2 1,579.7

53




P& O Annual Report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20.  Trade and other payables

7 - -

= Cymenl -

Trade payables 53.1 - 59.3 -
Ofher unsecured payables 137.0 225 1588 109
Aceruals and deferred income 13341 111 136.8 83
Fair value of derivalive financial insiruments - 66.1 38 85.3
e TPt . - o332 - 99T Lo -368A s 1048

Loan from Parent group undestakings

Loan from fellow subsidiares of the Group's

ultimale controlling entity 91.6 57.8 77.4 238.3
R L N UG - o BB T4 e - 22383

The Group's exposure to currency and liquldity risk related to trade and other payables fs disclosed in nate 28,
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21, Non-controlling interest

There are no subsidiaries with material NCI in the Group.

22, Issued capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium account

The balances classified as share capltal and share premium account include the total net proceeds on issue of the
Company's equity share capital. The authorised share capital is £853.2 milffion (2016: £953,2 million) baing the allotled
capital together with £110.0 miliion (2016: £110.0 milfion) of unclassified shares. The nominal value of each class of

share unit Is £1. The number of shares held is 843.2 million. Tha allotted, called up and fully paid share capital was
£843.2 million as at 31 December 2017 (2016; £843.2 miillion)

Translation reserve

The transtalion reserve comprises all forelgn exchange differences arising from tha translation of the financial statements
of foreign opersations that are integral to the operations of the Company, as well as from the effactive portion of translation
of liabilities that hedge the Company’s net investment in a fareign subsidiary.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet oceurred.

Other reserves

Other reserves of £170.5 million (2048: £170.5 milllon) s made up of the Group’s merger reserve of £454.2 million (20186:
£454.2 million) and capital reserve £161.4 million (2016: £161.4 milllon), less goodwill deducted from reserves of £451.8
milifon (2016: £451.8 million), all arising under UK GAAP prior to transition to IFRS, plus a capital redemption reserve of
£3.3 million (2016: £3.3 miilien) and amolnts relating to share based payments of £3.5 million (2018 £3.5 millian}.
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23. Employees

£ mion
Employeacosls - - 7 con o or L 1w e DT T T T e e e L agq T L 2018
Wages and salaries 153.3 2271
Sadial security costs 8.8 10.9
Pension and other post-retirement beneft cosls 26.5 23.8
T ST S AT : Do 4887 - - 2818
‘Average nuniber of employess at 34 December: ~, . . v . : e R
UK full time 1,078 1,059
UK part time 14 14
Oversaas ful tima 4,072 4,859
Oversees part time 150 162
Sea Slaff 391 351
T T Y s S © UBT0S - e e 5,485

24, Employee benefits
The Group participates in a number of pansien schemes throughout the world.
a} P&O UK Schame

This principal scheme is located in the UK (the "P&0 UK Scheme®). The P&0O UK Scheme Is a funded defined benefit schame
and was closed 10 routine new members on 1 January 2002 and to future accrual on 31 December 2015, The pansion fund
Is legally separaled from the Group and managed by a Trustee board. The assets of tha schems are managed ar behalf of
the Trustee by independent fund managers.

Formal actuarial valuations of the P&O UK scheme are normally carried out trennially by gualified independent actuaries,
the maost recent valuation was at 31 March 2016 using the projected unit credit method. The deficit on a statutory funding
objectives basis was £91.0 million. The Group agreed with the Trustee fc a new monthiy deficit payment plan effective from
1 April 2018 of £9.0 milllor until 31 March 2020, then increasing fo 2 total of £10.3 million until 31 March 2024 and then
increasing to £12 million a year untit 30 November 2026.

In Becember 2007, as part of a process developed with the Group to de-risk the pensign scheme, the Trustee transferred
£800 million of P&O UK Scheme assets to Paternaster (UK) Ltd, In exchange for a bulk annuity insurance policy to ensure
that the assels (in the Graup's statement of financial position and in the Scheme) will always be equal to the current value
of the liability of the pensions In payment at 30 June 2007, thus removing the funding risks for thase liabilities,

In December 2017, the Group entered into a Flexible Appartionment Arrangement which enabled a related party to withdraw

as an employer from the P&Q Pension Scheme, fallowing which all current and future deficit liabilities of the Scheme were
taken over by the Group with an additional cash cantribution of £13.0 million.
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24, Employee benefits (continued)
b} Merchant Navy Officers’ Pansion Fund ("MNOPF")

The Group participates In various Industry multi-employer schemes, the mast significant of which is the MNOPF Scheme
and Is In the UK. These generaily have assals held in separale trustee administered funds which are legally separated from
the Group,

It is an industry wide multi-employer defined benefit scheme in which officers employed by companies within the Group
have participated.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation of tha New Section of MNOPF scheme was carrded out as at 31 March 2015,
This resulted in a deficit of £3 milfion. The Trustee Board baelieve their investment strategy will address this deficit and
therefore has not issued deficit contribution notices to employers In respect of the 2015 actuarial valuation. The New Seclion
closed to future accrual in April 2016.

Following earlier acluarial valuations in 2009 and 2012 the Trustee and Employers agreed contributions fo be paid to the
Section by participating employers over the period to 30 September 2023, These contributions Included an allowance for
the impact of Irrecoverable contributions in respect of companies no longer in axistence or not able {o pay their share, In
Seplember 2017, the Trustea offered a seltlement sum of £14.7 million to the Group which wauld clear the oulstanding
contributions (due payable bi-annually lo Seplember 2023) and save the Group £2.1 million in future interest payments.
The Group agreed and setlled the payment on 28 September 2017. There are no outstanding contributions due by Group
in 2018.

In 2016, Group has accounted for an amount of £73.0 million as an additional defined benefit abligation with regards to
reapportionment of deficit contribution fram a related party. in April 2017, this liability was borne and paid by the Parent
Group.

The Group's shara of the net deficit of the New Section at 31 December 2017 s estimated at 5.36%.
¢} Merchant Navy Ratings’ Pension Fund {("MNRPF”)

The MNRPF Scheme is an industry wide multi-employer defined benefit penslon scheme In which sea staff employed by
companies within the Group have participated. The scheme has a significant funding deficit and has been closed to further
benefit aceryal from 2001,

The Group, which is no longar current employers in the MNRPF had setilad their statutory debt obligation and were not
considered to have any legal obligation with respect to the on-going deficit in the fund. However, following a legal
challenge, by Stena Line Limited, the High Court dacided lhat the Trustee could require all employers that had ever
participated in lhe scheme to make contributions to fund the deficil, Although tha Group appealed, the decision was not
ovariurned.

The Group's deficit contributions arising from the 31 March 2014 valuation tolalled £25 million {(equating to 7.0% share of
the net deficit). The contributions due to the Scheme in respect of this valuation will be paid over the period to 31 Oclober
2022. Deficit contributions of £3.5 million were paid into the Scheme in 2017, The Group's aggregated ouistanding
conlribulions from this valuation are payable as foflows: 2018 to 2022 £3.5 million per annum.

The maost recent formal actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2017. The Group’s deficit contributions arising
from this valuation tolalled £8.7 miilion, A consultation regarding the valuation assumptions, factors and outcome is

currenlly underway.

The Trustee set the payment terms for each participating employer in accardance with the Trustea's Contribution Collection
Policy which includes credit velting.
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d) Others

The Group also operatas a number of smaller defined benefit and defined contributfon schemes.

The board of a pension fund In the UK Js required by law to act in the best Inleresis of the fund participants and is
respongsibfe for selling certain policies (e.g. investment, contributions and indexaticn policies} and detemmining recovery
plans if appropriate.

These defined benefit funds expose the Graup lo actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, intarest rate risk and
market {inveslment)} risk. In addition, by participating in cerlain mulli-employar induslry schemes, \he Group can be
exposed (o a pro-rata share of the credit risk of other participating employers.

Reconciliation of assals and liabilities recognised in the consolidated sfatement of financial position

The amounts recognised in the balance sheal are as foffows

£ milfan
S T 2097 - L 2086
Non-current
Defined benefit schemes net fiabililies 137.0 254.4
Liability in respect of long senvice leave 0.2 0.3
Liability for other non-current deferred compensation 0.2 0.2
137.4 254.9
Current
Liability for current deferred compensation 54 8.5
cNetllabllity z v e LT R s e DD D e Coavtq4287 . i, 28156
Reflected in the conseclidated statament of financial position as follows:
Employee benefit liabilities: nen-current 1374 254.9
Employee benefit liabifities: current 5.4 6.8
STy et e e 42800 T LT 2816

Long term employee benefit expense recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss consist of following:

£ miflion

Dafined benefit schemas 57 4.8
Defined contribution schemes 5.1 7.6
Olher employee banefits 0.4 8.6
11.2 21.1
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24, Employee benefits (continued)

The re-measurements of the net dafined benefit liability recognised in the statement of ether comprehensive income is as
follows:

£ m¥on

ST e e T e . L L A [
Actuarial lossH{gain) recognised in the year (38.7) 272.6
Return on pfan assels lesser/ (grealer) than the discount rate {45.1} {111.5)
Change in share in mutti-employer scheme 0.5 ©.2)
Mavemenl in minimum funding liability B4.6 9.1
1.3 151.3

Actuarial valuations and assumptions

The latest valuations of tha defined benefit schemes have been updated to 31 December 2017 by qualified independent
acluarles. The principal assumptions are included In the table below. The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best
estimates chosen from a range of possible acluarial assumptions, which, due to the imescale covered, may nol necessarily
be borna out in praclice.

- -PRO LK Scheme .. - MNOPFScheime © . OthsrScheme -

s Ca0iFs - . gede 2087 2016 - 2017 2016
Discount ratas 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.70%
Discount rates - Bulk Annuity Asset 2.30% 2.40% nfa nla nfa n/a
Expected rates of salary increases * nia nfa nia wa 240% 3.00%
Pension Increases:

- Deferment 3.00% 3.00% 245% 2.50% 2.80% 3.20%
- Payment 3.00% 3.00% 3.36% 3.40%  3.10%  3.20%
Inflation 3.45% 3.50% 3.45% 3.50% 3.30% 3.30%

* The P&QO UK Scheme and MNOPF were closed to future accrual as at 31 Dacember 20186, so future pay increases Is nat
relevant.

The assumptions for pensioner longavily under both the P&0O UK scheme and the MNOPF scheme are based on an analysis
of pensioner death trands under the respective schemes over many years.
For lllustration, the life expactancies for the iwo schemes at age 65 now and in the fulure are detaited in the table below.

e
Age 65in
Age 65 [n 20 yaars' AgaB§ .
Age 65 now time now Zouymeirs
2017
PAO UK scheme 21.9 237 23.8 25.6
MNOPF scheme 230 26.0 26.4 29.3
2018
PAO UK scheme 223 245 24.3 26.6
MNOPF scheme 23.0 259 264 29.2

At 31 December 2017 the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 15.6 years (2016 17.3 years),
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Reasonably possible changes to one of the actuarial assumptions, holding other assumplions canstant {in practice, this is
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlaled), would have Increased the net defined benefit
liability as at 31 December 2017 by the amounts shown below:

£ mion
Tometr 0 . 2018
0.1% reduction in discount rate 4.0 17.2
0.1% Increase in inRation assumption and related assumptions 1.6 10.4
0.25% p.a. increase in the long term rate of mortality impravement 148 144
e R R T SRUILIIY 1SRRI 7

The methods and types of assumpfions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous
period,

The schemes’ strategic asset allocations across the seclors of the main asset classes are:

U PAOUK Scheme - < MHOPF Se!\éh\g i OlharScheme ] T““I,;;J:
P R Lt emilenT. St .- emilled - ewlillon - Emifllon

2017
Equities 192.4 681 48.8 307.3
Bonds 258.4 121.8 136.7 516.9
Other 140.8 . 28.1 1689
Value of insured pensioner liabllity 764.2 . 21 768.3
1,355.8 137.9 215.7 1,758.4

2016
Equities 359.4 419 647 466.0
Bonds 163.1 60.7 117.0 330.8
Other 222 . 15.8 38.0
Value of [nsured pensioner fiability 787.6 . i} 7076
41,3323 102.6 197.5 1,632.4

With the exception of the Insured pensianer liability all material investments have quoted prices in aclive markets.
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Reconcilialion of the opening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets for

the period ended 31 December 2017:

£mTon
ST e st s e T Other e
" PRO UK Scheme -~ MNOPF Scheme -~ Scheme .- ° Total
Present value of obligation at 1 January 2017 {1,428,7) {181.3) {257.2) {1,867.2)
Current service cost - - (2.9) (2.9)
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation (35.0) {4.4) (6.6} (46.0)
Contributions by scheme participants - - (0.9} (0.9)
Effect of movement in exchange rates {0.1) - 2.5 2.4
Actuarial gain/{loss) - experience 7.5 8.5 (1.0} 130
Actuarial gain/({loss) - demographic assumptions 26.4 - 2.0 284
Actuarial gainiloss} - tinancial assumptions 24 .3 (5.4} (2.7}
Gain/{Loss) due to change in share {6.2) 2.6 " (3.8)
Actual benefit paid 715 8.4 7.9 7.8
Present value of obligation at 31 December 2617 __(1362.2) {167.9) (261.8) {1,794.7
Falr value of schema assels at 1 Januvary 2017 1,332.3 1028 197.5 1,632.4
Interest income on assels 32.8 4.0 5.3 421
Retum on plan assets {greaterMess than the discount rate 35.3 26 7.2 45.1
Actual employer contributions 22,5 90.3 413.5 126.3
Contributions by scheme participants - - 0.8 0.9
Effect of movement in exchange rate 0.1 - - 0.1
Actual benefit paid (71.5) (B.4) (7.9) {87.8)
Galnf{Loss) due to change in share 6.0 {2.9) - 31
Administration costs incwmed during period {1.7) {0.3) {0.8) (2.8]
Falr value of scheme asgsats at 31 December 2017 1,365.8 187.9 215.7 1,759.4
Defined benatit sch net liabilities (6.4) 200 {45.9) {32.3)
Minimum funding liability . (76.8} (20.0] (7.9} (104.7}
Net liability recognised in the consollidated statement of
financial position as at 21 December 2017 {83.2) {0.0} {53.8) {137.0)
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Recongiliation of the opening and closing present valus of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assels for

the period ended 31 December 2016:

£ milion

L e s o et cOther. s L Lt

. .P&O UK Sch - MNOPF Scheme - . Scheme  ° ' Total
Fresent value of obligation at 4 January 2016 (1,263.0) {148.9) {205.0} {1,616.9)
Current gervice cost - - (2.1 (2.9)
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation [45.5) {5.4) (7.8) (58.5)
Contributions by scheme parlicipants - - {0.9) {0.9)
EFect of movement in exchange rates - - 3.0 3.0
Actuarial galn/(lass) - experience 21.9 0.1 0.6 226
Acluarnial gainf{foss) - demographle assumptions 51.9 1.4 - 533
Acluarial gainf(loss) - financial assumptions (261.6) {33.4) (53.5) (340.5)
Gain/(toss) due ta change in share - (2.8} - (2.5}
Actual benefit pald 67.6 7.4 8.3 813
Present value of obligation at 34 Cecember 2018 (1,428.7) (181.3) _(257.2) (1,867.2)
Fair value of schame assels at 1 January 2016 1,210.8 148.7 464.2 1,623.7
Interest income on assats 43.7 54 6.3 55.4
Refurn on plan assels (greater)/less than tha discount rate 138.6 (50.6) 236 1416
Actual employer contributions B4 4.2 14,7 273
Contributions by scheme participants - . 0.9 0.9
Effect of movement in exchange rale - - (3.1) (3.1
Actual benefit paid (67.6) (7.4) (8.3} (83.3)
Gainf{Loss} due to change in share - 27 - 27
Admiaislration costs incurred during period (1.6} G.4) (0.8} 2.8)
Fair value of schamae assets at 31 Decembar 2016 1,332.3 102.6 197.5 1.632.4

_Defined benefit schemes hot llablltfas (96.4} {78.7) {59.7} {234.8)

Minimum funding fiability - {12.1) (7.5 119.8)
Net liabitity recognised In the conscilidated statement of
financial position as at 31 Deceamber 2016 (38.4} {20.8) {67.2} {254.4)
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A minimum funding liability arises where the statutory funding reguirements are such that future contributions in respect of
past senvice will result in a fulure unrecognisable serplus.

The below table shows the movement in minimum funding tiability:

£ milan
T r A . 2018, .
Mimimum funding liability as on 1 January (19.6) {27.7)
Interes! cast on minimum funding Hability {0.5) {1.0}
Actuarial movement during the year (84.6} 9.1
'Minimum funding fabllity as on 34 Decembar .. -0 L oo ToHodqy L - T e)
It is anticipated thal the company will make the following contributions fa the pension schemes in 2018:
£ miffon
PR \f‘\ome?‘f, ; e
e 3 7 MNOPF Scheme g DU - Totai
Pensicn scheme contributicns 0.0 9.2 18.2
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25.

Commitments

Capltal commitments

£ miken

R S ol 217 L s T 2018

Estimated capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December 931 137.7
Operating fease commitments

£ mittian

2016

Within one year

121.7

Between one and five years 434.5 444.2
Between five and ten years 477.5 663.4
Between ten and twenty years 586.2 640.5
Between twenty and thidy years 398.7 4375
Between thirty and fifty years 4.4 90.6
T T T T o SoL 1,985 T 22879

28.
(al

(b}

(c)

Contingent liabllities

The Group has contingent liabilitfes amounting to £22.8 miflion (2016: £12.4 mififon) In respect of payment
guarantees and £48.5 million (2016: £52.5 million) in respect of performance guarantees. The bank guarantees
are afising in the ardinary course of business from which [t Is anticipated that no matarial liabilities wilt arise.

The Graup has contingent liabililies in respect of guarantees issued on behalf of equity accounled Investees
amounting to £16.4 miliion (2018: £17.6 million).

Chennai Port Trust (*CPT") had raised a demand for an amount of £13.83 million (2018: £14.27 miflion}, from
Channai Container Temminal Limited ("CCTL"), a subsidiary of the Company, on the basis that CCTL had failed to
fulfil its obligations in respect of non-transshipment containers for a period of four consacutive years from 1
Dacembear 2003. CCTL had subsequently paid £7.39 million {2016 £7.62 million} under dispute In 2008. CCTL
had initiated arbitration proceedings against CPT in this regard. The arbitral tribunal passed its award on November
28, 2012 ruling In favour of CCTL. However, CPT appealed against this order, which was upheld by Madras High
Court on 8 January 2014 and accordingly a provision has been recognised agalnst the above receivable. CCTL
lodged an appeal before the Division Bench of Madras High Court along with a stay petition on 31 January 2014.
The Appeal was taken up for hearing and admitted on 3 February 2014. CPT also made a statement before the
Cour that no furthar action would be taken by CPT agalnst CCTL. The Court has admitled the matter and is
pending for final hearing and disposal befora the Dlvision Bench of Madras High Court. During 2017, CPT raised
further demands amounting to £26.33 million towards its obligations in respect of non-transshipment contalners
for lhe years 2008 to 2014. With this the cumulative demand as of 31 December 2017 amounts to £40.17 million.
The Group is confident that the case will be in favour of CCTL.
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27.  Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group, if the Group
has the ability, direclly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over it In making financial and
operating decisions, cr vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common conlral or significant influence
i.e. part of the same Parent Group.

Related parties represent associated companies, sharsholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, the
Parent Company, Ultimate Parent Company and entities jointly conlrofled or significanfly influenced by such parties. Pricing
policies and terms of thesa transaclions are approved by the Group’s management. The tetms and conditlons of the related
party transaclions were made on an am's length basis,

Parant entities

The largest group of companies for which consolidated financial statements are prepared and In which the company is
consolidated is DP World Limited, a company limited by shares incorporated in Dubal, whose accounts are fited with the
Dubsai Internationzt Financial Centra, DP Wotd Limited has 19.55% of its shares raded on the NASDAQ Dubal,

in the opinion of the directors, the witimate controlling parem undertaking as at 31 December 2017 was Port & Free Zone
World FZE, which owns 80.45% of DP World Limited. Port & Free Zone World FZE is a wholly owned subsidiary of Dubal
Woarld Corporation, (uitimate parent company), but which does not exert control over the Company. References to “Parent
graup” therefore refer to the group headed by Port & Free Zone World FZE.

Transactions with parent group

Amounts due from the parent group are disclosed in note 16. Interest earned on these loans amounted to £9.9 million (20486:
£13 million). Amounts due fo the parent group are disclosed in note 20, Interest cost on these leans amounted to £2.6
million {2016: £17.2million).

Management fees of £14.9 million (2016: £16 million) were paid to DP World group companies during the year,
Management fees of £3.7 million (20156: £2.6 millfon) were received from DP Woild group companies during the year,

On 18 January 2017, the Group sold its 100% stake in the operating potts of DP World (Canada) Inc and DP World Prince
Rupert Inc.for a consideration of £262 milllon to DPW Investments B.V which is ultimately held by OPW FZE.

On 14 November 2018, the Group recelved 81.63% ownership of India Gateway Terminal, India, and 26% ownership of
Visakha Container Temminal, India from DPW FZE through a gift deed, plesse refer note 28 "Business Combinations” far
more information.

Thare were no other material transactions with the paren{ group during the year (2016: £nil).
Transactions with key management personnel

Given the aperalional and organisational structure of the Group, the key management personnel as defined under 1AS 24
'Related Party Disclosures' consists of the board of directors of the company togather with the key management persohnal
of DP World Limited,

The Group's shara of the remuneration of these key personnel was £5.1 million (2046: £3.1 million). The remuneration of
the Directors of the Company Is disclosed in note M to the Company financlal stalements.

The remuneration of the key management personnel of DP World Limiled and any relevant transactions are set out in the
financial statements of DP World Limlted and which are publicly available on their websile at www.dpworld.com.

Othar related party transactlons

During the year the Graup provided services including office accommodation and IT support to Istithmar P&0O Estates an
affiliated company, amounting to £0.2 miiiton (2016: £0.2 militen).

There are no other related party transactions during the year, (2016: Nif}
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28. Buslness acqulsitions
2617:
{ Acquisition of Rayser Infernational business

On 26 July 2017, the Group acquired 57% stake in Remolgues y Servicios Maritimos, $.L. Group ("Reyser”) International
business through ils existing subsidiary Remolcadores de Pusrio y Altura, S.A. ("Repasa’) for a purchase consideration of
£17.5m representing the fair value of acquired net assets. Tha carrying value of net assets on the date of acquisition was
£2.7m. This acquisitlon has resulted in the step up of investment in equily-accounted investees by £13.6m with a
corresponding increase In deferred tax liabilities by £3.4m.

2016:
(i) Acqgulsltion of subsidiary under glit deed from intermediate Parent Company

On 14 November 2016, DP World FZE (a fellow subsidiary of the Parent Group) had gifted its 81.63% invesiment in
subsidiary lndia Galeway Temninal Ltd in Cochin, India under a gift deed at a nil consitisration to an indirec) subsidlary the
Group. The Group recognised its share of the net liabilities of India Gateway Terminal Lig totalling £26 miflion. This gift has
resulted in the consolidation of this subsidiary in the Group and along wilh the recognition of non-controlling Interests in
respect of remaining 18.37%.

(i) Acquisition of equity accounted invesises under gift deed from intermediate Parent Company
0On 14 Novamber 2016, DP World FZE (a fellow subsidiary of the Parent Group) had gifted its 26% Investment in equity
accounted invesies Visakha Container Terminal in India under a gif deed at nil considaration fo an indirect subsidiary of

the Group, The investment in equity accounted investee was initially recognised al its carrying value In the hooks of Group
at £2.6m and equity accounted subsequenlly.
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29, Financial instruments
{8) Credit risk
(i Exposure to credit risk

The carrylng amount of financial assetls represents the maximum gredit exposure. Tha maximum exposure te credit risk at
the reporling date was:

£ miFan

©famyingamount . <. . Caringemoe

Trade recewabies 855 1120
Other receivables 176.% 196.9
Amounts owed by group companies 2,055.4 1,785.0
{ash and cash equivalents 2797 342.0
Loan to equity mecounted investaes 46.6 64.3

The maximum exposure to credit rigk for trade recelvables at the reporting date by geographical region is as follows:

£ milion
B S S : e e . L N
Europs and Africa 54,2 49.0
Australia and Americas 18.2 49,0
Asia Paclfic and indian subcontinent 13.1 14.9
85.5 112.9
(ii) Credit quality of financial assels and impaimant fosses
Movemenl in the alfowance for impalrment in respact of trade and ather receivables during he year was:
£ million
SR - B LR Lo Loy e v pens BT - 2016
At 1 January 3.4 1.3
Charge during the year 0.1 2.1
Revarsed through disposal of business {2.5) -
At 31 Dacember 1.0 34
The ageing of irade receivables al the reporting date was:
£ mTon
I T A o : AT T 2088
Neither past due orrimpaired 42.8 f1.1
Past due an the reparling date
less than 30 days 284 325
31-60 days 8.2 10.1
over 60 days 6.4 8.2
B85.5 129

(b) Liquidity risk

The fallowing are the contractual malturities of financial liabillties, including estimated interest payments and excluding the
impact of netling agreements:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29.  Financial instruments (continued)

b Liquidily risk (continued)

L Tyears o

MNaon-derivative Hnancial Habillties

Trade and gther payables (356,9) {356.9) {323.3) (33.8) - -
Unsecured band [ssues {5.9) {10.4} - . (0.1} (10.3}
Secured bank loans {806.9)  (1,341.5) (42.4) 47.3) {144.8)  (1,507.3)
Unsecured bank loans (420.3) (452.5) (196.2) {41.0) (110.1) {105,2)
Finance lease liabilities {6.9) 7.4) {4.1) (1.8} (1.4} -
Mortgage debenture stock {1.4) (2.4) {0.5) (0.8} (1.4} -
Unsecured loans {13.8) (13.8) [13.8) - - B
Financial guarentees and letter of credit - (88.4}) . - - -

Derivative financial lfabllities
Interest rate swaps fnet culflow) {66.0) (83.5) 172.3) {17.3) {41.3) (7.8}
{1,678.1)  (2,356.2) {897.3) {141.3) (289.1}  (1,230.4)

Non-derivative financial llabllitles

Trada and ather payables {373.8) (373.8) (354.6) (18.2) -
Unsecured bond Issues {6.4) (7.8} - - Q.13 (7.5)
Secured bank leans (1,094.0) (1,780.2) (71.5} (80.3) (68.2) (1,554.2)
Unsecured bank loans (452.7) {499.4) {11.7 {230.3) (252.3) {5.9)
Finance lease liabifities (16.1} {27.0} "N {4.9) (4.8} (9.6}
Mortgage debenture stock {1.4) (8.9 {0.5) (0.5) {1.6) (4.3)
Unsecured loans {9.1) (9.1} (9.1} - - -
Financial guarantees and letter of credit - (212.9} - - . -
Derlvative financial Habilities
Interest rate swaps (net outflow} (89.1) (i22.4) (21.2) (22.2) (56.2) (22.8)
(2,0426)  (3,038.3) 482.3) (357.4) (383.2)  (1,602.5)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
29. Financial instruments (continued)
fc) Markel risk

0} Currancy risk

The following significant exchange rates were appiied during the year:

Aversge rales: Reparting dale spat ratas:
S e T - 11 A+ T S
ush 1.287 1.351 1.353 1.234
EUR 1,142 1.221 1.129 1.171
AUD 1.680 1.817 1.732 1.709
INR 83.798 90.721 86.411 43.780
CAD 1.674 1.790 1.688 1.661

Forelgn currency sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of pound sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 would
have increased/(decreased) equity and profil or loss by the amounls shown below. This analysis assumes that all otfier
varlables, in parficular intarast ratas, remain constant. Furthar, as each entity in the Group dstermines its own funetional
currancy, the effects of translating financial assets and liabilities of the respective entity would mainly impact equity.

W17 Eeitlion
usD 13.3 .21
EUR 15 (6. 16}
AUD 4.2) -
INR 17.0 0.92
GAD .1 .

2016 EmiFon
B T R T TR NONEESIE 1 R “Tncoma Bistement
S0 = — S 1 o7
EUR 0.6 (0.17)
AUD @.8) -
INR 18.8 0.28
CAD 9.9 033

A 10% weakening of pound sterling against the above currencies at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 would have
had the equal but epposile sffect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables
remain constant.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29,  Financial instruments {continued)
(c) Markel risk (continued)
{ii) Interast rale risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profite of the Group's interest bearing Anancial Instruments was:

£ mlfon
© 7 .Canyingamount | . Canying amcunt ~
T Vs L. ooe
Fixed Rate instruments
Financial Fabilities {69.2) [73.1)
Interest rate swaps hedging floating rate debt [926.2) {1,181.7)
(995.4) (1,254.8}
Varlable rate Instruments
Financial assets 2,190.5 1,909.3
Financial liabilities {1,186.0) (1,508.6)
Interest rate swaps hedging floating rate debt 926.2 1,181.7
1,930.7 1,584.4

The group has hedgad its exposure lo variable rates by entering into fixed interest rate swaps for a notional amount
equivalent to £626.20 million (2016: £1,181.70 milfion)

Interest rate sensltivity analysls

A change of 100 basis points (*bp™) In interest rates at the repoerting date would have Increasedf{decreased) equily and
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreigh currency
axchange rates, remain constant.

£ miltisn

2017

Variable rate instruments 18.3 {19.3} n .

Intarest rate swaps - - 9.3 (9.3)
’Cash flow ensilivitynet - < - - R T BRACRARY | 1) WNCERL SN Y- S X |

2018

Variable rale instruments 15.8 (15.8) - -

Interest rate swaps - - 11.8 (11.8)
Cash floje sedsttivity ngt .+ o s e L g T8 1B
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

29.  Financial instruments (continued)
(d) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The table below presents the camying amounts and the fair values of the Group's financial assets and liahilities at
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

£ mfEon
L ‘ Lol U
ConE s P ‘f':"nnink(ral;; L ) ralrvalu: SRR mmm ST r;iiwi.u_' :
Primary financial assets and liabilities held or lssued to finance the Group's operations:
Trade and ather receivables 2624 262.4 306.8 309.8
Trade and olher payables {356.9) (366.8) (373.8) {373.8)
Unsecured bond issues {5.9) (5.9} (6.4) (6.4)
Secured bank toans (806.9) {806.9) {1,094.0) (1,094.0)
Unsecured bank loang (420.3) (420.3) (452.7) {452.7)
Finance lease liablitles (8.9) 6.9) (16.1) (16.1)
Morigage debenture stock {1.4) {1.4) {1.4) (1.4}
Amounts owed by greup undertakings 2,055.4 2,055.4 1,785.0 1,785.0
Amounts twed to greup undertakings (149.4} {149.4) (315.7) (at5.7)
Amounts owed by equily accounted investees - - 64.3 643
Cash and cash aquivalenis 279.7 278.7 3420 3420
kI;i;;:nma! assals held at fair value through profit and 45.6 358 243 243
Darivative financial instrumants held to manage the interest rate and currency profile:
Interest rale swap - liabilities (66.0) (89.9) (89.1)
_Cashfiow sensitviy pet i s gy Lo ATB2 T TR

Tha following valuation melhods have been used for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

Tha fair value of trade and other recelvables and trade and other payables approximates to the book value due to the short-
term maturily of these instruments.

The fair value of bonds and dolfar naotes included in loans above Is based on the guoted market price of comparabla debt.
Other loans include tarm loans and finance leases. These are largely al variable interest rales and therefore the book value
nomally equales the fair value.

Tha falr value of debt securities held-fo-maturity is based on the quoted market value of simlfar assets. The fair value of
other investments Is based on the year-end quoted price for listed investments and the estimated recoverable amount for
unlisted Investments. The fair value of cash and bank overdrafts approximates to the book value due to the shori-term
malurity of the instruments. The falr value of derivalive financial insirumants Is based on the cash flows discounted to the
net present value using prevailing market rates and foreign currency rates at the reporting date,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

28,  Financial instruments (continued)
() Fair value of financial asseots and liabilities {continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financlal instrumants carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as foflows:

« Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or Habilities

»  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Levet 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indlreclly (..e. derived from prices)

»  Leval 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inpuls}

£ mafion
T I U T S Tevetd)

2017

Financia) assets held at fair value through profit and loss - — 35.9
Mortgage debenture stocks _ (6.7) -
Derivative financlal liabilities - (66.0) -
T L ) : Cooe (2T, 2 358

2015

Financial assets held at fair value through prafit and loss _ _ 243
Moitgage debenture slocks - (0.8) -

Derivative finandial liabltilies (89.1) _
e — ”:-:',(SQ_.:S) -
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30. Significant group entities

The extent of ihe Group's ownership in its various subsidiaries, equity accounted investees and their principal activities are
as foilows:

Counlry of  Ownership

incorporation interest Business description
Subsidiaries
Chennai Container Terminal Privale (.td India 100%  Container terminal aperalions
DP World Antwerp Terminals N.V. Belgium 100%  Contalner terminal and other
port opferations
DF World Callao S.A Peru 100% Container terminal operations
DP Woarld Australia (POSN) Ply tid Australia 100% Halding Company
DF World Overseas Ply Limited Australia 100%  Holding Company
DP World (POSN) B.V. Nelherdands 100%  Holding Company
DP World Red B.V. Netherlands 100%  Holding Company
DP World Blue BV. Netherlangs 100% Holding Company
DP World Maputo S.A. Mozambique 80% Container terminal operations
India Galeway Terminal Private Limited India 81.63%  Caontainer terminal operations
Mundra Internatianal Container Terminal Private Limited India 100% Container terminal operations
Nhava Sheva {India) Galeway Terminal Private Limited India 100%  Container terminal aperations
Nhava Sheva Intemational Centainer Terminal Private India 100% Cuntainer terminal operations
Container Rall Road Servicas Pyt Limited India 100%  Container rail freight operations
P&O Maritime Services Ply Ltd Austrafia 100%  Port and maritime services
P&O Maritime Services (PNG) Lid Papua New 100% Part and maritime services
Guinea
Qasim fnternational Container Terminal Palkistan Lid Pakistan B5% Conlainer terminal operations
Saigon Premier Container Terminal Vietnam 80% Container ferminaf operations
Southampton Contalner Terminals Lid England 100% Container terminal operations
Terminales Rio ds fa Plata SA Argentina 55.62%  Coniainer terminal operations
lL.ondon Galeway Port Limitad England 100% Container terminal operations
Remglcadores de Puarto y Altura, S A, Spain 67.01%  Portand marilime services
DP World Germersheim BV, Netherlands 100% Container terminal aperations
DP World Saint John, Inc Canada 100%  Container terminal operalions
Joint Ventures and Assoclates
Antwerp Gateway NV Belgium E0%* Gantainer terminal operalions
Laem Chabang Intemational Terminal Co Lid Thailand 34,6%  Contalper terminal operations
Eurcfos SARL France 50% Container terminal operations
Generale de Manutention Portuaire S.A France 50% Conltainer terminal operations
Qingdae Ciarwan Contginer Terminal Co. Lid, China 29% Container terminal operations
Asian Terminals Inc. Philippines 41.72%  Container terminal operations
Portus Indico -~ Sociedade de Servicos Porluarios Ltd UAE 48.58%  Holdihg company
Visakha Container Terminals Private Limited tndia 26% Containar lerminal operations
PT Terminal Pelikemas Surabaya Indenesia 45% Container lerminal operations

* Although the Group has more than 80% effective ownership interes! in this enlity, it is not freated as a subsidiary, but
Instead treated as an equity accounted investee. The underlying shareholder agreement does not pravide control to the
Group.,
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Company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2017

£ million
‘Note = -~ - . =~ - 2017 . 2016

Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets E 5.6 6.5
Invastments in subsidiarles F 1,678.8 1675.8
Olher invastments F 354 238
Debtors G 22.9 16.2
1,742.7 1,722.3

Currant assets

Debters G 2,944.9 2,649.1
Cash and cash equivalents 2.3 11.2

2,947.2 2,660.3

Creditors: amounts falllng due within one year

Other creditors 1 (537.3) (680.2)
{537.3) {680.2)
Net current assets 2,409.9 1,980.1
' Total assets lags current llabllitlas . ..~ 0 s s oo e - AME26 0 L 37024
Craditors: amounts falling due In more than one year
Creditors. amounts falling due in more than one year i ©.7) {0.4)
Loans H (7.3) (7.8}
(8.0) (8.2}
Provisions for liabilities J (7.8) _(10,5)
Net assets before penslon llabllities 4.136.8 3,683.7
Pensions and post-retirement benefits N _(98.1) (175.0}
Net assets after pension liabilities . .~ - - - - o - c.- 40387 0 - 36087
Capital and reserves
Called up share caplial K (843.2) {843.2)
Share premium accourit L (815.4) {815.4}
Profit and loss account L (2,380.1) {1,850.1)
TFatalauily > 57 i T D e e e e LT e (4 08,7 - (3,608.7)

The accounls were approved by a duly authosised commltte® of the Board of directors and signed on lis behalf
on 22 June 2018 by

\ "‘b-u\.
Maohammad Al Hashimy Sarmad Qureshi
Director Director

The Peninsular and Orental Steam Navigation Company — Company Number Z73
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£ million

Shara. -
:cghllal o

* Share” " |
premium -

“Balance as at 1 Januaty 2096 7 °

S g154) _.-.28317° - 4.4903:

© -B43.2
Tolal comprehansive incoma for the year - - - -
Profit for the year - - 118.5 119.6
Taotal othar camprehensive income, net ofsnoomelax - - (101.1) {191.1)
Tolal comprehensive incoime -+ o+ 7 T T Db o T s e e R - S - X
Transactions with cwners recorded directly In equity - - - -
Dividends - - (1,000.0} (1,000.0)

UAL31 December 2016 2 s

C.gd43e o T

8154 " 1;8504. . 73,6087 .

At 1 Jahuary 2017 5 - -

SRR

-7 8164 T N850 o .3,5087

Total comprehensive income for the year

Praofit for the year - - 484,3 484.3

Pension obfigation borne by ultimate Parent Company - 50.0 50.0

Tatal other comprehensive incarte, net of i income tax - - (4.3} (4.3)
" Tofal comprehensiva Inéame . = - 0 tho ool oar bt w0 e B30, - 0 L 53D

Transactlons with owners recorded directly in equity

Dividands -
At 31 Decembar 2017 = SR

L8432

815450 238040 40387
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Notes to the Company financial statement

A. Accounting Policies

The Peninsular and Orienta! Steam Navigation Company (the 'Company) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the
UK, The Company numberis Z73 and the registered addrass is 16 Palace Streel, London SW1E 5JQ, Uniled Kingdom.

The folfowing accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered malerial in
relation to the accounts of the Company excapt as noted below.

Basis of Preparation

These financial stalements were prepared In accordance with Financial Reporling Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framewark ("FRS 101"). The amendments {o FRS 101 {2014/15 Cycla) issued in July 2015 have been applied.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements
of Inlernational Flnancial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs"), but makes amendments where
nacessary in order to comply with Gompanies Act 2006 and has set out below whara advantage of the FRS 101 disclosura
exemptlons has been taken.

The Company's ultimate parsnt undertaking, DP World Limited, includes the Company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financlal staterments of DP World Limited, which is listed in Dubaj as per consolidated
disclosures, are prepared In accordance with IFRS and are available to the public and may be obtalned from 16 Palace
Sireet, London SWHE 5JQ, United Kingdom.

In these financial statemants, the Company has applied exemptions available under FRS 101 In respect of the following
disclosures:

- A cash flow stalement and related notes;

- Comparative pericd reconciliations for share capltal, tangible fixed assels, and investments;
- Disclosuras in respect of iransactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

~ Disclosures in respect of capital management; and

- The effecls of new but not yet effectiva IFRSs.

Going concern

The direclors, having made enquiries, consider that the company has adequate resources (o continue in operational
axistence from 12 months of the date of approval of financial statement and therefore they consider it apprapriate fo adopt
the going concern basls in preparing the accounis.

Functional currency and foreign currency transactions

The functional currency of the Company is slerling. Al financial information presented in Sterling is rounded {o the nearest
million, Transaction in forelgn currencies are translaled into sterling at the rate ruling on the date of tha transaction.

Monetary items denominated In forelgn currencies at the raporting date are relranslated te the funclionat currency at the
exchange rale at that dale and exchange differences, if any, are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items in a foreign currancy that are measured at historical cost are translated %o the funclional currancy using
the exchange rate at the date of initiai transaction and s not retranslated at a later date. Non-monatary items thal are
measured at fair value in a forelgn currency are trenstated into the lunctional currency using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was datermined.

Foreign currency differances arising on retranslation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
except for differences arising on the refransiation of available-for-sale equity instruments, of a financial liabHity designated
as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation, or qualifying cash flow hedges, which ars recognised direclly in
statement of olher comprehensive incoma.
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

A. Accounting policies (continued)

Tangible fixed assets

These assels are stated at costless accumulated depreciation and any provision for impalrment. Assels constructed by the
Company are depreciated from the date that the asse!s are avallable far use.

Provision for any impairment in value of other fixed assels is made in the profit and loss accaount.

Depreciation Is calcuiated Yo write off the cost of these assets to estimated rasidual value, on a straight line basls over the
expected useful life of the asset concerned. The expected useful lives of properly and other fixed assets {reported within
plant and machinery, fixtures and fillings) vary up fo 40 years.

The eslimated useful lives of assels are as follows:

Assets Useful life (years)
Buildings 546
Plant and Machinery 3-25
Fixdures & Fitlings 3-25

Interest incurrad in respect of assets under construction is capitalised into the cost of the asset concerned.

Investineat in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are shown at cast less provision for impairment.

Other Investments

Other Investments in debt and equity securities held by the Company are classified as being available-for-sals and are
stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised diractly In aquily, except for Impalrment losses and, in
the case of monetary items such as debl securities, forelgn exchange gains and losses, When these investments are
derecognised, the cumulative galn or loss previously recognised in eguity is recognised In profit or ioss. Where these
investmenls are interest-hearing, Interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of financial inslruments classified as available-for-sale is their quoted bid-price at the balance sheet date.
Available-for-sale Investments are recognised/darecognised by the Company on the dale it commits to purchase/self the

Investments, Securitles held-to-maturity are recognised/derecognised on the day they are transferred to/by the Company.
The Company does not hold investments in debl or equity securities for trading purposes.

Trade debtors and other receivables
Short ferm debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans and receivables are financiat assets with

fixed ar detenminable payments that are not quoted ip an aclive markel. Subsequent to inifial recognition at fair value, loans
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impalrment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balancas and deposits.

Loans

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised Initially at falr value less attribulable fransaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amorlised cost using the effaclive interest method, less any
Impairment losses.
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A. Accounting policies (continued}

Creditors

Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of businass from
suppliers. Credilors are recognised iniflally at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method,

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or conslructive obligation as a result
of & past event, and It is probable that an owflow of economic banefits will be required to setlle the obligation, and where
the amount of the assotiated costs can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are calculated by
discounling the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflacts current market assessments of the time value of money,
and where appropriate the risks specific to tha llability.

A provision for onerous confracts is recognised when the expected banefits to be derived by the Campany from a cantract
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeling its obligations under the contract.

Leases

Leases where the Company retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as finance
feases. These Igases include Land and buildings which are financad by leasing agreements, giving rights approximating to
ownership are capltalised as tangible fixed assets at cost less accumulated depreciation. QOn initial recagnition, the leased
assels are measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum laase paymant.
Subsequent to iniliad recagnition, the leased asset is accounted for In accordants with the accounting policy applicable to
that asset, Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the
reduction of the oulstanding liability. The finance expense Is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liakility,

Leases whete the Company does not retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified
as operating laases In operaling lease, rentals payable are charged to the profit and foss account on a syslematic basis
ovar the lerm of the lease,

Pensians and post-retirement benefits
Deflned contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan in which the company pays tha fixed eontribution to a separate
entity and will have no legal or constraclive obligation to pay further amounts. Cantributions, including lump sum paymenis,
in respect of defined contribution pension schemas and multi-employer defined benefit schemes where it is not possible te
identify the Company's share of the scheme, are charged o the profit and loss account as they fall due.

Defined benafit plans
A defined banefit ptan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution ptan.

The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have earnad in relum for their service in the current and prior periods. That
benefit Is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets Is deducted, The calculation is
perfarmed annually by a qualified acluary using the projected unlit credit method. The discount rate is the yleld at the
reporting date on AA credit rated bonds that have malturity dates approximating fo the terms of the Company’s obligaltions.

Pensions and post-retirement benefits

When the actyarial calculation resulls in a benefit {o the Company, the recognised asset is limited ta the prasent value of
economic hanefits avaitable in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future conlributions to the plan.
In arder to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration 1s given to any minimum funding requirements
that apply to any plan In the Company. An aconomic benefit is available to the Company If 1t Is reallsable during the life of
the plan, or on selflement of the plan liabilities. Where the present value of the deficit contributions exceeds the IAS 19
deficit an addltional liability is recagnised.
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A. Accounting policies (continued)

Re-measurements of the net defined benefitliability, which comprise of actuarial galns and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are recognised direclly in stalement of
other comprehensive Income. The Company determines the net interes! expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability
(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used fo measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
annual period to the then-net defined benaiit Jiability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined bensfit
liability {assel) during the peried as result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expanse and other expenses
related fo defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curlailed, the resulting change in benefil that relates to past
service or the gain or loss on curtailment Is recognised immediately In prafit or loss. The Company recognise gains and
losses on the seltlement of a defined benefit plan when the seftiement occurs.

Impairment

The carrying amounis of the Company's assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amaunt of the asset may not be recoverable. If any such indicalion exists, the asset's recoverable
amouni is estimated.

An impaiment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or s income-generating unit exceads s
recoverable amount. fmpairment losses are recognised in the profit and toss account.

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of thair net realisable value and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the expected future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the rale of return expecled on an equally risky investment. For an asset that does not genarate largely
independent incoma streams, the recoverable amount is determined for the Income-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

For assets where the recoverable amount increases as a resull of a change in economic conditions or in the expected use
of the asset then the resultant reversal of the impalmment loss should be recognised in the current period.

An impaiment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's camying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, If no impairment fass had been recognised.

Financial guarantees

This is where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracls to guarantee the indebtedness of subsidiaries, Jeint
venlures or assaciates, The Company considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as sich, In
this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent labllity until such time as it becomes probable that
the Company will be required (o make a payment under the guarantes.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account
except lo the extent that it relates o items recognised directly in equity or ather comprehensive income, in which case it s
recognised directly in equily or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expecled tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted ar
subslantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary diffarences between the carrying amounts of assels and Kabilities for financial
reporting pumoses and the amounts used for laxalion purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for:
the Initia} recognition of assats or liahilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination, and differances refating to investments in subsidiaries to tha extent that they will probably not reverse In the
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or setlement of
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future faxable profils will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.
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B. Audit fees

The Company's audit fee pald to its principal auditers, KPMG LLP was £30,000 {2016: £30,000), and non-audii fee
£57,674 (2016: £179,796).

C. Dividends

No dividend was declared during the year (2016: £1,000 million). On 01 May 2018, the Company declared a dividend of
£1.2 million. This has not been recognised as a liability in 2017.

D. Profit for the financial year

The profit for the financial year, being the profit on ordinary activilies after taxation, was £484.3 million (2016: profit of £118.5
million}.
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E. Tangible fixed assets

P&O Annual Report

£ million £ million £ million £ million E miilion
cyeia o T g s oo Fikture & . L B
T e TRES e Tl
© + . ..-Bulding . . machinery, . - o eensltuclion .
Cost
At 1 Janyary 2017 87 0.5 2.8 03 8.1
Additions . - - - -
Disposals - (0.0) {0.0) 6.3) (0.3)
At 31 December 2017 57 0.5 2,6 - 8.8
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2017 (0.6 0.3 (1.0 . (2.6)
Charge for the year {0.2) {0.1) (0.2) - (0.6)
Al 31 December 2017 (0.8} .4 (2.0} _ (3.2)
Nel book améunt at 31 December 2017 - - - . 49 .7 . Q4. ool o B8
Nl book smount at 31 December2016 .~ "~ > 543 . - T02 . 08 7 Y
F. Investments
£ mil!ion £ million £ million

Investmanis -

" Investments
i inlisted

Tot&l ‘-

e eompanles’ - . .gompanies

Cost

At beginning of year 2,468.0 23.8 2,491.8

Additions X1 ] 11.6 14.8

Disposals - - -

- At31.December 2017 v : - . . S 2440 . 35.4 2,508.4

Provisions

Al beginning of year (782.2) - (792.2}

Charge for the vear - - -

‘At31 December2097. - - . - @Ry - Aol . (7922

- Net Investment at 31 December 2017 © 48788 - - .. - -7 3854 : 1,714.2 .
“Nat Ivestment at 31 December 2016 -~ 16758 " L tiaag il 41,6986 .

Additions to investment in subsidiary companies during the year relate to £1.4m equily injection in P&O Dover (Holdings)
Limited and consolidation of shareholding in Southamptan Container Terminals Limited by means of intra group transfer in

the amount of £1.6m,
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F. Investments (continned)

Investiment in Subsidiary Companies

The following are subsidiary undertakings of the Company, the invesiments In which are recognisad as inveslments In

subsidiary companies,

Subsldary undertakings

Beaufort insurance Company Limited

British India Steam Navigation Company
Lirnited

DP World (POSN) B.V,

DP World Australia (POSN) Pty Lid

DP World Investments FZE

DP World Limited

DP World £ ogistics Europe GmbH

DP World Maritime B.V.

DP World Red 8.V

European Ferries Limited

London Gateway Limited

Landon Gateway Logistics Park Development
Limited

Laondon Gateway Park Limiled

Landon Gateway Logislics Park Management
Limited

Landon Gateway Port Holdings Limited
London Gateway Senvices Limited

P&D Bulk Shipping Limited

P&O Delaware Holdings LLC

P&C Dover {Haldings) Limiled

P&0 Overseas Holdings Limited

P&O Pension Funds Investments Limited
P&0O Ports Limited

P& Proparlles International Limited

P&O Scottish Ferries Limited

P&O Tankships Investments Limited
Partkestrel Lirited {being wound up)*
POETS Fleat Management Limited
Southamplon Container Terrninals Lirited

investments In unlisted companies

Country of
incorporalion

United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Netherlands
Austratia

United Arab
Emirates

United Kingdom
Germany
Netherlands
Netherands
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Unlted Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United States

United Kingdam
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Uniited Kingdom
United Kingdom

Parcentage ol
share capital
owned by the
Company

100.00%
100.00%

94.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
94.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.60%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%.
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
108.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100,00%

Class of shares

Ordinary shares and Preference
shares
QOrdinary shares

Ordinary-B ghares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary-B shares
Ordinary shares
Qrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary sharas
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Qrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Qudinary shares
Ordinary shares
Oudinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
OCrdinary shares
Qrdinary shares

The investment in unlisted companies principally reptesents a 3.16% ownership holding of DP World Australia (Holding)
Pty Lid. Investment in unlisted companies are classified as being available-for-sale. The unlisted invesiment is measured
al cast Instead of fair value as the investmant do not have a quoted market price In an active market and for which a fair

valee cannot be rallably measured.

Additions to investment in unlisted companles during the year relale to investiment In class B1 preferenca shares in

Hyperloop Technologies Inc.
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F. Investments (continued)

The following subsidiaries hava elected the audit exemption (section 479A of the Companies Act 2006) whera a parent
company (The Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigalion Company) has provided a guarantee for all liabilities owing by the
respective enlities:

Company

Crumber

British India Steam Navigation Company Limited 0000133

European Ferrles Limited 00301725
P&0 Bulk Shipping Limited 00258949
P&0O Dover (Holdings) Limited 03482979
P8O Cverseas Holdings Limited 00537728
P&0 Ports Limited 00751061
P&O Properties International Limited 01089229
P&O Scottish Ferries Limited 00071375
London Gateway Logistics Park Dsvelopment Limited 6766019

London Gateway Services Limited 6786022

The following subsidiaries have elected the audit exemption (section 480 of the Companies Act 2006} where the faliowing
subsidiaries have been dormant since tha end of the previous financial year.

DP World Limited 6281123
P&0 Scollish Ferries Ship Management Limited SC10350
P&0 Tankships Investments Limited 21695
Poets Fleat Management Limited 161442
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G. Debtors

£ rmillion £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
I o e i
. 2017 Fallngdue. . .- - = " Falling due -
oL e s inmore | : T : L : )
. withinone - . thatone . .- 7. - " within = Inmorethan = - - .
R . loypar -yaar - Total - " gne year one year Total
Trade Debtors 7.8 - 7.6 5.2 - 5.2
Other receivables 8.0 22,9 28.9 5.9 16.2 22.1
Prepayments and accrued income 0.6 - 0.8 27 - 2.7
An ed by gro kings
pounts owed by group undertaking 29307 - 28307 2,36.3 . 26353
PR 29448 - 229 . 28678 2,648.1 - 162 - 126653
H. Loans
E million £ millicn
: T ocaoar 0 2016
Creditors falling due more than one year
US dellar bonds 2027 {unsecured) 58 6.4
Mortgage debenlures stocks id 14
7.4 7.8
Terms and debt repayment schedule
£ miflicn £ million £ million £ miilion
. “Currency. <Mominal . Yearof - " Face "~ ;. . Face . Carylng .
R | L maturity . .value vatue - T amount
e oaon? 2016 2016
US dallar bonds 2027 (unsecured) usD 7.9% 2027 5.9 5.9 6.4 6.4
Mortgage debenturas stocks GBP 3.5%  Undated 1.4 14 1.4 14
7.3 7.3 7.8 7.8
1. Creditors
£ million £ million £ million £ milllon___ £ million £ midlion
20T Fallingdue. o 0 © i .. 2016 Falingdue - .
S T Inmetethan e T e ~'in more than .
T L R L - within ona year -ongyear - Total - ‘within one year = - oneyegar Total
Amounts owed fo subsidiaries 527.9 - 527.9 659.9 - 659.9
Social security and olher
taxation 3.2 - 3.2 11.5 - 11.6
GOther unsecured crediters 3.0 - 30 35 - 3.6
Accruals and deferred income 3.2 0.7 39 5.2 0.4 5.6
§37.3 0.7 538.0 680.2 0.4 680.6
537.3 0.7 538.0 680.2 0.4 680.6
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J. Provisions for liabilities

£ millicn

- L. Other .
o " . Provislans
At 1 Janvary 2017 10.5
Amounts released in the income statement (2.5}
Btilized during the year {0.1)
At 31 December 2017 7.8

Provisiens include £7.9 million (2016: £7.8million) in relation to exposures from former employees working in enviranments
that used to contain asbestos. Liabllities expected to be incurred are in part covared by insurance. Any expacted recoveries
ars included within other receivables,

Amounts released in the income statement are retated to provisions for other obligations that are no longer required.

Utilized during the year relates to payment thal was mads in relation to ashestos claim,

K. Share capital

The allotted, called up and Iully paid ghare capital is as follows:

_Emilion £ millian_
Issued share capiltal (843.2 miflion ordinaty shares of £1 each) B843.2 843.2
L. Reserves

£ million_ £ million £ million

. Share i -Profitand - . 0 7 Total
Copremium o doss . L

S L . AR " account - . .. @coount . .

At 1 January 2017 815.4 1,850.1 2,665.5
Acluarial galnsflosses - {4.8) (4.8)
Pansion chfigation borne by uliimate Parent Campany 50.0 s0.0
Profit far the financial year . - 484.8 484.8

At 31 December 2047.. - .~ . L B S pts4 . 02,3808 - ¢ - 31955

Share capital and share premium account

Tha balances classified as share capital and share premium account Include the tolal nel proceeds on issue of the
Company's equity share capital {see note K).

Profit and loss account

Exchange movements in the profit and foss account include a loss of £4.4 million (2016: £7.8million gain) in respect of forefgn
currancy net lendings.
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M. Directors’ emoluments

£ thousand £ thousand

T T oslaetr., T . 2048

Directors' emoluments 5,026 3,085

Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 53 58

e EQTY . - 3143
Retirement benefits are accruing to tha follawing number of directors under.

A T ULV IR N RO Ce017 . - 20f6

Defined benefit schemes . -

Monaey purchase schemes 4 i

The aggregate emoluments of the highest paid director were £1,861,461 and no pension contribution was made on his
behalf. {2016: The aggregale emoluments of the highesl paid director were £1,114,089 and no pension contribulion was

made on his behaif)

The Directars hold a variety of roles and responsibiiities with the ullimate parent Group and not alt are directly employed by
the Company. Therafore an estimation has been made of the proportion of their remuneration that refates to qualifying

servicas tor the Company.
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N. Pensions

The Company pailicipates In a number of pension schemes throughout the world.
P&0 UK Scheme

This princlpal scheme is localed in tha UK (the "P&0 UK Scheme”). The P&0O UK Scheme is a funded defined benefit
scheme and was closed to routine naw members on 1 January 2002 and to future accrual on 31 December 2016, The
pension fund is legally separated from the Company and managed by a Truslee board. The assels of the scheme are
managed on behalf of the Trustee by independent fund managers.

Formal acluarial valuations of the P&0O UK scheme are normally carried oul triennially by qualified independent actuaries,
the most recent valuation was at 31 March 2018 using the projected unit credit mathod, The deficit on a statutory funding
objectives basis was £81 million. The Company agreed with the Trustee to a new monthly deficit payment plan effective
fram 1 April 2018 of £9 million until 31 March 2020, then increasing to a total of £10.3 million until 31 March 2024 and then
increasing to £12 million a year until 30 November 2026.

In December 2007, as part of a process devaloped with the Company to de-risk the pension scheme, the Truslee transferred
£800 mifflon of P&0 UK Schema assets to Paternoster (UK) Ltd, in exchange for a bulk annuity insurance policy to ensure
that the assets (in the Company’s slatemem of financlal position and in the Scheme) will always be equal to the current
value of the llability of the pansions in payment at 30 June 2007, thus removing the funding risks for thesa labliities.

In Decamber 2017, the Company entered into a Flexible Apportionment Arrangement which enabled a related party to
withdraw as an employer from the P&O Penslan Schema, following which all current and future deficit liabllities of the
Scheme wara faken over by the Company with an additianal cash contribution of £43 million.

Merchant Navy Dfficers’ Peansion Fund (“"MNOPF")

The Company parlicipates In various Industry multi-employer schemes, the most significant of which is the MNOPF Scheme
and is in the UK. These genarally have assats held in separate trustee administered funds which are legally separated from
the Company.

It is an Induslry wide multi-employer defined benefit schame in which officers employed by Company have participated,

The mast recent formal actuarial valuation of the New Section of MNMOPF scheme was carried out as at 31 March 20H4.
This resulted in a deficit of £3 million. The Truslee Board believe their investmen! strategy will address this deficit and
therefore has net fssued deficit contribution notices to employers in raspact of the 2015 actuarial valuation. The New Seclion
closed to future accrua! in April 2016.

Following earlier actuarial valuations In 2009 and 2012 the Truslee and Employers agreed contribulions to be pald to the
Section by participating employers over tha period to 30 September 2023, Thase contributions included an allowanca far
the impact of irrecoverable contribufions in respect of companies no langer in existence or not able to pay their share. In
September 2017, the Trustea offered a setllament sum of £9.5million to the Company which would clear the outstanding
contributions (due payable bi-annually to September 2023} and save the Company £1.4 millian in future interest payments.
The Campany agreed and seilled the payment on 28 September 2017, There are no oulstanding contdbutions due by
Company In 2018,

In 2016, Company has accounted for an amount of £73.0 million as an additional defined benefit obligation with regards to
reappertionment of deficit conlribution from a related parly. In April 2017, this labilily was borne and pald by the Parent
Company.

The Gompany's share of the net deficit of the New Seclton at 31 December 2017 is estimaled at 5.36%.
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N. Pensions (continued)
Merchant Navy Ratings' Pension Fund {"MNRPF"}

The MNRPF Schema is an Industry wide mulli-employer defined benefit pension schema in which sea staff employed by
tha Campany have participated. The scheme has a significant funding deficit ana has been closed to further banefit accrual
from 2001.

The Company, which is no longer current employers in the MNRPF had sellled their statutory debt obligation and were not
considered lo have any legal abligation with respect to the on-going daficil in the fund. Howaver, fallowing a legal challenge,
by Stena Line Limiled, the High Court decided that the Truslee could require all employers that had ever parlicipated in
the scheme to make cantributions to fund the deficit. Although the Company appealed, the decision was not overturned.

Thie Company’s deficit contributions arising from the 31 March 2014 valuation totalled £25 million (equating fo 7.0% share
of the net deficit). The contributions due to the Scheme in respect of this vatuation will be paid over tha period to 31 Qclober
2022. Deficit contributions of £3.2 milllion were paid into the Scheme In 2017. The Company's aggregated oulstanding
contributions from this valuation are payable as follows: 2018 to 2022 £3.8 million per annum.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2017. The Company's deficit contributions
arising from this valuation totalled £8.7 million. A consultation regarding the valuation assumptions, factors and outcome
is currently underway.

The Trustae set the payment terns for each particlpating employer in accordance with the Trustes's Contribution Collection
Policy which includes credit vetting.

The Trustee set the payment terms for each participating employer in accerdance with the Trustea’s Contdbiution Callectian
Poticy which Includes credit velling.

The amounis recogrised in the balance sheset are as follows

T st o BT T 2088
Present value of chligations {1,643.2) (1,637.7)
Fair value of plan assets 1,5456.1 1,462.7
Net liability deficit {98.1) (175.0)
Related deferred tax asset - -
Net liability (8.1} (475.0
Amounts in the balance sheet
Non-current Lizbilities {98.1) (175.00
Net liabltity 8.1 (1765.0}

The deferred pension benefit schemes of £98.1 million (2016: £175 million) is ih respect of the total Campany schemes
shown on page 91,

The re-measuremants of the net defined benefit liability recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income
is as follows:

e SRR L T R _ ‘ S 07 P 208
Actuatia! gain/{loss) recognised in the year 405 (220.4)
Retum on plan assels lesser! {greater) than the discount rate 38.0 1137
Change in share in multi-employer scheme 0.7} 0.9}
Movement in minimum funding liability (82.1) 6.2

(4.3) {101.1y

88




P&O Annual Report

Notes to the Company financial statement {continued)

N. Pensions (continued)

The penslon costs for defined benetlt schemes are as follows:

RSN ey e L D 2018
Current service cost - -
Gain due to setlements/curtailmenls - -
Administration costs (2.2} {2.3)
Total charge lo operaling profit (2.2) 2.3)
Nel Interest on net defined benafit abilityXasset) {3.0} (2.9}
Total expenses recoghised in the income slatement (5.2) (5.2

Actuarlal valuations and assumptlons

The fatest veluations of the defined benefit schemes have been updated to 31 December 2017 by qualified independent
actuaries, The principal assumptions are Included in the table below. The assumptions used by tha actuaries are the best
eslimates chosen from a range of possible acluarial assumptions, which, due to the limescale covered, may not necessarily
be borne out in practice.

. ¥MNOPF Scheme - - MNRPF Sghema

S 2016 0.0 2017 2016, - | 2017 2016
Discount rates 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%  2.50%
Discount rates - Bulk Annuity Asset 2.30% 2.40% nfa nfa nla na
Expecled rates of salary increases * nia n/a nla nfa nfa nfa
Pansion increases:

- Deferment 3.00% 3.00% 2.45% 2.50% 245% 2.50%

- Payment 3.00% 3.00% 3.35% 3.40% 3.35% 3.40%
Inflation 3.45% 3.50% 3.45% 3.50%  3.45% 3.50%

* The P&C UK Scheme and MNOPF wers closed lo fulure accrual as at 31 December 2016, so fulure pay increaseés is not
relevant,
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N. Pensions (continued)

The assumplions for pensioner longevity under both the P&O UK scheme and the MNOPF scheme are based on an
analysis of pensioner death trends under the respective schemes over many yaars.

The schemes' stralegic assat allocations across the sectors of the main asset classes are:

7 psGUNSchems - - 7 MNOPFSchame UNREF Schémes  Toti Falrva

N U i i ceion L awihin,

2017
Equities i92.4 47.8 6.7 248.9
Bonds 258.4 88.3 46.5 393.2
Other 140.8 - - 140.8
Value of Insured pensianer liability 764.2 - - 764.2
1,355.8 136.1 53.2 1,545

2048
Equities 3584 323 8.9 400.6
Bonds 153.1 46.8 42,4 2423
Cther 222 - - 222
Valua of insured pensioner fiability 797.6 - - 797.6
1,3323 79.1 51.3 1,462.7

With the exception of tha insured pensloner liabliity all material invesimants have gquoted prices in active markets.

For illustration, the life expectancies for the two schamas at age 65 now and In the future are detailed in the table below.

TN male. L “ Femals =~ U

Age 65 In 20 years'

oo 5w = pessron e
2017
P&C UK schame 21.9 237 238 25.6
MNRPF schema 209 23.8 26.5 29.2
MNOPF scheme 23.0 26.0 26.4 25.3
2016
P&0O UK schems 223 24.5 243 26.6
MNRPF scheme 20.8 23.6 26.4 20.1
MNOPF scheme 23.0 259 264 29.2

At 31 December 2017 the weightad averaga duration of the defined benefit obligation was 15.6 years {2016: 17.3 years).
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N. Pensions (continued)

Reconciliation of the apening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets lor

the peried ended 3% December 2017:

£ mifiion

Lo Bty | PROUK Schame ~ “MNOPFSchame . ggilll < Tota
Present valua of obligation at 1 Janvary 2017 {1,428.7) (134.3) {61.0) (1,624.0)
Current service cost _ . . .
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation (35.0) (3.0} (1.8) (32.6)
Actuarigl gain.“(lqss) - experience 76 4.4 (0.5) 11.4
Actuarial gainfloss) - demographic assumplions 26.4 _ . 26.4
Actuarial gaini{loss) - financial assumptions 23 03 0.1 27
Gain/(Loss) due to changa in share 6.2) 26 . (3.8
Aclyal banefit paid 716 57 24 79.6
Prasent vaiue of obfigation at 31 December 2017 {1,362.2) {124.3)  (60.6) (1,547.4}
Fair value of scheme assels at { January 2017 1,332.3 78.4 513 14627
Interes! income on asseats 228 27 1.3 36.8
Retumn on plan assets (greater)ess than tha discount
rate 35.4 17 0.9 38.0
Actua! employer cantributions 255 60.8 3.2 865
Aclual benefit paid (1.6) 5.7y 2.4 (79.6)
Gain/(Loss) due to change in share 8.0 (2.3) {0.8) 29
Administration costs Incurred during period 4.7 @.2) 0.3} 2.2
Falr value of schemo assats at
31 December 2017 1.355.8 136.1 53.2 1,645.1
Irrecoverabla surplus at 1 January 2017 . {8.5) (5.1) (3.7
Interest cost on Irrecoverable sumplus N 0.2) .0 (0.3)
Change in irrecoverable surplus (76.8) (5.1} {0.2) (82.1)
Irrecoverabla surplus at 31 December 2047 _(76.8) (13.9) 54 (86.4).
Defined benefit schemes net Habllitfes at 31
D her 2017 {83.2) {2.1) {12.8) {98.1)
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N. Pensions (continued)

Reconcillation of the opening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets for

the period ended 31 December 2016:

£ milon

Lo e ..MNRPF T

R S _ - MNOPF Scheme. | . grtieme. . Yotal
Present value of obligation at 1 January 2016 (1.262.8) (111.3) (54.4) (1,425.2)
Current service cost . R . R
Interest cost oh Defined Benefit Obligation {45.5) @7 1.9 (51.4)
Actuarial gaini{loss) - expetience 219 0.1 0.3 299
Actuarial gain/loss) - darmographic assumplions 519 10 . 52.9
Actuarial gain/{loss) - financial assumptions (251.8) (22.9) (10.5) {205.3)
Galin/(Loss) due to change In share _ (2.5) _ {2.5)
Actual benefit paid 676 5.0 25 74.8
Prasant value of obligaticn at 31 December 2018 (1,426.7) (134.3) (61.0) (1,624.0)
Falr value of scheme assets at 1 January 2016 1,210.5 109.8 36.2 1,356.5
Interest income on assels 437 17 1.4 48,8
Return on plan assets (greater)/less than the giscount
rate 138.9 (34.7) a5 113.7
Actual employer contributions 8.4 27 az 19.3
Actuat benafl patd (67.6) (5.0) (2.3) (74.9)
Gainf{l.oss) due to change In share N 2.9 (1.3 16
Selllement - - - -
Administration costs incurred during period (1.6) {0.3) 0.4 23
Fair value of scheme assets at
31 December 2016 1,332 7914 51.3 1,462,7
Irrecovarabla surplua at 1 January 2016 _ {14.5) 4.8 {18.3)
Interest cost onirecaverable surplus _ (0.5 (a1 {0.6)
Change in irrecoverable surplus _ 6.4 (0.2) 6.2
Irrecoverable surplus at 31 Decamber 2016 . (8.8} (5.1} (3.1
Defined benefit schemas nat Nablkitiss at 31
Dacaimbar 2016 (56.4} {£1.8}) {14.8} {1750}
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N. Pensions (continued)

The below table shows the movement In minimum funding liability.

P& O Annual Report

£ mifion

gm0 L i a0

Minimum funding liability as on 1 January {13.7) {19.3)
Interest cost on minimunm funding liabflity (0.3) (0.5}
Actuarisl movement durng the year {82.7) 6.2
Effect of movement in exchange rates - -
Minkmum funding liability as on 3% December (96.1) (13.7)

It is anticipated that the company wili make the following cash contributions fo the pension schemes in 2018:

T et T G T ANRPE
B i o7 PaOUKScheme . MNOPF Scheme - - -gopony -
Pension scheme oontribulions 8.0 0.0 38
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0. Commitments

The cammitment during the fallowing year in respect of non-cancaliable operating leases is as follows:

f. miflion £ milion
- Land hndrl_mildlrng's C

ALeamesxpling: .. .. L. LT L el D e 2016
Within one year 0.8 0.9
Between one and five years 3.7 37
Over five years 4.6 4.8

8.2 8.2

P. Contingent liabilities

The company has a contingent lability in respact of payment guarantees ameunting to nil (2016: nif).

Q. Controlling party
Ultimata holding company

in the apinion of the directors the ultimate controlling parent undertaking as at 31 Decamber 2017 was Port & Free Zone
World FZE, which owns 80.45% of DP World Limited. Port & Free Zone World F2E is a wholly owned subsidlary of Dubai
World Corporation, which Is the ultimate parent company of the Company, but which doss not exert control over the
Comparny.

The largest Company of companies for which cohsolidated financial statements are prepared and in which the company is
consolidated Is DP World Limited, OP World Limited is lhe intermediate holding company. DP World Limited has 19.55% of
its shares traded on the NASDAQ Dubai.
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

R. Related undertakings

The Company's ownership in various related undertakings has been disclosed in nota F. In accordance with section 409 of
the companies Act 2008, a full list of related undertakings, the COuntry of incarporatian, percentage of share capital and
registered address awned by the Group as at 31 Dacember 2017 Is disclosed below.

Name Country of Percentaga Class of Registared Address
incarporation  of share shares
capital
owned by
the Group
Abbott & Gotdman United 99% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SWIE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, Uniled Kingdam
Aberlour Holding Company, Inc. Phitippinas 16% Preferred T Floer, STU Holdings Canter, 6764
shares Ayala Avenue, Makati Cily, Meatro
Manila, Philippines
Andersen Hughes Pty Ltd Australia 94% Ordinary Leve! 3, 89 Queensbridge Streal,
shares Southbank VIC 3006, Australia
Antwerp East NV, Belgivm 100.00% Ordinary Nieuwe Wesbtwag haven 742, 2040
shares Antwerpen, Belgium
Antwerp Gateway NV Belgium 60% Category N Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040
shares end P Antwerpen, Belgium
shares
Ascot SAS France 25% Ordinary Av Du t6eme Port, 76600, Le Havre,
shares France
Asian Terminals, InG Philippines 41.72% Cammon 4. Bonifaclo Drive., Pon Area,
shares Manila, 1018, Philippines
ATI Batangas, In¢ Philippines 41.72% Comman Port of Batangas, Sta, Clara,
shares Batangas City, 4200, Philippines
ATI Holdings, Inc. Philipplnes 100% Commeon 3rd Floor, BSHG Law Gentre, 106
shates Paseo de Roxas, Makati Cily,
Philippines
AWH Pty Ld Australia 1,67% Ordinary Lara Woot Complex, Farest Road,
shares Lara VIC 3212, Australia
Basswick Pty Limited Australta 100% Ordinary Level 21, 400 George Streat, Sydnay
shares NSW 2000, Auslealio
Beaufort Insurance Company Limited United 100% Ordinary 46 Palace Street, London, SWHE
Kingdom shares and 540, United Kingdom
Cumutalive
Preference
shares
Bengal Port Privale Limited Indta A4.50% Ordinary Sacar Estate, 4th Floar, 2, Clive

Equity sharas Ghal Streel,, Kalkata, West Bengal,
700001, India

British India Steam Navigation Company Uniled 100% Ordinary 16 Palace Streel, London, SWIE
Limited Kingdom shares 5JQ, United Kingdom
Carpentaria Shipping Senvices Pty Ltd Austealia 47.00% Ordinary-A Level 3, 99 Queensbridge Street,
shares Southbank ViC 3006, Australia
Chennai Centainer Terminal Pvi. Ltd. India 100% Oiginary Darahshaw House, Level 1,
shares Narottam Morarji Road, Baellard
Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400001, India
Community Network Services ¢ imitad United 100% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SWHE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, United Kingdom
Cantainer Rail Road Services Py, Lid. India 100% Ordinary Darabshaw House, Level 1,

Equity shares Naroltam Marari Read, Ballard
Estate, Mumbai, Maharasnira,
400001, [ndia
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Daven Haldings, Inc

DP World {Fremantle) Limited

DP Warid (POSN) B.V.

DP World (SA) Ply Ltd

BPF World Antwerp Container
Services NV

DP World Antwerp Customs Desk
NV

DP World Antwerp Holding N.V.

DP World Antwerp Terminals N.V.
DP World ANZ Porls (Australia) Pty

Limited

DP Warld Auslratia (Finance) Pty
Ltd

DP World Australia (Holding) Pty Lid
DP World Australia {Investments)

Pty Lid
DP World Australia {POAL} Pty Ltd

DP World Australia {(POSN) Pty Lid
P World Australia Limited

DF Warld Blue B.V

DP World Brisbane Pty Limited

Country of
Incorporation

Philippines

Australia

Netherlands
Australia
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Australia
Auvstralia
Austrafla
Australia

Australia

Australia
Australia

Nethesands

Australia

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group

16%

3.15%

100%
3.15%
100%
50%
100%
100%
100%
3.15%
3.15%
100%

100%

100%
3.15%

100%

3.15%

96

Class ol
shares

Preferred
shares

Class A and
class B
Ocdinary
shares
Ordinary-B
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Qrdinary
shares

QOrdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Class A,
Class B and
class B
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
ordinary
shares.

Ordinary
shares

Registered Addrass

7th Ficor, §TI Holdings Center,
6764 Ayala Avenue, Makati Gity,
Melro Manila, Philippines

Level 21, 400 George Street,
Sydney NSW 2800, Australia

Albert Plesmanweg 43G,
J088GB, Rotterdam,
Netherlands

As per physical address

Nieuwe Westweg Kaal 742, 2040
Antwerp, Belgium

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742,
2040 Antwetpen, Belgium

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742,
2040 Antwerpen, Belgium

Nieuwe Westweg Kaal 742, 2040
Antwerp, Belgium

Level 21, 400 Geargs Streat,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 George Street,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 George Sireet,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 George Strest,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 Georga Streel,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 George Street,
Sydney NSW 2000, Ausiralia

Level 21, 400 Gearge Sireet,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Albert Plesmanweg 436,
3088G8, Rotterdam,
Netherdands

Level 21, 400 George Sireat,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia
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Notes to the Company financial statement {continued)

R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

OF Waorld Callao S.R.L.

OP World Germersheim B.V.

0P World Investments FZE

DP World Liege NV

DP World Limited

OP World Logistics Europe GmbH
DP Warld Mapulo, SA

BP World Maritime B.Y.

DP World Melbourne Limited

DP World Qverseas Pty Limited

0P World Properties (Austrafia) Pty
Limited

DP Worid Put, Lid.

DP World Red B.V

DF World Saigon Holdings Limited

DF World Sokhna FZE

DP World Saint John, Inc.

Country of
incorporation

Peru

Netherands

United Arab
Emirates

Belgium

Unlted
Kingdom
Germany
Mozambique
Netherlands

Australia

Australia

Australia

India

Metherlands
Virgin {sfands,
British

United Arab
Emirates

Canada

Percentage
ol share
capital
owned by
the Group
100%

100%

160%

100%

100%
160%

60%
100%
3.15%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

g7

Class of
shares

Participaciones
shares

Crdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Class A, Class
B snd class B
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ovdinary
shares

Ordinary-B
shares

Crginary
shares

Class A
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary Equity
shares

Ordinary
shares

Grdinary
shares
Qrdinary
shares

Common
shares

Registered Address

DP World Callao S.R.L., Terminal
Portuario Muelfe Sur, Avenida Manca
Capac 113, Gallao 1, Peru

Smirnoffweg 3, PO Box 59138, 3088
HE Ratterdam, 3008 FC
Nethertands, Netherands

P.0O. Box 17000, Dubal, United Arab
Emirates

Rue de |s Resistence SN, 4100
SERAING, Belgium

16 Palaca Streel, London, SWIE
5.JQ, United Kingdom

SchanzenslraBe 102, 40549
Dusseldorf, Germany

Terminal de Cantentores, Porto de
Maputo, Mapute, Mozambique

Albert Plesmanweqg 43G, 3088GB,
Roiterdam, Netherlands

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney
NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney
NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 Georga Street, Sydnay
NEW 2000, Australia

Darabshaw House, Level 1, Narattam
Merarji Road, Ballard Estate,
Mumbai, Maharash{ra, 400001, India

Albert Plesmanweg 436, 3088GB,
Rotlerdam, Netherlands

Beimont Chambers, PO Box 3443,
Road Town, Tortola, Brlish Virgin
Islands

P.C. Box 17000, Dubai, United Arab
Emirates

570 Queen Street Sulte 600,
Frederictan NB E3B 6Z6, Canada
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

R. Related undertakings {continued)

Name Country of Percentage Class of Reglstered Address
incorporation of share sharas
capltal
owned by
the Group
BOP Warld Sydney Limited Australia 3.16% Ordinary Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney
shares NSW 2000, Australia
Eastern Galeway Terminals Private India 608.80% Ordinary Darabshaw House, Level 1,
Limited Equity shares Nareitam Moradi Road, Ballard
Estale, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400001, India
Eurofos SARL France 60% Ordinary Secteur Graveleau , Terminal
shares Contenedrs , Darse 2, 13270, FOS
SUR MER/PORT SAINT LOUIS,
France
Europa Atlantiqgue Terminal SA France 32,49% Ordinary Av Du 18eme Port, 76600, Le Havre,
shares France
European Ferries Limited United 100% Ordinary 16 Palace Sireet, London, SWHE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, United Kingdom
Expert Terminal Servicas Limited Cyprus 50% Ordinary 27 Gregory Afxentiou Street,
shares Larnaca, Cyprus
Fricue Pty Limited Ausiralia 100% Crdinary Level 21, 400 Gearge Strea, Sydney
sharas NSW 2000, Australia
Fritex Pty Limited Australia 100% Ordinary Level 21, 400 Gearge Street, Sydney
shares NSW 2000, Ausiralia
Gamac GIE France §0% QOrdinary Quai De L'Eurape, 76600, Le Havrs,
shares France
Generale De Manutenlion Portualre France 50% Ordinary Ay Du 16eme Port, 76600, Le Havre,
shares France
Glohal Container Services NV Belgium 100% Ordinary Nieuwe Westweg Kaal 742, 2040
charas Anbwerp, Belgium
Harbourside Heldings Carporation Philippines 16% Preferred 7th Fioar, STl Holdings Center, 6764
shares Ayala Avenue, Makati City, Metro
Manila, Philippines
Havenbedrijf Antverpla NV Belgium 98.73% Qrdinary Nieuwe Wastweg haven 742, 2040
shares Antwerpen, Belgium
Hindustan Ports Privala Limited India 100% Crdinary Darabshaw House, Level 1,
shares Narottam Morar]i Road, Ballard
Estate, Mumbal, Maharashtra,
400001, India
India Gateway Terminal Private Limited India 81.63% QOrdinary Administration Building, ICTT,,
shares Vallarpadam SEZ,, Emakulam,
kerela, 682504, India
Jeletrans SAS France 0% Ordinary Av Du 16eme Por, 76600, Le Havre,
shares France
Laam Chabang Intemational Terminat Thailand 34.50% QOrdinary Laem Chabang Port, Tarminal B,
Co. Lid shares Sriracha, Chonbur, 20230, Thailand
Lsem Chabang Security Sarvice Co. Ltd.  Thailand 34.50% Qrdinary Laem Chabang Part, Temminal B3,
sharas Room No.130 1st Floor, Thungsukia,

Sriracha, Chonburi, 20230, Thailand
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R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Laing Investments Inc.

Laing Management Company
Liena Pty Limited

London Gateway Limited

London Gateway Logistics Limited
London Gateway Logistics Park
Development Limited

London Gateway Park Limited
London Gateway Logistics Park
Management Limited

Lendon Gateway Port Holdings Limited
London Gateway Port Limited

London Gateway Port Raitway Limiled

London Gateway Services Limited

Mackinnon Mackenzie & Co, of Pakistan
{Private} Limited

Msnutention Générala Méditerranéenne

Manutention Terminal Nord

Matthews Holdings Limited

Marray Holdings, Inc.

Country of
incorporation

United Slales
United Slales
Australia

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdam

United
Kingdem

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

Pakistan

France

France

Bermuda

Philippines

Parcentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group

50%

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

50%
100%

16%

g9

Class of
sharas

Caommon
shares

Common
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
sharos

Qudinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Oudinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Orginary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Cammon
shares

Preferred
shares

P&O Annual Report

Repistered Address

£5 Waugh Drive, Suite 1111,
Houston X 77007, Uniled Stales

55 Waugh Drive, Suite 1111,
Houston TX 77007, United States

Lavel 21, 400 Gearge Street, Sydney
NSW 2000, Australla

16 Palace Street, Eondon, SW1E
BJQ, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E
5J@, United Kingdom

16 Patace Street, London, SW1E
5JQ, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, Landen, SWHE
5JQ, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, Lendon, SWIE
640, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SWIE
5.Q, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SWIE
5JQ, United Kingdom

16 Palace Straet, London, SWIE
5JQ, United Kingdom

18 Palace Sireel, London, SWiE
5JQ, United Kingdom

3rd Floor Mackinnons Bullding, , LI
Chundrigar Road, , Rarachi, 74000,
Pakistan

Terminal Contansurs Darse 2
Secleur Gravaleau, 13220 Port Saint
Louls du Rhone, France

Av Du 16eme Por, 76600, Le Havre,
France

Estera Services (Bermuda) Limited,
Canon's Courl, 22 Victorla Street, PO
Box HM 1179, Hamifton, HM EX,
Bermuda

7th Floor, STi Holdings Center, 6764
Ayala Avenue, Makall City, Melro
Manila, Philippines
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R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name Cauntry of Percentage Class of Raglstered Address
Incorporation of share shares

capital

owned by

tha Group
Mundra Intematianal Container Terminal  India 100% Ordinary MICT QOperation Centre, Navinal,
Privale Limited Equity shares New Mundra Port, P.O.Box-8,

Mundra, Gujarat, 370421, India

Navigue — Empresa Mogambicana de Mozambique 33.95% Ordinary 366 Rua da Bagamoyo, Maputo,
Navegagéo, SARL shares Mozamhique
Network Financing B.V. Netherlands 10% Ordinary Smirnoffweg 3, PO Box 59138, 3088

shares shares  HE Rolterdam, 3008 PC
Netherlands, Netherlands

Nhava Sheva (india) Gateway Terminal India 100% Ordinary Darabghaw House, Level 1, Soorji

Private Limited shares Vallabhdas Marg, Ballard Estale,,
Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400038, India

Nhava Sheva Inlernational Container India 100% Ordinary Darabshaw House, Level 1,

Terminal Pvi. Ltd. shares Narottam Morarji Road, Baflard
Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400001, India

P & O Maritime Services (South Africa) South Africa 100% Qrdinary 2ND FLOOR BLOCK D, THE

{Proprielary} Limited shares BOULEVARD OFFICE PARK,

SEARLE STREET, WOODSTOCK,
7925, South Africa

P&O Bulk Shipping Limited United 100% QOrdinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E
Kingdom shares R0, United Kingdom
P&D Containers Pakistan (Private) Pakistan 100% Ordinary Mackinnons Building , 1.1.Chundrigar
Limited ghares Road, P.0.Box 4679, Karachi,
Pakistan
P&0 Delaware Holdings LLC tnited States 100% Ordinary The Corporation Trust Company,
sharas Corparate Trust Center, 1209

Orange Street, Wilmington,
Delawara, New Castls, 19801,
United States

P&0 Dover (Holdings) Limited United $00% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SWIE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, Unitad Kingdom

P&O France S.A.S. France 100% Ordinary 34, Boulevard des ltaliens, 75008,
shares Paris, France

P&O Garden City Investmenis BV, Netherlands 100% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SWIE
shares 5JQ), United Kingdom

P&0 Management Services Phils., Inc. Philippines 40% Comman 7ih Flgor, STI Holdings Center, 6764
shares Ayala Avenue, Makali Gity, Melro

Manita, Phllippines

P&0 Marilime Holdings (Austrafia} Ply Australia 100% Ordinary Levs! 3, 88 Queensbridge Street,

Limited shares Southbank VIC 3006, Australla

P&O Marilime Holdings Paraguay S.A. Paraguay 100% Qrdinary Avda. Guido Begglani 5509 o,
shares Procer Arguello, Asunclon, Paraguay

P&O Marilime Mozambique SA Mozamblque 0.94% Grdinary Praga dos Trabathaderes, Porto de
shares Moaputo, Porta no 6, Armazem B2

(E), Meputo, Mozambique
P&O Maritima Ocean Sclences Limited knited 50% Ordinary-A 16 Palace Street, London, SWIE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, United KIngdom

P&O Maritime Services (France) SARL France 100% QOrdinary 8 Rue De L'Es\, Boulogne

shares Billancourt, France
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Notes to the Company financial statement {continued)

R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

P&0 Maritime Services (Ireland) Ltd

P&0 Maritime Services (NZ) Limited
{being wound up}

P&O Maritima Services (PNG) Limited

P&0O Maritime Services (Singapore)} Ple.

Ltd.
P&O Maritime Services (UK) Limited

PRO Maritime Services Paraguay S.A.
P&O Maritime Servicas Pty Ltd
P&O0 Netherlands BV,

P&0 Overseas Holdings Limited

P&O Pension Funds Investments Limited

P&0 Ports (Chennal) Ltd

P&O Ports (Kulpi) Pyt Ltd

P&O Ports (Mundra) Pvt Ltd

P&O Ports Lid.

P&O Properties Intemational Limited

PRO Scotlish Ferries Limiled

P&O Scollish Ferries Ship Management

Limited

P&0 Tankships Investments Limited

Country of
incorporation

Iratand
New Zealand

Papua New
Guinea

Singapare

United
Kingdom

Paraguay
Australia
Netherlands

United
Kingdaom

United
Kingdom

Mauritius
Maumitius
Mauritius

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom
United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

Percentage
of share
capital
ocwned by
the Group

100%
100%

100%

100%
100%
0%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

101

Class of
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Qidinary
shares

Ordinary
sharas

Ordinary
shares

Ocdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Crdinary
shares

Qidinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
QOrdinary
shares
QOrdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Reglstered Address

Parkmore Business Park West,
Gahway, Irefand

Level 5, 110 Symonds Street,
Auckiand, New Zesland

Level 3, Pacific MMI Haus,
Champion Parads, Port Moresby |,
Papua dNew Guinga

78 Shenton Way 12-01 | Singapore,
079120, Singapore

16 Palace Streat, Londen, SWIE
5JQ, Uniled Kingdom

Avda, Guido Boggiani 5509 o,
Procer Arguello, Asuncion, Paraguay

Level 3, 89 Queensbridge Street,
Southbank VIC 3006, Australia

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E
£1Q, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E
5J4Q, United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E
5.0, United Kingdom

3rd Floor, C-6,. 31 Cybercity Ebene,,
Mauritius
3rd Floor, C-6,, 31 Cybercity Ebene,,
Mauritius

ard Fioor - G6, 31 Cybercity, Ebene,
Mauritius

16 Palace Street, Landan, SWIE
5J0, United Kingdom

16 Patace Sireet, London, SWIE
5JQ, United Kingdom

16 Palace Streat, Landan, SW1E
5403, United Kingdom

Karen Beason, Computershars
Investor Services Ple, Lochside
House, 7 Lochside Avenue,
Edinburgh P, Edinburgh, EH12 9DJ,
United Kingdom:

16 Palace Streel, Londen, SW1E
5JQ, United Kingdom
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name Country of Parcentage Class of Registerad Address
incorparation  of share shares
capital
owned by
the Group
Pacity Invesiments Pty Limited Australia 100% Ordinary Lewvel 21, 400 George Sireet, Sydneay
sharas NSW 2000, Australia
Parktex Development, Inc. Uniled States 100% Ordinary Delaware, United States
shares
Parkway Invastments Pariners, LP United Stoles 100% Ordinary Texas, Uniled states
shares
Parkway Limited Investments, Inc. United States 100% Ordinary National Registered Agents, Inc., 160
shares Greentree Drive, Sulte 101, Dover
DE 19904, United States
Partkestrel Limited (being wound up) United 100% Qrdinary 16 Palace Streel, London, SWHE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, United Kingdom
Pecard Group Holdings, Inc. Philippines 16% Class B ard Floor, SSHG Lavr Centre, 105
Carmor Pasea de Roxas, Makati City,
shares Philippines
Philippine Seaport, Inc Philippines 39.80% Comman 3rd Ficor, SSHG Law Centre, 106
shares Paseo de Roxas, Makati City,
Philipplnes
POETS Fleet Managemenl Limited United 100% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SWHE
Kingdom shares 5JQ, United Kingdom
Partsynergy Projects SA France £0% Ordinary Av Bu 16eme Porl, 76600, Le Havre,
shares France
Porisynergy SAS fFrance 0% Ordinary 25 Traverse Mardirossian, 13015,
shares Marseille, France
Porius Indico - Sociedade de Servicos United Arab 48,50% Ordinary Clyde & Co, P O Box 112867, Office
Portuarios Limited Emirates shares 162, City Tower 2, Sheikh Zayed
Road, , Dubal, Dubal, United Arab
Emirates
PT Termina! Pelikemas Surabaya Indonesia 49% Ordinary JI. Tanjung Mutiara No. 1, Surabaya,
(Series ) East Java, 60177, Indonesia
shares
PTS Holdings Limiled Mauritius 59,22% Qrdinary ard Fioar - C6, 31 Cybercity, Ebene,
shares angd Mauritius
redeemable
"A" Ordinary
shares
Qasim International Container Terminal Pakistan 65% Ordinary Berhs 56 & 7, Marginal Wharves,
Pakistan Limited shares Port Muhammed Bin Qasim, Karachi,
Pakistan, 76020, Pakistan
Qingdao New Qianwan Conlainer Chinz 23% Ordinary Fenjin 4th Road, Port of Qianwan,
Terminal Co., Lid shares Huangdao, Qingdaa, Shangdong
Province, 266500, China
Qingdaa Qianwan Container Terminal China 29% Ordinary Fenjin 4th Road, Port af Qianwan,
Co,, Ltd shares Huangdao, Qingdac, Shangdang
Province, 286500, China
Qingdao Qianwan Intelligent Container China 16% Ordinary Qingdao Free Trade Zone, Qingdao,
Terminal Co., Hd. shares Shandong Province, China
Qingdac Qianwan United Advance China 8% Ordinary Qingdaa Free Trade Zone, Qingdao,
Cantainer Terminal Co., Lid. shares Shandong Pravince, China
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Qingdao Qianvar United Contalner
Terminal Co., Lid

Remelcadores de Puerto y Altura, S.A.

Saigon Premier Container Terminal

SCT Nominees Limited

SCT Pension Trustees Limiled

5G Holdings, Inc

Sociedade de Desenvolvimento do Porto
da Maputo, S.A.

Soclate D'Amenagement De L'interface
Temrestre Du Port Du Havre SAS

Solent Container Services Limited

South Asia Logistics Pvt Ltd

South Asla Ports Limited

Saouth Cotabata Integrated Part Services,

Inc.

Southamplon Container Terminals
Lirmnited
Technologicky Park Bmp a.s.

Terminal de Cabotagem de Manuto
SARL

Terminales Rio de {a Plata §.A.

UK EO! Limited

Ventress Investments Ply Limited

Country of
incorporation

China

Spain

Viatnam

United
Kingdam

United
Kingdom

Philippines
Mozambique
France
United
Kingdom
Mauritius
Maurilivs
Phillppines
LIniled

Kingdom

Czech
Republic

Mozamblque

Argentina

United
Kingdom

Auslralia

Fercenlage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group

12%

57%

B0%

100%
100%

16%

24.74%
17.5%
100%
100%
100%

14.88%
100%
49.9%

17.31%

656.62%

100%

100%

103

Class of
shares

Ocdinary
shares

Qrdinary
sharas

Qrdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Preferred
shares

C Class
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Crdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Commaon
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Reglstered Address

567 TongJiang Road, dingdao
Eeanomic and Technological
Development Zone, Qingdao, China

Muelle de Reus, sfn, Edificio Fruport
— 43004 Tarragona - Sp, 43004 ,
Tarragona, Tarragona, Spain

Plot C-17 Hiep Phuoc Industrial
Zaone, Hiep Phuoc Commune, Nha
Be District, Ho Chi Minh Cily,
Vielnam

16 Palace Streel, London, SWHE
540, United Kingdom

16 Palace Streel, London, SWIE
5JQ, Uniled Kingdom

7th Floor, ST Heldings Center, 6764
Ayala Avenue, Makali City, Metro
Manila, Fhilippines

Praca dos Trabalhadares, Porlo de
Maputo, Maputo, Mozambigue

Av Du 16eme Part, 76600, Le Mavre,
France

16 Palace Steeet, London, SWIE
5JQ, United Kingdom

3rd Flgor - 6, 31 Cybarcity, Ebene,
Mauritius

3rd Filoor, C-6,, 31 Cybercity Ebene,,
Mauritius

Makar Wharf, Gan. Santas City,
9500, Philippines

18 Palace Street, Landan, SWHE
540, United Kingdom

Purkyiova 6465107 [budova A), 612
00 Brno, Czech Republic

Martires de Inhamings, Recinto

Portuaric — PortSo r° 4, Caixa Postal
145, Maputo, Mozambigue

Av. R.S. Castillo y Comadora Py
sfl®, Puerto Nuevo, Capital Federal,
Buenos Aires, C1104BAL, Argenting

16 Palaca Street, Londan, SWHE
5J0Q, United Kingdom

Level 21, 400 George Streat, Sydney
NSW 2000, Australia
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

R. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Vippert

Visakha Container Temminal Put. Lid.

Waughcal Py Limited
Welbeck Navigation Inc
1-Stop Connecticns Pty Lt

1 Stop Logistics Campany Ltd

Country of
incorporation

Belgium

India

Australia
Panama
Australia

Thailand

Parcentage
of share
capial
owned by
the Group

1a0%

26%

100%
100%
1.57%

34.5%

104

Class aof
shares

Ordinary

shares -
Ordinary
shares

Crdinary
shares
Cudinary
sharey

Ordinary
shares

Qrdinary
sheras

Registered Address

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040
Antwerpen, Belgium

Gadrej Coliseum, Offica No. 801, 8th
Floor, C - Wing, Behind Everard
Nagar,, Off Somaiya Hospital Road,
Near Priyadarghini, Sion (East),
Mumbai, Maharashlra, 400022, india
Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney
NSW 2000, Australia

Edificio Plaza 2000, Piso 16, Calle
58, Panama, Panama

Suita 7006, 376 Bay Street, Brighton
Le Sands NSW 2216, Ausiralia

Terminal BS, Laem Chabang Port
Tungsukls Sriacha Chanburi,
Thailand




